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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded total
revenue of HK$4,051 million, down 31.0% year-on-year, and profit for
the year was HK$401 million, a 65.3% plunge year-on-year. Gross profit
margin of the chemical operations was 26.0%, 13.1 percentage points
less when compared with 2022, and the Group's net profit margin was
9.9%, down by 9.8 percentage points year-on-year.

Regarding the Group's Chemical operations, overall sentiment of the
manufacturing industry in China remained weak, with prices of industrial
raw materials, such as bulk chemical products, lingering on low. The
serious fluctuation in the prices of lithium-ion battery raw materials
also caused downstream enterprisers to actively adjust their production
plans, leading to a significant drop in the selling prices of lithium-ion
battery additives this year against the last corresponding period. With the
inventory of raw materials purchased earlier gradually digested and at the
Group strengthening cost control measures during the year, gross profit
of the business rebounded from the first half of the year. As for Property
operations, the Group sold another 47 residential units at RIVERDALE
during the year, leaving only 28 held for sale units, and more than 80%
of the commercial space were leased out, with the main drive coming
from the RIVERDALE Shangjia Residences talent apartments. Property
operations recorded revenue of approximately HK$70 million for the
period.

PROSPECTS

2024 will be a year testing to the operational resilience of enterprises.
Consumption and manufacturing market sentiment will continue to
be weak, and high interest rate will eat into the profits of enterprises
and dampen their desire to invest. Facing an operating environment
ridden with challenges, the Group will continue to promote Automated
Production Control in all three of its plants and improve production
efficiency and cost-effectiveness. It will also strive to maintain a low
borrowing level to make sure its operating profit will not be eroded by
high interest rates.

On top of guarding its existing business foundation, the Group will also
actively invest resources in R&D of various high value-added chemical
products and push for vertical integration of its production chain to give
itself unique competitive advantage. The Group firmly believes that
affording products of stable and high quality can enable to fortify brand
foundation and boost profitability.
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Although the new energy automobile industry has continued to grow
rapidly, the battery material industry saw severe fluctuation last year.
Looking ahead, the Group will work hard on enlarging relevant market
shares of its battery material-related products, and revisit its future
development plans. The Group expects to have the crucial capacity its
lithium battery electrolyte additive business needs, when the vinylene
carbonate (“VC") production line at its Changshu plant and the
fluoroethylene carbonate (“FEC") expanded production line at its Zhuhai
plant begin operation in the middle of this year. To cope with market
changes, the Group is also preparing to adjust the purpose of the new
land acquired in Jiangxi and use it to develop high-end fluoropolymers.
Armed with years of experience producing fluoropolymers at its Jiangxi
plant, the Group believes the transformation will enable it to realise
steady development.

The Group will also put resources into studying ways to improve its
production processes. It will continue to implement various plans to raise
energy efficiency and conserve water, to the end of reducing carbon
emissions from its plants during production, helpful for it to achieve
sustainable development, while also bringing satisfactory returns to
shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend our sincere gratitude
to the Company's shareholders, customers and business partners for
their strong support throughout the year. | would also like to take this
opportunity to thank all colleagues and staff for their persistent efforts
and contribution to the Group.

Wai Siu Kee
Chairman

Hong Kong, 8 March 2024
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENmRE DM

RESULTS OF OPERATION

Revenue and net profit attributable to equity holders of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023 was HK$4,051 million and HK$401
million respectively, representing a decrease of 31.0% and a decrease
of 65.3%, as compared to HK$5,867 million and HK$1,157 million
respectively for the last year.

The basic earnings per share was HK48.6 cents for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: HK140.2 cents).

Revenue
Chemical operations

During the year under review, the Group recorded a revenue from
Chemical operations of approximately HK$3,981 million, representing
a decrease of HK$1,792 million or 31.0% as compared to last year.
The decrease in revenue was mainly attributable to the decrease in
average market prices of the Group's major products due to weak market
conditions in most times during the year under review.

During the year under review, the average selling price per ton
(including value-added tax, similarly hereinafter) of the products of the
Group as compared to last year, the average selling price per ton of
Chloromethane ("CMS") products (methyl chloride, methylene chloride
and chloroform) was about RMB2,550, RMB2,725 and RMB2,475,
decreased by approximately 509%, 31% and 41% respectively. Caustic
soda was at about RMB950, decreased by approximately 26%.
Polytetrafluoroethylene (“PTFE") was at about RMB47,325, decreased by
approximately 13%, while hydrogen peroxide was at about RMB1,025,
increased by approximately 10%.

The actual production volume of our primary products for the year
(including self-consumption) was approximately 390,000 tons for CMS
products, 560,000 tons for 100% dry basis caustic soda, 9,500 tons for
polytetrafluoroethylene and 390,000 tons for hydrogen peroxide.

In 2023, prices of major chemical products remained at relatively
low levels in recent years due to the weak market sentiment in the
manufacturing sector. Combined with the time it takes to digest the
inventory of raw materials purchased earlier, the gross profit margin
of the Group is squeezed. During the year under review, the Group
maintains a stable full-load production of the existing product line-ups
while taking opportunities to improve efficiency and enhance processes
of the production lines for improved efficiency and improve processes. By
actively strengthening cost and efficiency advantages, the Group is laying
a solid foundation to seize opportunities to embrace industry recovery in
the future.
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Property operations

During the year under review, the Group further sold of 47 residential
units of RIVERDALE, recorded a revenue from Property operations of
approximately HK$70 million. At the year end, over 90% of residential
units of RIVERDALE has been sold with 28 unsold units.

Gross profit

During the year under review, gross profit amounted to HK$1,062
million, a decrease of HK$1,062 million. The decrease in gross margin
was mainly attributable to the combined effect during the year under
review of the decline in product prices and the time required in digesting
the raw material inventories acquired earlier in Chemical operations.

Selling and distribution costs

During the year under review, selling and distribution costs amounted
to approximately HK$209 million, decreased by approximately HK$45
million as compared to HK$254 million of the last year. The decrease
in expenses during the year under review was mainly due to reduction
in packaging and transportation costs. The selling and distribution
costs represented approximately 5.2% of total revenue for the year, as
compared to 4.3% for the last year.

Administrative expenses

During the year under review, administrative expenses amounted to
approximately HK$259 million, decreased by approximately HK$18
million as compared to HK$277 million of the last year. The decrease in
administrative expenses during the year under review was mainly due to
reduction in value-added tax and surcharges expenses recognised during
the year. The administrative expenses represented approximately 6.4%
of total revenue for the year, as compared to 4.7% for the last year.

Research and development cost

During the year under review, research and development costs amounted
to approximately HK$121 million and representing 3.0% of total revenue
for the year. During the year under review, continuous spending are
made to research and development of new products and optimization
of technical processes, maintaining a strong team of senior scientists and
chemical professionals, procurement of equipment and testing materials,
so as to maintain the sustainable development of the Group.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENmRE DM

Finance costs

During the year under review, the interest expenses incurred was
approximately HK$39 million, which is comparable to HK$39 million of
the last year. The fluctuation in expenses was mainly due to the interests
saved from repaying the bank borrowings during the year was being
offset by the hiking market interest rates.

Net exchange loss

During the year under review, the net exchange loss was approximately
HK$7 million. The net exchange loss of the Group is mainly driven by the
depreciation of Renminbi in second half of 2023.

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS’ AND CREDITORS’ TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 was 100 days, increased by 18 days as compared to 82 days of
the last year.

The Group's debtors’ turnover days was controlled at 22 days for the
year ended 31 December 2023 as compared to 18 days for the last
year, which is in line with the normal credit period of 7 days to 150 days
granted to customers of the Group.

The Group's creditors’ turnover days was 21 days for the year ended
31 December 2023 as compared to 19 days for the last year, which is
in line with the normal credit terms of 7 days to 45 days granted by the
suppliers to the Group.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The total shareholders’ equity of the Group as at 31 December 2023
was HK$5,800 million (2022: HK$5,633 million). As at 31 December
2023, the Group had current assets of HK$1,513 million (2022:
HK$1,709 million) and current liabilities of HK$1,172 million (2022:
HK$1,134 million). The current ratio was 1.29 as at 31 December 2023
as compared to 1.51 at 31 December 2022.

The financial resources of the Group remain strong. As at 31 December
2023, the Group's bank balances and cash was HK$264 million (2022:
HK$422 million) and the net debt amounted to HK$408 million (2022:
HK$322 million). The net debt to equity ratio of the Group as at 31
December 2023 was 7.04% (2022: 5.72%).

During the year under review, the Group is actively optimizing financing
cost structure through moderately increasing borrowings denominated
in Renminbi. The Group would continue to maintain sufficient cash and
available banking facilities to meet its capital commitments, working
capital requirements and future investments for expansion.
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CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had capital expenditure contracted
for but not provided in the consolidated financial statements in respect of
the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and acquisition of right-
of-use assets in amounts of approximately HK$285 million and HK$9
million.

HUMAN RESOURCES

At 31 December 2023, the Group had a workforce of around 2,100
people. The Group maintains a good relationship with its employees, and
provides them with proper training and competitive compensation and
incentives. The staffs are remunerated based on their work performance,
professional experience and prevailing market situation. Remuneration
packages comprise salary and bonuses based on individual merits.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Apart from those stated in the Chairman’s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis sections, the Company is exposed to the
following key risks and uncertainties which are required to be disclosed
pursuant to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

1. Risks Relating to Our Industry

Some of our raw materials and products fall within the category
of hazardous chemicals. Any leakage of such chemicals, due to
equipment malfunction or wrongful operations, may result in
personal injury. The Company regards safety as the top priority. To
minimize risks, regular maintenance of our production equipment
is conducted. Important equipment is inspected by “Special
Equipment Safety Supervision Inspection Institute”, to ensure
proper management of our equipment and devices. In addition,
the Company strictly executes safety management standardization.
The Company regularly conducts safety classes and shares safety
management experience to our production teams. Emergency drills
are organized twice a year to ensure that our staff members have
thorough knowledge in safe production and avoid the occurrence of
wrongful operations.

2. Credit Risks Relating to Customers

Exposure to bad debts attributable to customers usually intensifies
in a time of weak economic performance. To minimize credit
risks, the management of the Group has appointed dedicated staff
members to handle procedures for determining credit limits, credit
approval and other monitoring procedures, to ensure follow-up with
all receivables in a timely manner. In addition, the Group reviews
the collectability of receivables at the end of a reporting period, to
ensure that sufficient impairment losses are provided for in respect
of uncollectible amount.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEBNWR DM

Liquidity Risks

In managing liquidity risks, the Group monitors and maintains
bank balances and cash at a level which is considered by the
management as sufficient, to satisfy the needs arising from the
Group's operations and to mitigate the effect of fluctuations of cash
flow. The management closely monitors the use of borrowings to
ensure that relevant covenants relating to loans are complied with.

Currency Risks

Debts denominated in foreign currencies expose the Group to
foreign exchange risks. The Group closely manages and monitors
foreign exchange risks to ensure that appropriate measures are
taken in a timely manner. The Group will consider entering into
forward contracts in respect of foreign currencies to mitigate relevant
risks as and when appropriate. As of 31 December 2023, the
Group did not have any outstanding forward contracts in respect of
foreign currencies.

Interest Rate Risks
The Group's interest rate risks are primarily related to its bank
balances and bank borrowings carried at floating interest rates. The

management will closely monitor interest rate risks and consider
hedging material interest rate fluctuations when necessary.
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Corporate Governance Report
EEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. The Board of the Company believes that sound and
reasonable corporate governance practices are essential for the growth of
the Group and for safeguarding and maximising shareholders’ interests.

During the year, the Company has complied with the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code") as set out in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Board is
committed to complying with the code provisions as stated in the Code
to the extent that the directors of the Company (“Directors”) consider it is
applicable and practical to the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The objectives of the management structures within the Group, headed
by the Board and led by the Chairman, are to deliver sustainable value to
Shareholders.

The Chairman provides leadership to and oversees the effective
functioning of the Board. With support of the Chief Executive Officer and
the Company Secretary, the Chairman approves Board meeting agenda,
and ensures Directors have proper briefing, and timely receive adequate
and reliable information, on all Board matters.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer, and different persons hold the separate offices. The Chief
Executive Officer heads the management and focuses on the day-to-day
operations of the Group.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic development
of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial performance and the
internal controls of the Group’s business operations.

The independent non-executive Directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective corporate
governance framework. The Board considers that each independent non-
executive Director is independent in character and judgment and that
they all meet the specific independence criteria as required by the Listing
Rules. The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation or confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The independent non-
executive Directors are explicitly identified in all of the Company's
corporate communications. Independent non-executive Directors
represent more than one-third of the Board and possess appropriate
legal, professional accounting qualifications and financial management
expertise.
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All Independent non-executive Directors entered into service contracts
with the Company, for a term of approximately one year, commencing
upon conclusion of the AGM of the year of signing and ending at the
next annual general meeting of the Company but, in any event, no later
than 30 June to the following year of signing.

Board Composition

As at the date of publication of this Annual Report, the Board comprises
seven Directors including three Executive Directors, one Non-executive
Director and three Independent Non-executive Directors. The names of
the Directors of the Company are as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. Wai Siu Kee (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Yan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Yang Zuo Ning

Non-executive Director
Professor Chan Albert Sun Chi p
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron 88S Jp
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei
Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk

The change to the composition of the Board during the year and up to
the date of this Annual Report was as follows:

Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company and a member of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the Board
with effect from 1 March 2023.

Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony resigned as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company and a member of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the Board
with effect from 2 August 2023.

Professor Chan Albert Sun Chi Jp is re-designated as a Non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 8 March 2024.
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The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 79 to 81
to this annual report. Other than disclosed, the board members have no
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships with
each other.

The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the
agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all Directors. Notice
of at least 14 days have been given to all Directors for all regular board
meetings and the Directors can include matters for discussion in the
agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying board papers in respect
of regular board meetings are sent out in full to all Directors within
reasonable time before the meeting. Draft minutes of all board meetings
are circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time prior to
confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are kept
by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all Directors
have access to board papers and related materials, and are provided with
adequate information in a timely manner, which enable the Board to
make an informed decision on matters placed before it.

During the year, the Company held three board meetings, an annual
general meeting (“AGM") and one extraordinary general meeting ("EGM").
The attendance of each Director is as follows:
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Attended/Eligible meeting held
HEEBRY SEREEERAH

Board Meeting AGM EGM

Exggl REEFRKE RRHIKE

Ms. Wai Siu Kee BHomr L 3/3 v v
Mr. Lee Man Yan VB LA 3/3 v v/
Mr. Yang Zuo Ning BIEESLSE 3/3 v v
Professor Chan Albert Sun Chi sp PR FT IR A 3/3 v v/
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony FTRUR%ESE 3/3 v v
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron 8BS FER S A Bes A Far+ 3/3 X v
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei TBR 4 St &= 3/3 v v
Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk FTRELSE 3/3 v v
Apart from the said board meetings, operational matters requiring board ~Fr FillEEE SR FEESSMHEZH

approval were arranged by means of circulation of written resolutions
with supporting materials, supplemented by additional verbal and/or
written information from the company secretary of the Company as and
when appropriate.
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Appointment and Training for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on his appointment, so as to ensure that he has
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Group
and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities and obligations under
the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements. There are also
arrangements in place for providing continuing briefing and professional
development to Directors at the Company’s expenses whenever
necessary.

The Company provides regular updates and presentations on changes
and developments relating to the Group’s business and the legislative
and regulatory environments to the Directors at Board meetings or
through emails.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills and provided a record
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of training they received for the year ended 31 December 2023 to the & @ WE WA AR S AT ZHIIN
Company. The type of training received is summarized below: BRI -
Reading Attending external
regulatory seminars/
updates programmes
MEEERE SEIMFHIE
Name of Director EEpnE EHER ERAHE ER
Ms. Wai Siu Kee RAmZt v v/
Mr. Lee Man Yan FNREE v v
Mr. Yang Zuo Ning BIFERE v v
Professor Chan Albert Sun Chi J» BRI ALEIR A P+ v v
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony FTRUR%E & v v
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron BBS FER I s Tt v v
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wai R#EFE v v
Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk FTREESE v v/
AUDIT COMMITTEE EREEE
Members of the Audit Committee include: EZEEGKERRE
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei (Chairman) TBRMEFTE(FE)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony (Resigned on 2 August 2023) TRIRELE(R2023F8 72 HEHE)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron 88s Jp FER T Bt Tt

Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk (Appointed on 1 March 2023)
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The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in
accounting, business and legal on the Audit Committee. The composition
and members of the Audit Committee complies with the requirements
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee is available on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group's financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of internal
controls, risk management and the effectiveness and objectiveness of
the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides an important
link between the Board and the Company's auditors in matters coming
within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps under review the
independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal
controls and financial reporting matters including a review of the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year, 3 Audit Committee meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each member is set out below:
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Attended/Eligible
meeting held
HEEERE
SERLEEBIRE
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei (Chairman) MR T (F/E) 3/3
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony FRUR G- 2/2
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron 8BS P FRoR L A pas Fa+ 3/3
Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk FRaESTSE 2/2
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FMEES
Members of the Remuneration Committee include: FMEEGKE B
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei (Chairman) TRGEFTE(FE)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony (Resigned on 2 August 2023) TRIREE(R2023F8 72 HEHE)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron B8s jp FECR I st Tt

Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk (Appointed on 1 March 2023)
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All members of the Remuneration Committee are independent
non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee makes
recommendations to the Board on the Group's overall policy and
structure for the remuneration of Directors and senior management. The
Remuneration Committee ensures that no Director or any of his associate
is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee were revised in January 2023 to reflect the
relevant amendments of the Listing Rules. A copy of which is posted on
the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to Directors, the Remuneration
Committee takes into consideration factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and the
desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has met during the year to determine
the policy for the remuneration of Directors and assess performance
of executive Directors and certain senior management. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, there were no material matters relating
to the share option schemes of the Company which required review
or approval by the Remuneration Committee. One Remuneration
Committee meeting was held during the year and all members have
attended in the meeting.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Members of the Nomination Committee include:

Ms. Wai Siu Kee (Chairman)

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei

Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony (Resigned on 2 August 2023)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron 88S Jp

Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk (Appointed on 1 March 2023)

The majority members are independent non-executive Directors. The
principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
Board composition, developing and formulating relevant procedures for
nomination and appointment of Directors, making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment and succession planning of Directors, and
assessing the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.
The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is available on the
Company's website.
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The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and composition
of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company. One Nomination Committee meeting was held during the year
and all members have attended in the meeting.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is a full-time employee of the
Group and he has confirmed that, in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules, he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year.

Nomination Policy
Objectives

The key objectives of the Nomination Policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
shall inter-alia include the following:

«  to set out the criteria and process for the nomination and
appointment of Directors of the Company;

«  to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company's business; and

«  to ensure the Board's continuity and appropriate leadership at the
Board level.

Appointment and Re-appointment of Director

Nomination Committee shall identify and ascertain the integrity,
qualification, expertise and experience of the candidate who is considered
for being appointed/re-appointed as Director and apply due diligence in
compliance with all applicable provisions of the laws of the Cayman Islands
and the Listing Rules including any amendments thereto from time to
time. Also, the Nomination Committee shall consider recommendations
for candidates to the Board from shareholders of the Company.

The Nomination Committee shall obtain all applicable declarations and
undertaking as provided under the laws of the Cayman Islands and
the Listing Rules. In case of independent non-executive Directors, the
Nomination Committee shall ensure that the independent non-executive
Directors meet the criteria of independence as laid down in the Listing
Rules.
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While recommending any potential new Board member(s)/
re-appointment of existing member(s) to the Board, the Nomination
Committee shall consider the following:

«  candidate’s character, integrity, qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience and diversity
criteria under the Board Diversity Policy of the Company which are
relevant to the Company's business and corporate strategy, other
commitments and the like;

« any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the
Board;

«  requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in
accordance with the Main Board Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

«  the potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence, gender
diversity and diversity of perspectives;

«  willingness and ability to devote sufficient time to discharge duties as
a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s);

«  such other criteria which are appropriate to the Company's business
and corporate strategy and the Board’s succession plan and,
where applicable, which may be adopted and/or amended by the
Board and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of Directors and succession planning; and

« any other factors as the Nomination Committee may deem fit to
consider in the best interests of the Company and shareholders of
the Company.

Once the Nomination Committee determines that an additional or
replacement Director is required, the Nomination Committee may
take such measures that it considers appropriate in connection with its
evaluation of a candidate, including inquiry of the person or persons
making the recommendation or nomination, engagement of an
outside search firm to gather additional information, or reliance on the
knowledge of the members of the Nomination Committee, the Board or
management.

The Nomination Committee may retain the services of other professional
third parties to assist in identifying and evaluating potential candidates.

The Nomination Committee and the Board shall ensure that the

composition of the Board is in conformity with the laws of the Cayman
Islands, the Listing Rules and all other applicable laws and regulations.
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The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of the
Directors standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions in 2005. All the members of the Board have confirmed,
following specific enquiry by the Company that they have complied
with the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2023. The Model Code also applies to other
specified senior management of the Group.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group's risk management and internal control systems provide a
clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as well as reporting
mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage it risks across business
operations effectively.

The Group has established a risk management framework, which consists
of the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management
Taskforce (i.e. Senior Management). The Board of Directors evaluates and
determines the nature and extent of risks that shall be taken in achieving
the Group's strategic objectives, and has the overall responsibility for
monitoring the design, implementation and the overall effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy in
providing direction in identifying, evaluating and managing significant
risks. At least on an annual basis, the Risk Management Taskforce
identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement of the Group’s
objectives, and assesses and prioritises the identified risks according to
a set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then
established and assigned for those risks considered to be significant.
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In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional advisor
to provide internal control review services, which assist the Board and
the Audit Committee in ongoing monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. Deficiencies in the design and
implementation of internal controls are identified and recommendations
are proposed for improvement. Significant internal control deficiencies
are reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on a timely basis to
ensure prompt remediation actions are taken.

Risk management report and internal control report are submitted to
the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors at least once a year.
The Board had performed annual review on the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems, including but not
limited to the Group's ability to cope with its business transformation and
changing external environment; the scope and quality of management's
review on risk management and internal control systems; result of
internal audit work; the extent and frequency of communication with the
Board in relation to result of risk and internal control review; significant
failures or weaknesses identified and their related implications; and status
of compliance with the Listing Rules. The Board considers the Group's
risk management and internal control systems are effective.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR THE HANDLING
AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of Securities & Futures Ordinance
("SFO") and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside information
to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the information
falls within any of the Safe Harbours as provided in the SFO. Before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures
the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that
the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that
confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would immediately
disclose the information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure
that information contained in announcements are not false or misleading
as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of a
material fact in view of presenting information in a clear and balanced
way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and of the results and cash flows for that period. In preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, the directors
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently
adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong
Kong Accounting Standards made adjustments and estimates that are
prudent and reasonable and have prepared the accounts on the going
concern basis. The directors are also responsible for keeping proper
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Group.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the fee payable to the

Company's external auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided to the Company and its subsidiaries is set out below:
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HK$'000
FET
Audit services ETRTS 2,020
Non-audit services (including tax compliance, R R (BEREEE  HERER G 2E
review of continued connected transactions and B R E b AR )
other services) 460
2,480
DIVERSITY ik

The Company has devised a policy on Board diversity to ensure adequate
diversity in its Board, with effect from 1 January 2019.

Vision

The Company believes diversity is important to enhance the Board's
effectiveness by encouraging a diversity of perspectives and to maintain
high standards of corporate governance. The Company will continue to
monitor and develop new objectives for implementing and achieving
improved diversity on the Board as and when it considers appropriate
with regard to the specific needs of the Company and the market from
time to time.

Policy Statement
The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse

Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in maintaining the Company's competitive advantage.
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Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
which will include but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and the like. The
ultimate decision will be based on overall contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board and the Company.

Review of the Policy

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Policy and will from time to time review the Policy, as appropriate, to
ensure the effectiveness of the Policy. The Nomination Committee will
discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

During the year, the Company continued to monitor the board
composition with regard to its diversity policy which requires board
appointments to be made based on merit and candidates to be
considered against an objective criteria, including diversity. In order to
maintain an appropriate mix and balance of talent, skills, experience
and background on the Board, the Nomination Committee developed
measurable objectives to implement this policy and monitored progress
towards achieving these objectives during the year ended 31 December
2023.

The current board composition was also evaluated by reference to,
among other things, the age, gender, cultural and educational background
and professional experience of each director, against the Company's
business model and specific needs.

The current Board composition reflects a balanced mix of age,
educational background, professional knowledge, industry experience and
length of service to the Board. The diversity mix of the Board as at 31
December 2023 is summarized below:

The Current Composition of the Board
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Year of service as Director

EERBFE

Age Gender

Fie 5

30-49 years (3 persons) Male (86%)
3052495 (3A) 5(86%)

60 years and above (4 persons) Female (14%)
60pR A E(4N) 2Z(14%)
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Gender Diversity of Workforce

As set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
contained in this Annual Report, among the employees (including
senior management) of the Group. The percentage of male employees
and female employees are approximately 75% and 25%, respectively.
The Board considers that the Group’s workforce (including senior
management) is diverse in terms of gender.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Company has only one class of shares. All shares have the same
voting rights and are entitled to the dividend declared. The rights of the
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) are set out in Company's
Articles or Association.

Shareholders can: (i) convene an extraordinary general meeting (ii)
forward enquiries to the board of directors (iii) forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings and (iv) nominate Directors for election. Details
of relevant procedures are available on the Company’s website.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about the
Group's performance to shareholders through the publication of interim
results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to dispatching
circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders, additional
information is also available to shareholders on the website of the
Company.

The annual general meeting provides a useful platform for shareholders
to raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders are
encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the Company
gives at least 21 days' notice. The Chairman and Directors and external
auditors are available to answer questions on the Company's businesses
at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. In addition, poll voting procedure is included in the circular to
shareholders dispatched together with the annual report.

Constitutional Documents

There was no other significant change in the Company's constitutional
documents for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Dividend Policy

The Board considers sustainable returns to shareholders to be one
of the main objectives of the Company. Stable dividend payment to
shareholders is the primary objective of the Company.

Under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of
Association of the Company, all of the shareholders have equal rights to
dividends and distributions. The Board determines the interim dividend
and recommends the final dividend which requires the approval of
shareholders. In addition to cash, dividends may be distributed in the
form of shares. Any distribution of shares also requires the approval of
shareholders.

Retained surplus can be used to achieve growth in corporate value. The
Board has been making effective use of retained surplus to strengthen
the operating base and the development of businesses. According to the
dividend policy adopted by the Company on 1 January 2019, the Board
takes into account the following factors when considering the declaration/
recommendation of dividends:

« financial results;

. cash flow situation;

«  availability of distributable profits;

«  business conditions and strategies;

«  future operations and earnings;

«  development plans;

«  cash requirements;

«  capital requirements and expenditure plans;

. interests of shareholders as a whole;

« any restrictions on declaration and/or payment of dividends; and

« any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

In practice, the Company will not declare/recommend any dividend(s)
where:

«  there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is or
would be, after a dividend payment, unable to pay its liabilities or
discharge its obligations as and when they become due;

«  pursuant to dividend decision date, the Company is insolvent or
bankrupt or where, as a result of paying dividends, the Company

would be rendered insolvent or bankrupt; or

«  there is any other case set forth by any law.
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STATEMENT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

We are pleased to present the 2023 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (hereinafter referred to as the “Report”) of Lee & Man
Chemical Company Limited, which has been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of Appendix C2 Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide to the Main Board Listing Rules of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, showcasing the performance, results and the future course of
the sustainable development of the Group.

The Group has always been committed to promoting sustainable
development through communication with stakeholders and materiality
assessment conducted to identify environmental, social and governance
("ESG") topics that are important to the Group. The Board of Directors
(“the Board") is fully aware of the importance of controlling and
managing ESG-related risks. The strategy and policy direction of the
Group in relation to its ESG areas are reviewed continuously, and the
Management will work actively to implement the relevant measures
to ensure the effectiveness of the risk management, compliance, and
corresponding internal control system within the aspects of ESG.

In 2023, the Group enhanced clear and quantitative sustainable
development targets for both environmental protection and occupational
safety, which shows that we have effectively reviewed the current policy
and facilitated the sustainable development of the Group. We have
established clear pollutant discharge standards, which include strict
compliance with laws and regulations and normative documents. During
the year, the Group did not identify any violation of laws or regulations
related to environmental protection.

“Safety first” has always been a principle advocated by the Group. We
have adopted standardized work procedures for safe production, and
implemented safety and occupational health management in every
detail of daily operation. The Group has integrated green technology
into R & D and production, strengthened research in new fields, and
always strived to innovate and make progress. With the implementation
of the standardized management system, we always strictly control and
continuously improve the quality of our products.

The Group has implemented intelligent transformation to optimize
production process, so as to achieve the purpose of seeking efficiency
from management and benefit from operation. Through advanced
science and technology, we have not only cut the operating cost, but
also improved the product quality, and both “energy consumption and
pollutant emission” have been reduced.
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The Group adheres to the concept of “green supply chain and good low-
carbon products”; With the vision of “pursuing excellence and striving for
the best”, we actively practice the national concept of “carbon peaking
and carbon neutrality”, actively utilizes the integrative development of
information technology and manufacturing industry, accelerates the
transformation from “manufacturing” to “intelligent manufacturing”,
carries out carbon emission inventory in the production process, and
strives to reduce carbon emissions in the production and operation
process through “prevention at source, process control, end treatment
and comprehensive utilization”.

We are grateful to our employees, partners, and various stakeholders
for their participation, cooperation and support in achieving sustainable
development. Through effective use of resources, we will improve our
overall performance of environmental and social management, We look
forward to moving ahead together with everyone.

REPORTING SCOPE

This Report covers the environmental and social performance of the
Group during the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023
(hereinafter referred to as the “Reporting Period"). This Report covers the
major operations of the Group in relation to the production of chemicals
in China, including Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Limited (hereinafter
referred to as “Jiangsu Chemical”) and Jiangxi Lee & Man Chemical
Limited (hereinafter referred to as “Jiangxi Chemical”), and Zhuhai Lee
& Man Materials Science Company Limited (hereinafter referred to as
“Zhuhai Chemical”).

In defining the reporting scope, the Group has taken into consideration
factors such as the risks of facilities in relation to ESG topics, the Group's
investment of resources to control the ESG risks of facilities and the
materiality of facilities on the Group's businesses. The reporting scope
has been defined by the Management and submitted to the Board for
review.

ESG MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

Due to the higher risks of environmental pollution and work safety in the
chemical industry, compliance operation, product quality, exhaust gas,
and sewage emissions, and hazardous chemical management have been
the ESG topics to which the Group pays the greatest attention. Therefore,
the Safety and Environmental Protection Department (hereinafter referred
to as the “SEPD") with qualified professionals familiar with relevant
environmental protection laws has been set up by the Group to manage
compliance and monitoring affairs.
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To address various challenges in sustainable development, the Board
spearheaded and led the formulation of the sustainable development
governance guidelines and policies for the Group. The development plan
of the Group is under the Board's regular supervision; they are issued
to relevant departments for implementation by the SEPD and relevant
business departments. Every factory will set annual environmental
protection targets and emission assessment targets based on the
sustainable development governance guidelines established by the Board
and take into account their actual production situation. These policies
are sent by the directors to every department with reviews conducted
regularly to follow up on the progress.

The risk management team set up by the Group will monitor the
risks, including ESG-related risks, which affect the Group on a yearly
basis. Based on the result of the risk assessment, the Group will plan
internal audit work for the risk issues and evaluate the performance and
deficiencies of the relevant internal control processes. Risk management
reports and internal audit reports will be submitted to the audit
committee and the Board.

Further to the top-down governance work, the Group also promotes
the bottom-up cooperation concept of “cooperative governance” in a
proactive manner. The senior management members of the General
Manager's Office (hereinafter referred to as “GMQ"), the SEPD, and the
Audit department will conduct featured work dispatch meetings every
week. Each department reports and discusses the production, and
follows up on the production status and the risk trends each week. The
result of the meetings is emailed to the representatives of the Board to
keep them informed. Based on the discussion, each department needs
to formulate relevant policies and implementation measures and review
the effectiveness of rectification and maintenance work regularly, so as to
ensure the effective implementation of the improvement measures.

Furthermore, the SEPD and the representatives of the Board hold
quarterly meetings, where the SEPD reports the environmental
protection and occupational safety issues and challenges faced by the
Group, follow-up the implementation of measures, and intensifies the
cooperation among various departments in driving the sustainable
development of the Group. The meetings keep the Board abreast of the
latest performance and progress on goal attainment within the aspects
of ESG, and in turn, the Board sets the Group's future direction of ESG
development and makes continuous improvements to the sustainability
performance.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This report was prepared following the four principles suggested in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide, namely,

"ou

“Quantitative”, “Consistency”, "Materiality” and “Balance”.

“Quantitative”: with reference to industry practices, guidelines of the
Stock Exchange or relevant government authority as well as laws and
regulations, the Group formulates internal guidelines and procedures,
collects environmental performance data from various business
departments, keeps record of relevant monitoring instruments or
supporting documents, and submits them to the Board for review upon
verification by the Management. Please refer to the relevant sections in
the Report for the criteria, methodologies and assumptions (if applicable)
for the calculation of performance data.

“Consistency” the disclosure and statistical methods adopted by this
Report are consistent with those adopted last year in which data are
summarized and converted in the same manner. Relevant historical
data have been disclosed in the report, allowing stakeholders to better
understand and benchmark the sustainable development performance of
the Group.

“Materiality”: when defining material ESG topics related to the Group's
business and stakeholders, we communicate internally with Group
members and externally with stakeholders to understand everyone's
expectations and recommendations. This includes stakeholders who
are impacted by or have a material impact on our operations, such as
the Management, trade union representatives, employees, customers,
suppliers, local government bodies and relevant local organizations.

“Balance”: the Group discloses its major ESG related performance
objectively to reflect the true picture of its achievements and challenges,
thus enhance operational transparency and build stakeholder trust.

To identify and update material ESG risks and opportunities faced by
Lee & Man Chemical, we carry out a materiality assessment of ESG
topics every year. Environmental and social ESG topics are identified
based on the day-to-day operations of the Group, social trends, and
industrial landscape, upon discussions with stakeholders. To understand
stakeholders’ level of concern towards each topic, the SEPD and the
General Manager's Office will work together to distribute an ESG
Assessment Form to major stakeholders for them to rank the importance
of relevant topics. Subsequently, we will create a materiality matrix
based on the summarized survey results to prioritize the topics. With
reference to topics deemed material by industry peers, we seek to better
understand our business performance and prospect through discussions
with the Management. We will then classify ESG topics based on their
materiality and submit the matrix chart to the Board for review. With the
materiality assessment, we expect to develop a long-term development
plan that incorporates the suggestions of our stakeholders, so that we can
establish a long-term and mutually beneficial business relationship.
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In the matrix chart, the X and Y axes represent the materiality of ESG
topics to the Group's business (Internal Assessment Score) and
stakeholders (Externa Assessment Score), respectively. Topics with the
highest materiality are shown on the top-right corner of the matrix chart.
Conversely, topics with lower materiality are shown on the bottom-left
corner of the chart. In this Report, key topics will be disclosed in detalil
in accordance with the “materiality” principle stipulated under the ESG
Reporting Guide of the HKEX.

The important issues this year include: compliant operations (including
environment, operation, and employment) and operational risk
management, hazardous chemicals management, contingency
mechanism in plants and product quality.
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The Group's production, factory operation and sales are located in the
PRC and therefore governed by the following laws and regulations:

Laws and Regulations

EEER
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AEBHEE - TREENHERBUNP

Bt - BREBIWERERERBIEA N

B

Environmental

B

Law of the People’s Republic of China » {F#E AR EMBURIFIREE)

on Environmental Protection

Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control
of Water Pollution

Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control
of Atmospheric Pollution

Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control
of Solid Waste Pollution

Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control
of Soil Pollution

Emission Standards of Air Pollutants
for Thermal Power Plants

The “14th Five-Year Plan” for
Greenhouse Gas Emission Control
The Second Revision of Decision of
the State Council on Amending the
Regulations on the Administration of
Ozone-depleting Substances
Environmental Noise Emission
Standard for Industrial Enterprises
and Factories

Interpretation of the Supreme
People’s Court and the Supreme
People’s Procuratorate on Several
Issues Regarding the Application of
Laws in Handling Criminal Cases

of Environmental Pollution (Fa Shi
[2023] No. 7)

Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Noise Pollution Prevention
and Control

Emission Standards for Volatile
Organic Compounds in the
Chemical Industry

Emission Standards for Volatile
Organic Compounds Part II: Organic
Chemical Industry

Emission Standards for Pollutants
from the Petrochemical Industry
Safety Specifications of Special Work
in Hazardous Chemicals Enterprises
Fire Prevention Law of the People’s
Republic of China
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Laws and Regulations

ERER

Remuneration HB4EF - FZ - Labor Law of the People’s Republic  « (FF#E AR HEMBEI LA EE)

and benefits &  HEFRIELR of China

Equal opportunity « Labor Contract Law of the People’'s + (FZEAREMBE LB A FE)
and anti- Republic of China

discrimination

Occupational BiE@EEL S - Work Safety Law of the People's  (FEARKENMBEZZEEL)
health and safety Republic of China
+ Law of the People’s Republic of - (REARKEMBEBZERYEE)
China on the Prevention and Control
of Occupational Diseases
« Regulations on Work Safety Permits  « (H3E A R LM E %2 2 A B 57 7] 7B 16 051)
of the People’s Republic of China

Child and forced ZTM5&H|% T < Provisions on the Prohibition of ABEIFRETHED
labor Using Child Labor
+ Labor Law of the People’s Republic + (F#E A REME L BNE)
of China

« Standardization Law of the People's + (1 AR EMBIZE(LE)
Republic of China

i

W S0
& hio

\
/

Product quality &
Reasonable sales
and promotion

Company Law of the People's s (REARKMBEREE)
Republic of China

Food Safety Law of the People’s c(FEARENERRZEIE)
Republic of China

Regulations of the People’s Republic « (F#EEARKEMBE THERAEAIEEE
of China on the Administration of &5

Production License for Industrial

Products

Advertising Law of the People’s c (PEARANMBESE)
Republic of China

Product Quality Law of the People’'s « (F#EARKEMBEIERLEE%)
Republic of China

=
op
ez

Anti-unfair Competition Law of the — « (F#EARLFBER N EEHFEE)
People's Republic of China

Notice of the Supreme People's - Ee ARER k&S ARBRTERENE
Court and the Supreme People's CEARIEmEHENERMEREEZET
Procuratorate on Issuing the A H) B R )R &0

Opinions on Issues Concerning the

Application of Law in the Handling

of Criminal Cases of Commercial

Briberies

Anti-corruption RES

The Group's norms are significantly affected by the above major laws A EEEHEEEREAEBRAF LT A
and regulations. There is no incident of non-compliance which shall be ~ EYF 2 - HAIE2023FE IR G HHRHENR
reported in 2023, and the Group affirms the compliance with such laws 1B Re - AEBINRPEERITEST o
and regulations.
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GREEN DEVELOPMENT

The Group is committed to environmental protection and has adopted
various measures and monitoring methods to fulfil its environmental
protection obligations. SEPD has been setup, with dedicated management
personnel for handling issues in relation to safety and environmental
protection. They continually follow up with relevant environmental
laws and regulations and keep themselves abreast of relevant updates,
ensuring that various departments of the Company also perform
according to the requirements of the government on environmental
protection and eliminating any behaviour which is in violation of
environmental laws and regulations. We also actively carry out external
management system certification and audit to ensure that the Company's
environmental management system meets the standards. During the
year, the Group did not find any breach of laws and regulations related to
environmental protection.

We pooled the wisdom and efforts of everyone to establish a green
factory characterized by its economical and intensive use of land,
harmless raw materials, clean production, recycling of wastes and
low-carbonation of energy sources. In the hope of minimizing the
environmental impact of the whole production process, we are
committed to applying the green development to optimize the industrial
structure, properly reduce the pollution and emission, and increase the
resource utilization in daily production.

Jiangsu Chemical has passed the examination of safety production
standardization Class-A enterprise (chemical) and won the title of “Suzhou
Environmental Protection Demonstration Enterprise” awarded by Suzhou
Ecology & Environment Bureau for three consecutive years. Jiangxi
Chemical adheres to the energy policy of high-quality development,
sustainable clean production, efficient use of resources and benchmarking
industry leaders. All cadres and workers attach importance to energy
conservation and carbon reduction ideologically, and devote themselves
to the road of green, environmental and sustainable development.

The factories under Lee & Man Chemical will continue to actively play
the exemplary role of national-level green factories and take high quality
development and green and environmental protection as the main line,
develop “smart chemical factory” and “green manufacturing” enterprises
to meet the national requirements for carbon reduction and energy-
saving development and contribute to “carbon peaking and carbon
neutrality”.
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Waste and Hazardous Substance Management

Strictly abiding by the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Environment Pollution caused by Solid Wastes,
the Technical Specifications for Collection, Storage, Transportation
of Hazardous Waste and other applicable laws and regulations, the
Company has developed the Solid Waste Control Protocol to properly
manage the solid waste and try to minimize it from sources. We
made efforts to dispose of the wastes in-situ to minimize and prevent
environmental pollution, improve the comprehensive utilization level,
thereby reducing the quantity of waste and making it recyclable and
harmless.

Jiangsu Chemical builds a technological upgrading project for
environment-friendly pretreatment of solid waste and the operating
temperature of the environment-friendly pretreatment equipment (rotary
kiln) is controlled at 450+50°C to effectively reduce the amount of
generated aluminum oxide waste. The amount of actually generated
aluminum oxide waste is reduced by 24% in 2023. In this project, the
aromatics and acetates attached to activated aluminum oxide waste are
evaporated out by means of drying at high temperature and sent to a tail
gas incineration system for disposal by incineration to ensure the safety
and reduction of aluminum oxide waste. It is a short-term target for 2023.

At Jiangsu Chemical, raffinate and organic tail gas of carbon tetrachloride
undergo non-hazardous incineration, and the ultimate emissions
are in compliance with the GB18484-2020 and DB32/4041-2021
standards. According to the commissioned test report, major emissions
during normal operation include nitrogen oxides, hydrogen chloride,
smoke and dust, carbon monoxide, non-methane hydrocarbon etc.; the
amount thereof all comply with emission standards. Our emission data
for the whole process is transmitted to the website of the Ecology and
Environment Bureau of Changshu, Suzhou, and the Self-monitoring and
Information Release Platform of the Sewage Disposal Unit of Jiangsu in
real time around the clock.
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Jiangxi Chemical uses the salt sludge drying device, and the workshop
adopts technology to reduce the amount of bromine-containing raw salt,
thus reducing the disposal amount of salt sludge solid waste.

To strengthen the prevention and control of environmental pollution
caused by industrial solid waste and hazardous waste, Jiangxi Chemical
is committed to managing the whole life cycle of industrial solid waste,
covering the whole process of waste generation, collection, storage,
transportation, utilization and disposal, so as to minimize environmental
pollution. For all new construction, reconstruction and expansion projects
that will generate solid waste, carry out environmental impact assessment
and environmental protection completion acceptance of prevention
and control facilities for solid waste storage, utilization and disposal in
accordance with the relevant national regulations on environmental
protection management of construction projects, and inform the results
to the public. The Company will also ensure that solid waste pollution
prevention and control facilities are included as a part during the design,
construction and use of the main project.

Following the principles of “resource recycling, reduction and reutilization”,
whole process management and classified management adopt
production processes and technologies that meet the requirements of
cleaner production, reduce the amount of solid waste generated, reduce
or eliminate the harm of solid waste to the environment, and make full
and rational use of solid waste and harmless disposal of solid waste.
The self-built hazardous waste incinerator is used to treat the fluorine
chemical residual and high boiling residual hazardous waste generated
in the production process. After treatment, the flue gas emission meets
the relevant national standards, and the flue gas emission is monitored
online in real time. The emission data is timely transmitted to the
pollution source system of Jiangxi Province and the automatic monitoring
and basic database system platform of key pollution units.
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Name Unit

=L B 2023 2022
Production volume of hazardous waste® Ton 5,044.3 3,730.9
BEBEEYEEC 8

Emission intensity Kg/Ton 33 2.3
= F M

Production volume of general waste® Ton 263,724.8 295,168.3
—RERYEE? WA

Emission intensity Kg/Ton 173.8 183.9
= F M
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Notes:

The emission intensity is calculated based on: the emission amount/the annual production
volume of the Company's major products (Note: The production volume of major products
refers to the annual production volume (in tons) of chloromethane, caustic soda, hydrogen
peroxide, polytetrafluoroethylene and fluorinated industrial products)

@ The increase in hazardous waste output data is mainly due to the statistic of waste
liquid generated in the displacement of hydrogen peroxide production plant as
hazardous waste category.

® The decrease in general waste output data is mainly due to the decrease in coal
consumption controlled by Jiangxi Chemical last year, and the relative decrease in coal
ash and cinder in the thermal power workshop.

At Zhuhai Chemical, most of the solid and liquid hazardous wastes were
treated by a self-built hazardous waste incinerator. Part of the distillate
residues and raffinates were burnt at high temperature through the
incinerator, which could effectively reduce the quantity of hazardous
waste to be transferred for disposal and reduce environmental pollution.
The factory is equipped with sludge drying device, which can reduce the
disposal amount of sludge solid waste.

Office waste produced in the Company mainly refers to wastepaper
produced by the administrative office. Employees are encouraged to
adopt reasonable printing practices such as double-sided printing, and
are required to separate paper from other waste for recycling. To create a
paperless office, documents are distributed to employees via email and
DingTalk, which efficiently reduces the use of printing paper.

Packaging materials used for the Group's products include CMS
packaging buckets, hydrogen peroxide buckets, bags for liquid sizing
agent etc,, which will count towards tare weight. The two factories in the
PRC emphasize and encourage their employees to reduce waste during
the production and packaging process. Recycling practices are imposed
to avoid wastage of resources.
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BoEREREY R EREREY - XEE
DIERRE LR BB R EETRR
WER BRSO CEEBREENHE
REHRENSR - BREASRMEE
- RDTSREENEEE °

RAELENRABENEIERTBIMAER
MREAR - ARERE THEEHRRRAE E2HE
I - SENMERAROME - SARRER tRE
MO RAETEIR  RRIRERRERL
MR- EERTZHRAEBMG  TITFHA 8
OB ENRI AR SREI B2 AT o

AN AR AEBERNBEMHACMSE
K BREKHER - EBEARK - FECE M
ENBREMH - BAMBELEBRBIE
o BRI EEA - 3650 5% B 4K 1E IR A
A BLEERRE -

Name Unit

H8 B 2023 2022
Total amount of packaging material used for finished goods Ton 2,782.5 3,7383
mABEMEEE Mg

Annual packaging consumption per production unit® Kg/Ton 34 4.4
BEAEEMLHE® Fr /W

Note: Bt

FFELEBUGE  FERAERFEREMFE
B/ ZERENBERMNEES -

@ Annual packaging consumption per production unit, calculate the net weight of @
packaging material in the year/production of finished products that need to be
packaged in the year.
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Water Resources and Wastewater Management

At Jiangsu Chemical and Jiangxi Chemical, we have formulated a
stringent management system as well as assessment indicators for water
consumption and water conservation. Per-unit water consumption of
our products is assessed daily. We continue to explore aspects where
water consumption can be potentially reduced, and have adopted
numerous water-saving measures. We also have made continuous efforts
to increase the recycling efficiency of our wastewater. By reusing the
inorganic wastewater produced by our caustic soda workshop and our
pure water extraction columns in the salt treatment process, we have
significantly reduced the amount of wastewater discharged. According to
the balanced water tests that we regularly conduct on the whole factory.

The operation of the water reuse equipment at Jiangsu Chemical
remains stable. By purifying recirculated water and forced flow water, the
equipment enabled us to collect 62,000 tons of purified water in 2023,
achieving “zero” discharge of recirculated water.

The water-saving measures implemented by Jiangxi Chemical include:
salty wastewater and chilled water from pumps produced by the caustic
soda workshop, the pure water extraction columns, and during the
regeneration of resins, are reused in salt production, to reduce the
discharge of wastewater, and achieve “zero” discharge of wastewater
from the caustic soda workshop. The cleaning water from the
polymerization workshop is also reused for refilling recirculated water, to
reduce sewage discharge; while the purified water from the recirculated
water station is reused for the desulphurisation process at power plants,
to reduce the water consumption and discharge of wastewater incurred
by such process.

Strictly abiding by the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Control of Water Pollution, the Company enacted the
Wastewater Control Protocol to continuously increase the proportion
of sewage reuse and reduce the consumption of new water. Besides,
as a key pollutant-discharging enterprise, the Company installed online
monitoring instruments at the sewage outlet, which was connected
with the local environmental protection department through the on-line
system to monitor the indicators of pollutants such as chemical oxygen
demand (COD), ammonia nitrogen, pH and flow rate of the treated
waste water in a timely manner, so as to ensure that the discharge meets
the standards.

Jiangxi Chemical won the title of Jiujiang Water-saving Enterprise.
TTAE TES UL Ei7KEL (R RS o
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Jiangsu Jiangxi
Chemical Chemical
2023 I#{ET IFE{T
Water reuse rate 98.5% 98.6%
IKEEFAE
Chilled water
recycling rate 99.2% 99.2%
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Flash evaporators for wastewater are built in the chloromethane
workshops of Jiangsu Chemical and Jiangxi Chemical. Making use of the
relatively lower boiling points of organic compounds (namely methylene
chloride, chloroform and carbon tetrachloride) as compared to that of
water, we are able to filter out and recycle organic compounds from
wastewater by means of evaporation. Hence, in addition to enjoying
increased economic benefits, we can also ensure that the discharge of
organic compounds arising from wastewater is up to standard. Triple
effect evaporators were also built at the sewage treatment stations in
both factories to comprehensively recycle and reuse wastewater coming
from the hydrogen peroxide workshops. Floodgates are installed in our
rainwater system to prevent wastewater from flowing out of the factory
and affecting the nearby ecology in cases of emergency.

Each stand-alone building of Zhuhai Chemical is provided with an
independent sewage collection pool and has an independent treatment
device, which preliminarily treats industrial sewage and domestic
wastewater to reduce some important pollution factors such as fluorides
and COD to below the indicators set by the water treatment company
cooperating with us in sewage before discharge to the designated site. In
2023, discharge was reduced effectively by improving the process and
reducing the use of sewage treatment agents. In the aspect of production
process, by using dry vacuum pumps and centrifuges, the overhaul
wastewater in the production process was reduced. The factory rainwater
drainage systems all adopt reinforced concrete structures to cope with
the cracking and leakage caused by ground subsidence in the area. A
rainwater monitoring pool is arranged in front of rainwater discharge
outlet to collect and detect initial rainwater.

TECTATIAETEFRE(CYERER
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Name Unit

=L Efy 2023 2022
Water discharge m? 333,106.0 354,707.0
IKBERE 7K

Discharge intensity® m>/ton 0.220 0.221
PR E® SR

Note: Htat -

@ Water discharge intensity is calculated based on: the total discharge amount/the annual
production volume of the Company's major products (Note: The production volume
of major products refers to the annual production volume (in tons) of chloromethane,
caustic soda, hydrogen peroxide, polytetrafluoroethylene and fluorinated industrial
products)

The Group can get suitable water supply without any difficulties. In the
current year, all waste gas and sewage were discharged in accordance
with the provisions of government departments and laws and regulations
to ensure their compliance. The equipment and facilities operated
normally, meeting the requirements for up-to-standard emission.
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Air Pollutant Emission and Management

Lee & Man Chemical actively implemented the Action Plan for Air
Pollution Prevention and Control, carried out the work of waste gas
emission reduction, practiced the concept of green and sustainable
development and realized up-to-standard emissions. Some key
performance indicators for 2023 are shown in the table below:

Annual Report 2023 F3

RRIFRIFRANEE

B TIREBEECRR LB ATH
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Name Unit
#18 By 2023 2022

Nitrogen oxides emissions®

RBAULDHHE(NO)®

— from power plants Ton
— R B BB UL Mg
— from chemical production Ton
—RE({LTHE Mg

Sulphur dioxide emissions®

— SR E(SO,)®

— from power plants Ton
—RERE I, A
— from chemical production Ton
—RE({LITHE Mg
Particulates emissions
KR BB E
— from power plants, in terms of smoke and dust Ton
—REERELL - DAEEERT A
— from chemical production Ton
—RELITHE Mg
Notes:
® Reasons for the reduction of nitrogen oxide emissions (NO,) (from chemical

production): In 2023, Jiangsu Chemical realized the reduction of nitrogen oxide
emissions in tail gas through the reasonable regulation of oxygen content in tail gas
and the trial production and operation of the newly-built nitrogen removal unit. The
low-nitrogen combustion retrofitting of the steam superheater by Jiangxi Chemical has
reduced the concentration of nitrogen oxides, compared with that in previous years.

The total amount of sulphur dioxide (SO,) emissions is calculated based on: the
average concentrationxhourly emission ratexoperating time
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In 2023, no monitoring conducted by the Company and the monitoring
entrusted by the government found out-of-limits, and the pass rate of air
pollutant emission was 100%.

Strictly abiding by the “Montreal Protocol” and the “Vienna Convention
for the Protection of the Ozone Layer”, Jiangsu Chemical and Jiangxi
Chemical installed devices for converting carbon tetrachloride into
chloroform during the production of chloromethane, thus transforming
all ozone-depleting substances into products of the Companies and
effectively achieving zero carbon tetrachloride emission.

Jiangsu Chemical, Jiangxi Chemical and Zhuhai Chemical comprehensively
reviewed the links involving volatile organic compounds (VOCs) in
the whole production process in accordance with the Comprehensive
Treatment Plan for Volatile Organic Compounds in Key Industries (H.D.Q.
[2019] No. 53), the Standards for Fugitive Emission of Volatile Organic
Compounds (GB37822-2019) and other applicable specifications. The
review process includes the VOCs emission, the VOCs monitoring system
and total quantity estimation, the preparation of the whole-process VOCs
treatment plan (one plan for one factory), production process source
control measures, customized end VOCs treatment technical solutions,
and assessments of treatment effect and emission reduction. Three
factories increased investment in environmental protection and improved
the environmental protection technique, so the total emission after
reduction were 60,116 kg.

Zhuhai Chemical simultaneously designed, constructed and put into
operation the environmental protection facilities with the main facilities to
ensure effective control of pollution emissions in strict accordance with
the Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the People’s Republic of
China and the Administration Regulations on Environmental Protection for
Construction Projects, and carried out regular self-monitoring of pollutants
to achieve effective monitoring of pollution sources in accordance
with the Self-monitoring Technology Guidelines for Pollution Sources
— General Rules and other requirements. It also regularly published
environmental monitoring information for the reviews and supervisions
of the regulatory departments and the public. Zhuhai Chemical added
three storage tanks in 2023 to store aqueous solvents. Through the
optimization of distillation column process, these solvent materials
were further recovered and reused, effectively reducing the annual
consumption of about 28 tons of acetonitrile and the annual emission of
about 30 tons of nitrogen oxides.
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In terms with the fugitive exhaust gas emission, the VOCs material
storage tanks in the storage tank area were all sealed with nitrogen, and
the waste gas after the breathing valves was collected with pipelines for
adsorption and treatment with the exhaust gas treatment device. Only
after the emission requirements have been met shall the exhaust gas be
discharged through the exhaust funnel. All operations such as operational
evacuation of all kinds of storage tanks installed in the production
facilities, routine sampling emission, opening of storage tanks and
pipelines were carried out only after the exhaust gas was suctioned and
treated as qualified.

The Company performed the VOCs leak detection and repair (LDAR)
and detected the devices involving VOCs in accordance with the
specifications. The Company detected and fixed leaks in the airtight
production equipment with the help of LDAR detection devices to control
the leakage loss of VOCs and reduce environmental pollution.

A negative suction system is installed in the tank storage area of our
factories and areas where equipment involving VOCs are placed. Under
the system, fugitive exhaust gas containing VOCs produced during the
operation of our production plants, tank breathing, and the loading and
unloading of materials is collected and delivered to the incinerator for
effective treatment.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Management

The power plant of Jiangxi Chemical took strict measures to manage coal
storage and transport. The Group Company was responsible for selecting
coal that was up to the standard; the factory also maintained the power
generator sets on a regular basis so that they were operated in the
optimum state to burn coal sufficiently and raise energy utilization rate.
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The data of greenhouse gas emission from the thermal power station
was collected and calculated in strict accordance with the applicable
national standards and specifications, and the relevant energy data was
uploaded to the provincial energy management system platform.

nance Report
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Name Unit

&% By 2023 2022

Carbon dioxide equivalent (CO,e) emissions from power plants® k'Ton 2,056.7 2,132.8

REZEILH) — AL E £ (CO,e)HEM® Tma

Greenhouse gas emissions directly attributable to chemical production ~ k'Ton 23.2 21.7

BEEBMEITAERERIEHIN FWA

Greenhouse gas emissions indirectly attributable to chemical production k'Ton 1,737.4 1,941.2

MEZBE M TEER R ERIBER FWA

Intensity of carbon dioxide emissions from power generators kg/kWh 1.0 0.9
(electricity supply)®

BEHEA (HE) N SRR E® Fr/TRE

Purchased electricity kWh 7,132,860.0 7,163,880.0

SMEE T RBF

Notes: HEt -

Carbon dioxide equivalent (CO,e) emissions from power plants are calculated according to 2K B # BB M — A Lt E 8 (CO,e) BrHGESAT TIT AL T

the carbon dioxide produced by Jiangxi Chemical from coal and diesel used in power plants.

Greenhouse gas emissions directly attributable to chemical production include carbon dioxide
emissions from direct use of fuels (including natural gas, diesel, etc.) in chemical production
process.

Greenhouse gas emissions indirectly attributable to chemical production include carbon
dioxide emissions of the power plant shared by the company due to the use of electricity and
steam supplied by the power plant for chemical production.

@ Calculation basis of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO,e) emissions: (Calorific value % CO,
emission factor value of raw coal X oxidation rate X relative molecular mass of carbon

dioxide)/carbon molecular mass
Calculation basis of carbon dioxide emission intensity: Power supply coal consumption

(tce) x CO, emission of coal equivalent (t/tce)/(power supply volume (10,000 kWh)
% 10,000
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Energy management and renewable energy investment

With regard to energy consumption in production and manufacturing,
we adhere to high standards of regulated energy-saving management,
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Conserving Energy and the
Circular Economy Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China. We
have formulated the Energy Management Program and the Resource
Management Program, established an energy management system,
and implemented standardized and systematic energy supervision and
management to support the promotion of energy conservation and
efficiency improvement. In addition, we have set the annual targets
for energy conservation and regularly reviewed the achievement of
targets. The clean production has been vigorously promoted through
management proposals and technological innovations to comprehensively
improve the efficiency of energy and resources use.

Jiangsu Chemical has passed GB/T36132 Assessment of Green
Factory and won the title of Leading Enterprise of Energy Efficiency in
Jiangsu Province. In 2023, Jiangsu Chemical passed the acceptance of
mandatory cleaner production audit (MCPA), which made the cleaner
production level of the factory reach the domestic advanced level.
Jiangsu Chemical has always been promoting the green development
of the enterprise through the innovation of environmental protection
technology, and keeps the environmental protection credit status as “green
and trustworthy” for four consecutive years, and won the title of “2023
Excellent Green Development Enterprise” issued by Changshu Municipal
People’'s Government.

All factories in the PRC assessed the per-unit energy consumption of their
products regularly, and revised the assessment indicators at the beginning
of each year. In 2023, the per-unit energy consumption values of all
products met the relevant standards. The Energy Metrology Office of the
technology department is responsible for standardizing and supervising
the Company's energy consumption levels, metering work, audit reports
and assessments. The Office conducts investigations and provides
feedback, wherever unusual energy consumption patterns are identified.
It also conducts monthly evaluation on the energy consumption levels
of workshops. The control room is responsible for coordinating and
balancing the energy consumption levels of each production workshops,
while the workshop themselves are responsible for their energy-saving
management work, to increase energy efficiency.

Zhuhai Chemical has set up a cleaner production working group to
audit and formulate work plans and encourage factories to practice
green production. In addition, the Company has carried out audit
work, formulated and completed the technical transformation plan for
implementing cleaner production as planned. The plan report has also
been compiled and summarized, and was submitted to Zhuhai Ecology
and Environment Bureau for approval in November 2023. The report
was approved at the expert review meeting organized by Zhuhai Ecology
and Environment Bureau in December 2023.
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In 2023, the unit energy consumption of methane chlorides, a
major product of Jiangsu Chemical, was 205 kgce/t, the unit energy
consumption of methane chlorides, a major product of Jiangxi Chemical,
was 176 kgce/t (the national average value was 255 kgce/t), the unit
energy consumption of caustic soda product of Jiangsu Chemical was
306 kgce/t, and the unit energy consumption of caustic soda product
of Jiangxi Chemical was 297 kgce/t (the national average value was
325 kgce/t), all better than the industry standards. Some main indicators

2023F I8 TFEMT LRI YR ERL
BERETE205 kgee/t * TPAIEL T EERFLRE
LY BB AL BEFEE 176 kgee/t (2B F A
255 kgee/t) + TTER L TEEMR EE MR A B BEFE
TE306 kgee/t - )IPH{t LK E mA B pERE
1£297 kgee/t(ZHF9{E325 kgee/t) » 918
RRIZERLE - HP2023FEN—LEBIHE
RT%&:

for 2023 are shown in the table below:

Name Unit

=k B 2023 2022

Total coal consumption T 21,137.2 21,947.5

BOEERE JKIKEE

Coal consumption intensity® TJ/ton 0.022 0.021

FERREe JEIKEEE MR

Coal consumption (for electricity supply) T 13,498.2 14,385.6

BEFEE (ARHE) JKIKEE

Total coal consumption amount attributable to chemical production T 12,160.5 12,886.1

BME TR EREESE JKIKEE

Total coal consumption amount attributable to chemical production T 9,666.6 10,085.9
(for electricity supply)

BrME T B (RRHEE JKIKEE

Fuel consumption (for fire ignition in electrical boilers and power T 10.7 6.6
generation in diesel engines)®

HOREREE (AR EAE RER N LRI E )0 JKIKEEE

Notes: Mzt -

Coal consumption intensity is calculated based on: the total consumption amount/
the annual production volume of the Company’s major products (Note: The
production volume of major products refers to the annual production volume (in
tons) of chloromethane, caustic soda, hydrogen peroxide, polytetrafluoroethylene and
fluorinated industrial products)

o Reasons for data difference of fuel consumption (used for ignition of electric boiler and
power generation of diesel engine): For Jiangxi Chemical, the ignitions are frequent in
2023 than in 2022

At Jiangxi Chemical, we made great efforts to implement energy-saving
technology modification and strengthen energy management to actively
fulfil the responsibilities of energy saving and emission reduction. Since
it was put into operation, nearly 50 clean production programs have
been implemented, saving 43,000 tons of standard coal and reducing
112,000 tons of carbon dioxide emissions.
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In addition, residual heat dissipated from certain production facilities
at our factories are recycled and reused to optimize our production
efficiency, so as to save energy and ultimately reduce emissions per
unit output. The heating system of our industrial park makes use of the
residual heat generated from the power station of Jiangxi Chemical.
This helps to optimize our energy structure and improve our energy
utilization rate. Boilers powered by residual heat or heat exchangers for
recycling steam or hot water are installed in places with high temperature
reactive gas (e.g. chlorinated reactive gas from our chlorinated methane
device) and burning tail gas (e.g. high temperature pyrolysis gas from our
tetrafluoroethylene device, incinerator tail gas, tail gas from our anhydrous
hydrogen fluoride device and hot blast stove), so as to increase our
energy efficiency and reduce the need for steam procurement. Heat
generated from our hydrogen peroxide products is also collected and
reused in the extraction columns for extracting pure water, hence
reducing steam consumption.

In terms of energy efficiency management, the production and
technology departments of the factories prepared the Energy
Management Manual, which was signed and issued by the General
Manager and implemented by the factories. Every year, the factories set
aside a specific fund for the modification of energy-saving technologies.
Specific measures of energy efficiency management include: formulating
indicators used in performance reviews, opting for efficient equipment,
upgrading and modifying existing equipment that are low in efficiency,
clarifying responsibilities in relation to energy-saving management, and
soliciting employee's suggestions on energy conservation via reasonable
channels.

45

Annual Report 2023 F3

BESN - TR BB A B AR e M R EVE 1T K
A BCEERE - AEE R ILRAZR
LEMEENHRE - IR TEHRARYE
TEERHER - BLERERE  RESERM
AX - EAERARER (R A LYEESR
tRER) RMERER(NAZGBEES AR
R WEERR - EKALCIREREE
FRF) BT 2 5 R 20 SRR sl d 20 as [T W %
TREUK - IEEEERMAME - R INEE
77 BEUKEmBEDU - HEARURAEKE
AR T THERE ©

TREERMEPIEERRUEEEL - HH
TCREREEFM) - W HALERETFT MR
BT IMEBFRAZRESETERER
M - ERY B ARBEREEA - Hl
RIRENERZIER BRERSEUNERE - ¥
RARMBEREETHRISGE - AR
BEE BEAELERFEERERT

s
T

mmg



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RS - HERERHRE

Renewable Energy Investment

In promoting the green production environment, the Group has explored
our potential in energy saving, consumption reduction, pollution reduction
and efficiency improvement. The Group actively promotes the use of
renewable energy, and utilizes renewable energy such as solar energy,
waste heat from production and hydrogen energy to achieve our target of
energy conservation and emission reduction. This year, CSI Solar 37.62
kW PV module was installed on the roof of Jiangsu Chemical Office
Building, generating 45,000 kWh of electricity annually. In addition, we
encourage waste reduction, recycling of surplus energy and replacement
of high consumption production modes, keep and build green belts in
the factory site, ensuring human activities coexist and interact with the
natural environment, and take the protection of blue sky, clear water
and pure land as our own responsibility. With the joint efforts of all
employees, we will continue to explore new ways to reduce emissions,
waste recycling, water recycling , VOC treatment, etc,, and promote the
upgrading of the Company's environmental protection work.

Jiangsu Chemical was awarded the title of
Changshu Excellent Green Development Enterprise.
TR TEFEATESSEEREE -
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Jiangxi Chemical was awarded the “Green Factory” demonstration
enterprise issued by the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology.
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Case 1 — The factory has achieved the following achievements in energy
efficiency:

+  Reduce the heat energy consumption and improve the energy
utilization rate by utilizing the waste heat of finished caustic soda
and steam condensate in caustic soda workshop.

+  Reduce the heat energy consumption and improve the energy
utilization rate by utilizing the waste heat of hydrochlorination and
chlorination reaction in the methane chloride plant.

«  Recycling and cyclic utilization of hydrogen analyzed by the
hydrogen purification device in caustic soda workshop.

*  Recycling and cyclic utilization of tail hydrogen in CTC conversion
unit of methane chloride workshop.

«  The electric fans of the circulating water station are transformed into
hydraulic turbines to save electricity.

«  Energy-saving transformation of motors to save energy.

«  Heat recovery of caustic soda products and hydrogen peroxide
products to save energy.

Case 2 — The commercial and residential complex RIVERDALE built by
the Group in Changshu:

With unique Hong Kong style sky garden building, sculpture landscaping
design and connecting corridor platform, creates a feeling of leisure
and comfort for the residents and incorporates them in a natural life.
Renewable energy technology was applied to build the commercial
building: install photovoltaic power generation devices to provide an
alternative option for lighting power supply and create an energy-saving
environment-friendly smart community.
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Environment-Friendly Products

Caustic soda is present in our products; hence we make use of advanced
energy-saving industrial equipment and modified technology such as the
membrane polar distance electrolytic cell, the deployment of residual
heat dissipated from our finished goods, and the optimization of our cold-
water system, to reduce our energy consumption per product unit. We
also conduct energy audits, clean production audits and carbon emission
tests etc. on a regular basis, and develop, improve, and implement
energy-saving plans.

Jiangsu Chemical passed the rating audit of Suzhou Changshu Ecology
and Environment Bureau and was rated as “Excellent Enterprise in
Environmental Management” in Changshu City. The company carried
out persistent technological innovation in the field of cyclic utilization
of byproduct hydrochloric acid, developed the key technology for
conversion and production of high-purity methane chlorides, and
took the lead in building China’s first set of plant for using recovered
byproduct hydrochloric acid to produce high-purity methane chlorides,
which evaded the environmental risk possibly caused by improper
disposal of byproducts, pointed out a direction for high-value utilization
of byproduct hydrochloric acid in the industry, also filled in the gap of
the methane chloride market after withdrawal of glyphosate and was a
matter of significance to the sustainable development and environmental
protection in the domestic byproduct hydrochloric acid and organic
silicone industries.

Products produced by Jiangxi Chemical, such as Chloromethane
products (dichloromethane and trichloromethane), hydrogen peroxide,
polyaluminium chloride, hexafluoropropylene and polytetrafluoroethylene
have been awarded the title of “Jiangxi Famous-Brand Product”
successively. The special-purpose polymer products produced by
the Company can realize effective thermal and electrical insulation,
meeting the unique requirements of different customers. Adhering to
technological innovation, Jiangxi Chemical has successfully developed
ultra-high-molecular-weight suspension resin used in LCD screens and
5G communications, and a material exclusively for extrusion pipes that
is used in automobile and aircraft fuel pipelines. These series product
innovations have brought about good economic and environmental
benefits.

Zhuhai Chemical is committed to becoming a green factory, spares no
effort to promote the use of new energy and reduce pollution caused by
its production. The fluoroethylene carbonate material it produces will help
China promote the use of high-performance batteries. While improving
product quality, Zhuhai Chemical is committed to controlling the amount
of waste, for example, recycling some liquid waste in the production
process to reduce the amount of waste. The impurities in the potassium
salt produced in fluorination reaction are removed by optimized process,
to ensure that only high quality products are sold to the market.
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Biodiversity

Noise from our large compressors is inevitable during the chemical
production process, which may bring harm to the environment and
surrounding areas. Therefore, we have in place a reasonable noise
management design, where we set up green noise barriers surrounding
noise sources and our factories, and install sound absorption materials
indoors, as well as having soundproof doors and windows. We opt
for sound friendly equipment and seek to reduce noise at its sources,
with anti-vibration pads and other noise reducing furniture. Employees
exposed to noise are provided with noise-cancelling ear plugs and ear
protectors. All personnel in the workplace are also required to wear
disposable earplugs supplied by the Company. Moreover, to minimize
workers’ continuous exposure to loud noise, we organize their job
duties in alternating shifts in accordance with the inspection schedule, to
safeguard their physical and mental health. Monthly acoustic noise testing
is conducted by the SEPDs of the factories, and results are displayed on-
site, to ensure that our factories comply with the requirements stipulated
under the Environmental Noise Emission Standard for Industrial
Enterprises and Factories.

The Group attaches great importance to and has taken effective
measures to control the discharge of exhaust gas and sewage water,
in order to maintain biodiversity. With advanced green production
technology, we continue to reduce the emission of pollutants. We also
carried out an in-depth removal of VOC in the factory in 2023. Systematic
arrangements were made by our factories to meet emission targets;
through recycling, we prevented the waste of resources. Meanwhile, by
establishing an energy management system and adopting the 1ISO14001
environmental management system, the Company incorporated
environmental protection and energy-saving practices into our daily
production, operation, and management, in advocacy of green office and
production environment.

Moreover, the Group actively contribute itself into the public welfare
undertakings for environmental protection related to biodiversity
protection, and carried out diversified environment publicity campaigns
on "June 5 Environment Day” and other environment-themed days, for
example, organizing the employees of all factories and departments to
involve in public benefit activities for environmental protection and setting
an example in environmental protection.

In 2023, the Company did not have any major event of litigation or
punishment resulting from environmental violation.
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Environment and natural resources

Every factory under the Group will set a target of environmental
protection every year and each workshop will break down its target value
according to the annual environmental protection target of the Company
and implement the specific work; SEPD will supervise and inspect the
fulfilment status of environmental protection target of each department
and make assessment each month; the SEPD of each factory will
summarize the target fulfilment status of each department every quarter
and continuously put forward improvement suggestions to ensure the
environmental protection affairs of the factories meet or are better than
requirements.

Lee & Man Chemical set up targets in relation to emissions, waste
reduction, energy efficiency and water efficiency. Detalils are set out in the
following table:

BERARER

AEBETEREFHET TRAERER
1% BERREBEARNFERRERERENHE
AEBFIH) BAR{E - BIRERERSE - BUEE X
REFRENBAZESTRARE  FEAR
TF: ZRABEBAREREESHFINERE
REBRTEREE A TUREZ  EMOE
2RAZECEEFTEAERIFINBERTK
B JERLSCERS  BRIFRRE
BRALmEEBREN -

BT RIBARIS RN - BERE
BEIRGE MM AKRE NS HAI B AR - 15
BT&:

Details Goal Progress Relevant companies
BEEE EF: EERR BBLH
Emission targets Fully achieving the goal of having “zero”  Longterm  The waste has been treated Jiangsu Chemical and
HREERR carbon tetrachloride emission. Air harmlessly, and the air Jiangxi Chemical
pollutant emissions are up to standard. pollutants have been
tested and are up to
standard
TR ERMAH T HREAR SR KB BEREE(EE T TANIA(LT
VB HUEAR - RRSE DR
EIT
Emissions of hydrogen chloride and other Longterm  Tested once every quarter,  Zhuhai Chemical
air pollutants are up to standard. and it is lower than the
emission limit of
30 mg/m?
ERENDFIRREMIHCER - =31 BEERA—R wEtT
BERFRRE
3025%,/ M HK
Waste reduction targets The raffinate of carbon tetrachloride is Longterm  Achieved Jiangsu Chemical
RUEEE R delivered to the incinerator for harmless
treatment.
MEIERRAZ N EEETESE Y RIETTH TEME T
BRIR
Through treatment in the incinerator, Shortterm  Reduced by 24% Jiangsu Chemical

aluminum oxide waste not less than
comprehensive reduction rate reaches

20% in 2023.

BRTEERE - 2023FEEHESL RH
R E TMER20% °
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Details Goal Progress Relevant companies
Gl B EEER EBLE
After adjusting the amount of sea salt and Shortterm  Solid waste is reduced by~ lJiangsu Chemical
refined salt and the proportion of brine, more than 10%
the amount of salt slurry produced in the
whole year decreased compared with the
actual output last year
BRRAREH RFUERSNIEKER &H [EI B AU 100004 £ TEME T
il 2FEEEEFEREAFERED
2HRD
VOC leak points are detected and the Shortterm  Carry out regular inspection, Jiangxi Chemical
repair completion rate is 100%. repair leakage points in
time once found, and
pass the re-inspection
ERUEERDRAIEES - BETKE B8 THRA - BRMRHE R JIAtT
100% © FHETE - ERIAT
Energy efficiency The energy consumption levels of our Longterm  Achieved Jiangsu Chemical and
targets major products are better than the Jiangxi Chemical
RERERRGER national average.
FEERNEREREBETIHE - R E1T TECIAIRE(ET
Water efficiency targets  Set up assessment indicators for water ~ Longterm  Achieved Jiangsu Chemical, Jiangxi
RkB=E 2 consumption for the three factories. Chemical and Zhuhai
Chemical
=BAHBHIE T FKERZIER o R E=1R IEME T - JIAEIA
WetT
The discharge of wastewater does not Shortterm  In 2023, the total emission  Zhuhai Chemical
exceed 2,700 tons per month. was 12,736 tons, and
the monthly emission
was less than pre-set
targets
5 A REKBERE T 82,7000 - b 2023 BHEH12,736M - BT
ABEMEIERNREH
EIF
Continue to carry out multipurpose use ~ Shortterm  In 2023, the discharge of ~ Jiangsu Chemical

of waste water, and the wastewater

discharge of the whole factory is less than

350,000 tons/year.

TERREKGANA  2REKENR EH

B/NA35EE,E o
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Environmental accident prevention and handling

As the national environmental management requirements and pollution
control efforts are tightening, the Group attaches great importance
to ecological civilization and environmental protection while strictly
implementing environmental laws and regulations. The Company has
formulated relevant policies such as Environmental Factor Identification
and Evaluation Control Procedure, Wastewater Control Procedure, Waste
Gas Control Procedure, Water and Gas Hidden Danger Identification
and Management System, strictly implemented the identification
and management of environmental risk sources of enterprises, and
implemented measures to prevent and control air, surface water,
groundwater and soil pollution. In addition, the Group has also formulated
emergency plans for sudden environmental pollution incidents, provided
necessary emergency response materials and carried out emergency
disposal drills to simulate environmental accidents. In case of an
environmental accident, we will actively assist government departments
to carry out investigations, find out the cause and process of the accident
and disclose the results of the accident treatment. We will also submit an
independent incident investigation report afterwards, analyze the accident
in detail and implement preventive and corrective measures to prevent
the recurrence of environmental accidents and reduce their impact on
natural resources.

Through the comprehensive environmental protection management
platform for enterprises set up by Jiangsu Chemical (a pilot enterprise
recommended by Changshu Ecology and Environment Bureau), the
leaders and environmental protection management personnel can
monitor the online monitoring data of the Company in real time, and
respond quickly and follow up them when abnormal data occurs.
Moreover, manual monitoring can also be carried out periodically
(monthly, quarterly and annual) according to the management
requirements indicated in the pollutant discharge permit. In 2023, Jiangsu
Chemical revised the Emergency Plan for Environmental Accidents, and
the environmental accident prevention and treatment measures for HTC
projects added to it have passed the expert review and submitted to the
Ecology and Environment Bureau for the record.

Both Jiangxi Chemical and Zhuhai Chemical are monitoring the exhaust
gas and wastewater discharge of the whole plant through self-monitoring
online and manually. They have set up standard solid waste warehouses,
and installed video monitoring devices to monitor the generation,
storage and disposal of solid waste and properly control all pollutants.
In the factories of Jiangxi Chemical and Zhuhai Chemical, there are
the 6,400 m3 and 1,824 m3 accident emergency pools and related
emergency materials warehouses. The Company has also formulated a
sound environmental protection system and emergency plan, and we will
regularly carry out environmental hazard identification. We will continue
to provide relevant training for employees and conduct regular drills to
handle sudden environmental accidents.
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Climate change

In response to the impact of climate change and to minimize the impact
of extreme weather on the manufacturing and procuring processes of our
supply chain, we have implemented certain risk assessment and control
plans.

In response to extreme heat:

Goods receipt and delivery are scheduled in non-peak hours and are
avoided in hot temperatures during daytime, to ensure the safety of our
workers and to minimize the risk of volatilization of relevant chemicals.

Our tank storage area is spray-cooled to avoid the risk of volatilization
of relevant chemicals present in stored goods, to safeguard our product

quality.
In response to extreme cold:

We issued and implemented the Management Requirements on Cold
Prevention for Production Positions, which stipulates the specific cold
prevention measures to be adopted by each workshop.

We adopted measures such as electric tracing, steam tracing and heat
preservation to reduce impacts of low temperatures on our equipment
and pipes.

In response to typhoon:

We developed the Safety Prediction and Early Warning Management
System. According to the system, relevant departments paid close
attention to the weather forecast to timely grasp the information about
bad weather such as strong winds and heavy rains and make the
emergency plans for the accidents may arise therefrom.
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CARING FOR EMPLOYEES

In accordance with the Law on Production Safety and relevant laws and
regulations, the Group sets the Company's safety policy, and gives priority
to production safety and occupational health management of each
employee in daily operations. In 2023, all employees have complied with
relevant laws and regulations and completed various safety indicators,
and no violations occurred during the year.

Hazardous Chemicals Management

The Company has developed the systems related to chemical safety and
environmental protection management for all employees to consult and
learn, and the safety and environmental protection department has also
worked out the following management measures:

1. The factory establishes a ledger to record the reception and use of
each hazardous chemical;

2. Determine the name, hazard characteristics, protective measures,
first aid measures, transportation, spill disposal methods and
other signs of the hazardous chemical according to its MSDS or
characteristics, and hang unified designated signboards in striking
places;

3. If hazardous chemicals are stored in the production line, the
electrical equipment and lighting lamps used all shall be explosion-
proof devices, with anti-static measures, ensuring ventilation and no
smoking or flames;

4. Hazardous chemicals shall be handled with care to prevent collision,
and be stored at the place dry and away from acids;

5. When employees use hazardous chemicals, they shall strictly
follow the rules of use and take proper personal and operational
precautions.

Factory Emergency Response Mechanism

In order to ensure that the Company can control the spread of production
safety accidents in time, effectively organize rescue and ensure the
personal safety of employees and the Company’s property safety,
we have formulated a perfect Emergency Plan for Production Safety
Accidents based on the actual situation of each factory, which involve the
site disposal plans for all kinds of possible accidents, such as fire, material
leakage, electric shock, human poisoning and suffocation, vehicle injury,
operations in a confined space, and natural disasters.
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In addition, we have set up emergency fire stations and emergency
equipment warehouses with sufficient emergency materials so as to
ensure the allocation and effective use of materials in emergencies.
We regularly conduct emergency plan drills in the factory areas, and
cooperate closely with relevant government departments to enhance the
emergency rescue ability and awareness of staff at all levels so that we
can implement emergency rescue quickly, effectively and orderly once an
accident occurs.

The intelligent management and control system plays a positive role in
factory-wide response. The SEPD formulates comprehensive, special
and on-site disposal contingency plans in the production segment
of relevant hazardous chemicals. When the emergency response is
activated, fire, video control and production command will collaborate
and act together. In addition, the production facilities and office areas
are equipped with fire detection, alarm system, emergency lighting and
other fire suppression systems in accordance with the national code for
fire protection of buildings and other relevant regulations. The Company's
existing fire safety design can ensure the safety of all employees and

property.

In 2023, the Group found out 1,037 hidden dangers during self-
inspection and self-check. The Safety, Health and Environment
Department carried out routine inspections on a daily basis, and
organized workshop managers and above to conduct mutual inspection
according to the annual safety risk hidden danger identification plan. Once
problems were found, they would rectify them in daily maintenance, or
all rectifications would be completed in an closed loop during the annual
maintenance period.

Occupational Health and Safety

The Safety Production Commitment of Lee & Man Chemical stipulates
that we shall seek to achieve the best business performance with zero
occurrence of major incidents and no damage to employees’ health or
to the environment, and shall actively promote a culture of safety in the
workplace and create a safe production environment.

Based on relevant legal regulations and the organizational structure of
the Company, we amend the Safety Production Responsibility System
and strictly require managerial position to undertake safety responsibility
in relation to his job duty. The Company formulates annual safety targets
at the beginning of each year, requiring each subsidiary to develop
corresponding implementation plans in accordance with the overall goal
of safe production. Goal evaluation is regularly carried out by the SEPD
to regulate work procedures. The Company's leaders and production
management team signed the 2023 Safety and Environment Target
Responsibility Letter to strictly define the safety production responsibilities
of all employees.
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Safety Performance of Lee & Man Chemical in 2023 2023 F X TZ2#HH

Name of issue

EEAR 2023 2022 2021

Mortality 0 0 0

T

Mortality rate 0 0 0

X

Number of traffic accidents 1 0 0

RMEWEE

Number of work-related injuries 4 1 2

TIEENEE

Working days lost due to work-related injury® 0 0 0

ATEBRATIERHY

Injury rate per million working hours® 0.91 0.25 0.15

BEIRGEEE?

Incidence of occupational diseases 0 0 0

Percentage of employees undergoing health checks 100% 100% 100%

BEXRERENES LA

Notes: BT -

® Lost working days after the shutdown of the whole plant due to work-related injury AT GEMHEmMPE2REIHBAIER -
accidents.

@ In 2023, an employee was injured in a traffic accident outside the factory at work. 20235 - BE—REIL FIINEREINER B

For other work-related injuries in the factory, we investigate each case and strengthen
training for employees and on-site rectification, so to prevent the risk of similar work-
related injuries.

In terms of employee health, we arrange the following health services
for employees in strict accordance with the relevant national laws and
regulations on occupational health:

1. Provide pre-employment and post-employment health checks forall 1.

new employees and resigned employees of the Company.

2. Provide an annual free health check at local hospitals qualified to 2.

examine occupational diseases for current employees.

3. Carry out an annual inspection of occupational hazards to ensure 3.

that occupational hazards inside the production equipment meet
the indicator requirement.

4. Establish an occupational hazard prevention plan and ensure timely 4.

execution of tasks to safeguard the occupational health and safety
of employees in the factories.
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The factory has conducted real-time investigation and review on every
work-related injury accident. Most of the accidents were caused by
misconduct. The Company focuses on strengthening the observation and
assessment management of personal safety behavior; strengthens the
supervision and management of team leaders and increases the safety
psychology training of front-line operators.

In order to encourage all employees to participate in daily safety
improvement, Jiangsu Chemical has conducted a monthly “Safety Star”
selection activity, and provided awards to the winners. Through the
selection of “Safety Star”, the factory aims to strengthen the construction
of safety culture and create an atmosphere for all employees
to participate in safety management. By selecting safety model,
commending the advanced individuals and promoting positive energy,
it intends to let advanced models of safety management play a leading
and exemplary role, and further improve the safety and responsibility
awareness of all employees.

Employee benefits and remuneration

The Group has formulated an appropriate Staff Manual and other policies
to clearly put forward Lee & Man Chemical's 7 corporate spirits: integrity,
fairness, attitude, efficiency, perseverance, innovation and team spirit,
creating sound and harmonious labor relations for our staff.

Advocating the principles of equal opportunity and fairness, we recruit
candidates based on their ability, literacy, and competence, and oppose
any form of discrimination based on race, gender, age, and marital status.
Moreover, we act in accordance with international human rights standards
as stipulated in the Convention on the Rights of the Child and the
Universal Declaration of Human Rights promulgated by United Nations,
including standards in relation to the prohibition of employing child labor
to protect minors, prohibition of forced labor, safety and health, freedom
of forming trade unions, prohibition of discrimination, prohibition of unfair
punishment, working hours and wage standards, etc. The labor contract
concluded according to law is binding, and the Company and employees
fufill the obligations agreed in the labor contract. The Group continued
to comply with the enforcement of relevant labour laws and regulations
during the year 2023.
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The Group has established a comprehensive system regarding staff
complaints. Our staff can provide feedback through the General
Manager's mailbox, e-mail, and an instant messaging application for
internal communication named “DingTalk”. Such feedback is to be dealt
with and resolved in a timely manner. So that we can pay adequate
attention and respond to employees' voices.

Talent is the key to corporate development, especially for a chemical
enterprise. In accordance with the national labor law, work-related injury
protection regulations and other laws, the Group has established a
comprehensive remuneration system, recruitment procedures, career
progression plans for employees etc,, and provided employee benefits
such as endowment insurance, medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, work-related injury insurance, childbirth insurance and housing
accumulation funds, annual leave, holiday allowance, and free meals.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 2,116 full-time
employees.
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Total Workforce by Gender
DNERAEMR 2

Both factories in the PRC provide accommodation and transportation
pick-up service for their staff. Keeping track of the conditions in the
labor market and trends of economic development, the Group makes
reasonable employee pay adjustments every year to maintain competitive
salaries. Year-end bonuses are distributed based on the performance
of individual employees and of the Group's profits. Factory areas are
equipped with modern equipment and hardware to create a comfortable
and clean environment for employees. The Group has established a
research institute that is comprised of a research and development
team led by academicians of the Chinese Academy of Sciences and a
number of professors, in support of maintaining our status as a high-tech
enterprise and of our future development.
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The following charts illustrate the distribution of our employees by — TEZI| iz MEFER RS L) -
position and education level:
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Distribution of Workforce by Age Group

FRERD M
3.54%
14.03% (73)
(297) "
33.99%
(719)
o
n 30 years old or under
i 30BREIAT
. 31-40 years old
48.44% 31-408%
(1,025) 41-50 years old
41-505%
m Above 50 years old
5088 A £
2023 2022
Number of Number of
people  Percentage people Percentage
AE 5kt A (=329
Employee turnover rate 164 7.75% 217 9.61%
ABRB R
Male employee 118 5.58% 163 7.22%
BT
Female employee 46 2.17% 54 2.39%
Employee ZRT
turnover rate
ABRBE Under 30 years old 97 4.58% 112 4.96%
30BRAT
30-50 years old 62 2.93% 101 4.47%
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Talent attraction, employee training and development

The Group attaches great importance to employee safety training, job
skills training and career development education, etc. A comprehensive
training system is in place and improvement measures are formulated
according to previous training results so as to continually enhance training
effectiveness. In addition, in terms of technical positions, all new hires will
receive pre-employment technical training to improve professional skills
applicable to their job duties.

Free staff training provided by the factories of the Group in 2023
includes:

1. Participated in a number of external training for special operation
certificates such as routine inspection and maintenance of pressure
pipelines, chlorination process, safety production management
personnel, pressure vessels, high-voltage electricians, electrolysis
process, fire-fighting facilities operators, occupational health
managers, etc.

2. Invited safety experts of the China Chemical Safety Association to
the Company to provide a training seminar on the “Dual Prevention
Mechanism” for the purpose of further enhancing all employees’
active safety awareness on learning, understanding and observing
laws.

3. Each factory compiled a “team journal” to share and learn daily
production management experience, work safety cases and
employees’ work experience.

4. Jiangsu Chemical conducted specialized technical training in
production skills in the form of “team gathering” for all production
staff every month. Zhuhai Chemical organized team safety meeting
training twice a month.

5. According to the annual training plan of each workshop, Jiangxi
Chemical, through the online public service platform of chemical
safety education and offline training, strengthened the awareness of
safety production and improved the quality of safety training for all
employees.
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To improve the professionalism of employees and their ability to perform
their duties, the Company has fully implemented an employee evaluation
system, encouraged employees to actively learn and fully understand and
master the job skills to improve themselves. The Company would also
organize internal and external training to improve job-related knowledge,
in the hope of developing the potential of employees and promote the
development of the Company.

In 2023, the Group arranged for 2,116 employees to receive vocational
training and relevant procedural skills training (total attendees in 2022:
2,251).

RIESEBTINBERSNEREN 272
EH#ITETERGE - BRHETERZ &
BETXHEERD THMEE TR
RABC - AR IR SRR I IF
FI - RETIERBEMNANR  HEEERET
H7ERE - AR RRIHER

KEB/AE2023F FELHEB 2 MBaE
AR AR IR 2,116 A2 N (2022 F 4
€ H2251AZ00) »

Percentage of

the total Average
Number of number of training hours
Classification people staff per person
2E A 14 A BB A BB IR
Position Above supervisor level 386 (380) 18.24% (16.88%) 74 (74)
B AR FENUE
Below supervisor level 1,730 (1,871)  81.76% (83.12%) 74 (74)
FEUT
Classification Male 1,596 (1,765)  75.43% (78.41%) 74 (74)
Par | 3
Female 520 (486)  24.57% (21.59%) 74 (74)
=z

Note: 2022 data for comparison in parentheses.
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Part of training contents in 2023

Department
#BFI
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2023 FEEBRIZTAE

Training aspects
EHNFER

Target
LEIESE S

Production workshop

HEE

—_

Process specification

TEBRR

Specialized knowledge about equipment

RIEF A

Personal protective equipment wearing standards

S EARRBTE

Legal knowledge (Work safety law, The latest version of
chlorine safety regulations)
ERERAB(REEEE - BRRERLEHIE)
Special operation: electrolysis and chlorination
FiEfER - EIE - SIE

Operations involving special equipment: pressure
vessels, pressure pipelines

HREREER  BNHRR  BHEE

Special operations; high-voltage electrician, low-voltage
electrician

FrigfE% - /EEI - EEEL

Occupational health management knowledge training

BEAEEEAHEE

Workshop staff & workers
BHEBET

Workshop staff & workers
HEBRET

All factory staff & workers
THAZE
Supervisors or above

FTERASIALET
Workshop staff & workers
HEBET

Workshop staff & workers

HEBET
Workshop staff & workers

HEBET
Workshop staff & workers
HEBET

Department Training aspects Target
B EFINFR EIH R
Office 1. Corporate culture, work etiquette All staff
/N EXE - TEGE ERET
2. ERP computer system operation Responsible operators
ERPEfK R At (F BEBIEAR
3. ISO Training All staff
Neo=wl FEET
4. Financial system and tax regulations Finance department and
related departments
BT BRI E TR IS EER 175 28 S AB R EBPT
5. Procurement process and system Procurement department and
related departments
RERIE R HE ERAE 20 S AE R AR T
6. Safety standardization specification Al staff
ZRREC R FEET
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In order to foster a sense of belonging of employees to the Company,
Jiangxi Chemical has set up a staff residence hall. The dormitory area
is furnished with recreational amenities such as a basketball court, an
indoor badminton court, a table tennis court, billiards, and a yoga studio.
There is also a library equipped with board games to enable staff to
enrich their knowledge and broaden their horizons after work.

In September, the Group held the 10th “Lee & Man Chemical” Cup Men's
Basketball Competition, and the players were in high spirits, and showed
their style and skills on the court, through which the cohesiveness of the
enterprise was enhanced.

Award ceremony to employees who worked for ten years

Jiangxi Chemical employees participate basketball competition
Child and Forced Labor

When hiring employees, the Company strictly monitors the age of job
applicants. Candidates must be over 18 years old and have to present
their ID cards, the authenticity of which will be verified by the human
resources department upon hire. In the daily operation of the Group,
employees can report if they find that someone uses another person’s
identity document, so as to achieve the control objectives from many
aspects.
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In addition to monitoring the recruitment process of the Group, we
also regularly investigate the recruitment process of agencies. Besides
establishing management system to address potential breaches of
conduct, we also require suppliers to formulate measures on the
prevention of child and forced labor. The Company shall cease to work
with any violating parties.

Based on the above internal control measures, the Group did not find
any major violation of child labor or illegal labor standards during the
year.

OPERATIONAL
Product Quality

The domestic factories of the Group have passed the 1ISO9001
Quality Management System Certification, 1ISO45001 Occupational
Health and Safety Management System and certification of 1ISO14001
Environmental Management System. Jiangxi Chemical have passed the
audit of ISO50001 Energy Management System. Jiangxi Chemical has
passed the certification of GB/T23001 Integration of Informatization and
Industrialization Management Systems, and Zhuhai Chemical has also has
passed the certification of IATF16949 Automotive Quality Management
Systems.

Certification attained Jiangsu Chemical

Annual Report 2023 F3
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Jiangxi Chemical Zhuhai Chemical

EEEHNRE SIEET IFE{ET BRiEET
ISO9001: 2015 Certificate v v v

ISO9001: 20155

ISO45001: 2018 Certificate v v v
ISO45001: 2018 &

ISO14001: 2015 Certificate v v v
ISO14001: 2015

ISO50001: 2018 Certificate v

ISO50001: 20187 &

IATF16949: 2016 Certificate v
IATF16949: 20167 &

GB/T23001: 2017 Certificate v

GB/T23001: 2017EE

We pay attention to standardized management. Product quality HFUEERE(CHEE  REEHERTE
standardization is implemented during quality management, and the ~ mmERE(L - ERFE(BEBEER - 171F

implementation rate of product standards (including national standards,
industrial standards and enterprise standards) is 100%. The factory
has formulated a complete quality management manual and control
procedures, and established a comprehensive goods receipt & delivery
and quality control module with ERP system, DingTalk OA Approval
Platform and other tools, so as to effectively realize the whole process
management functions from factory entry of raw materials to production
program control, warehouse transfer of semi-finished products, product
storage and delivery, vehicle and customer terminal tracing and so on.
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Both Jiangsu Chemical and Jiangxi Chemical have obtained the Food
Production License for the production of sodium hydroxide as a food
additive; Jiangxi Chemical has obtained the Sanitation Permit for
Disinfection Product Production Enterprises for the production of “84"
disinfectant, and the CPVC blend compound products produced by
Jiangsu Chemical have obtained the UL and NSF product certification in
the United States, and been successfully recognized by the Certification
Department after the unannounced inspections of UL laboratory and NSF
engineers every year.

In the first half of 2023, Jiangsu Chemical set up a high-purity methyl
chloride production plant (40,000 tons/year) which has now been put
into operation. This product is used in cellulose synthesis, silicone and
quaternary ammonium salt industries. In addition, Zhuhai Chemical's
fluoroethylene carbonate project has been expanded, and the products
from the original production line have been highly recognized by
downstream lithium battery manufacturers.

The Group is equipped with a number of advanced devices for the
production of two high polymer material products to help improve
product quality. For example, for the PTFE produced by Jiangxi Chemical,
the analysis room is equipped with an total organic carbon analyzer (TOC)
for ultra-pure water detection so as to ensure that the water quality
meets the requirements. Jiangsu Chemical's laboratory is equipped with
advanced testing instruments, including total chlorine analyzer, inductively
coupled plasma emission spectrometer (ICP), inductively coupled plasma
emission mass spectrometer (ICP-MS), Shimadzu gas chromatography-
mass spectrometer (GC-MS), liquid chromatograph (LC), Metrohm
870 potentiometric titrator and 702 potentiometric titrator, which can
be used to test the physical and chemical properties of various high
purity chemicals and new materials. In addition, for the fluoroethylene
carbonate produced by Zhuhai Chemical, the laboratory is equipped
with Agilent gas chromatograph (the US), Shimadzu gas chromatograph
(Japan), inductively coupled plasma emission spectrometer (Germany),
Metrohm 870 potentiometric titrator (Switzerland), 831 moisture meter,
888 potentiometric titrator, double-station and single-station glove boxes,
which can comprehensively and carefully analyze organic matters.

Jiangxi Chemical pursues excellence and strives to be the best in the
aspect of production management. Production team use advanced
instruments such as online chromatograph, online concentration meter
and automatic titrator to improve the detection efficiency and realize the
real-time and refined quality process control. Factory laboratory have also
established information management system to achieve the combination
of test data and production data, so as to improve the stability of
product quality. In February 2023, Jiangxi Chemical won the “Industrial
Development Enterprise Outstanding Contribution Award", and in May,
Jiangxi Chemical was awarded by China Association of Fluorine and
Silicone Industry as a “Model Enterprise in China’s Fluorine and Silicon
Industry”.
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Customer Relationship Maintenance

The Group values the feedback of customers. In terms of after-sales
services and complaint handling, the sales department communicates
with customers regularly and distributes satisfaction survey reports every
year to understand their general and special needs for products. The
Company ensures that the feedback from customers is true, timely and
sufficient through face-to-face interviews, telephone calls, the internet,
conferences, and exhibitions, etc. The marketing team classifies and
summarizes the various needs of customers and transmits the relevant
information to the relevant departments respectively, so that the market
response speed and service quality of the Company's products can be
improved.

Customers can raise any questions related to quality and safety through
multiple communication channels, such as contacting the designated
salesperson or by email. We will earnestly and quickly follow up relevant
issues and give appropriate feedback. After discussion, evaluation and
investigation of related departments, we will look for any potential risks
and the Group undertakes to take corrective, recovery or preventive
measures in a timely manner. In 2023, the Group did not have any sold
product that had to be recalled for safety and health reasons.

When receiving customer complaints about product quality and service,
the Company's sales department and quality control department will
organize relevant meetings to discuss and determine the underlying
reasons, propose corrections, and take preventive measures. In 2023,
the Group received a total of four customer complaints (Note 1). The
Company has arranged resolved and replaced each case, in order to
meet the requirements of each customer for high-quality chemical
products.

Company Customer feedback
Y| EFOEAR
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Handling
BREER

Jiangsu Chemical Product appearance defect (1)

T#RET EmIMEREIR)

Jiangxi Chemical There are foreign matters in the goods (2 cases)

TE{ET EmHREREYQ2R)

Zhuhai Chemical Product packing drum defect (1)

WEET EmBPEmEEOR)

Note 1: In 2022, the Group received 5 customer complaints.
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Commercial Ethics and Anti-corruption

The Group adheres to business integrity, abides by business ethics,
resolutely resists corruption and bribery, and will continue to improve its
anti-corruption supervision system.

Lee & Man Chemical has formulated a Staff Manual. New employees
will receive training before admission, learn the contents of the Staff
Manual and understand the Company’s requirements for anti-corruption.
The Group also regularly provides bribery prevention training for senior
executives. All subsidiaries have organized staff and cadres to participate
in the special training on “bribery prevention and anti-corruption”. The
executives were deeply educated and warned after hearing typical cases
explained by law firm professionals and the Company, learning relevant
laws and regulations, and watching short anti-corruption education films.
The Group also provided anti-corruption training to the Board to create a
clean working environment in all aspects.

Below are photos of anti-corruption training to employee organised by
Jiangsu Chemical and Jiangxi Chemical:

The Company has formulated a Management System for Conflicts of
Interest Arising During An Employee’s Service, which stipulates that all
relevant personnel related to new recruits, promotions and transfers
must truthfully fill out the Employee Interest Statement which will be
verified by the human resources department, so as to eliminate all risks
of conflicts of interest. The General Manager's mailbox has been made
available and it is opened at least once a week by specific personnel.
All employees can report corruption, bribery, acceptance of improper
gifts or remuneration and other violations or personnel through the
General Manager's mailbox. Once the violations are verified, the relevant
parties will be punished in the form of labor contract cancellation.
Such arrangement is considered an effective tool for preventing acts of
corruption and bribery.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had no corruption
complaint cases.
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R & D Innovation and Intellectual Property Protection

For the purpose of sustainable innovation and breakthrough, the Group
has a research and development (R & D) team that determines the
development direction according to the Company's development
strategies and technical difficulties, provides human and financial support,
continues to innovate and make breakthroughs, and creates new
products and new technology applications.

In 2023, the Group invested more than RMB110 million in R & D
projects. It has made many achievements in R & D and technical
transformation, including the technology of lithium battery electrolyte
additives, the process of hydrogen peroxide oxidation tail gas, new
CPVC fire service pipe products, resource utilization of hydrochloric acid,
etc. The R & D achievements not only enrich the Company's product
resources, but also contribute to environmental protection and emission
reduction.

By the end of 2023, Lee & Man Chemical has obtained 217 granted
patents, including 40 invention patents and 177 utility model patents.

The Group attaches great importance to the establishment of intellectual
property rights. In order to safeguard the Group’s interests and its
development, we require employees to remain cautious when using the
Company's resources. Sharing with third parties should be avoided, and
private and personal use in the form of replication, imitation, reproduction,
excerption and distribution is also prohibited. In terms of accessing to and
transmitting core information, only specific senior managers have relevant
authority. In addition, when developing a technical transformation with
a third party, a contract will be clearly signed to protect the interests of
scientific and technological achievements of both parties.

As an intellectual property owner, the Group will report to the local
judicial authority and resolutely crack down on infringement and illegal
acts when any product or technology is found to be used without the
Group's authorization, and upon internal review, it is confirmed that our
intellectual property rights have been infringed.

Green Supply Chain

The Group has established a comprehensive supply chain management
procedure, and classified suppliers according to the types of materials
they provide based on the catalog of qualified suppliers. When new
suppliers are introduced, they have to undergo an assessment in relation
to environmental and social risks. Purchasing department check whether
the supplier is in abnormal operation or has serious dishonesty and
violation of laws, and inquire about the credit status of the legal person
and contact person at China Enforcement Information Disclosure website.
Every year, the Group assesses the backgrounds, qualifications, quality
control track records for similar types of service, contract performance,
professionalism of project teams, corporate integrity as well as
environmental and social risks and responsibilities of its suppliers, and
grades them according to the assessment results. Priority will be given to
well-performing suppliers when placing orders.
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Key qualifications of each supplier are recorded in the supplier
management system. When a qualification is about to expire, an
automatic reminder will be sent to the relevant supplier to avoid overdue
and not up-to-date information. Suppliers with no activity for a prolonged
period of time are set to be automatically removed from the list of
qualified suppliers. In order to further improve the supplier management
system, the Group sorts materials provided by each single supplier and
materials with stable prices, and rechecks the prices according to actual
conditions so that our factories can obtain the best materials and services.

The Group has adopted an open and transparent procurement system to
help to provide a fair and transparent platform for relevant suppliers and
reduce the impact of the "human factor”. For our major raw materials, we
compare historical procurement costs with formula prices of framework
contracts, and introduce new suppliers according to the actual situation,
improve the competitiveness, and strive to select the best suppliers and
obtain the best prices, thereby obtaining reduced costs and enhanced
supplier stability. At the same time, according to the national energy
conservation and carbon reduction policy, the procurement department
and professional departments give priority to energy-saving products, look
for products and raw materials with lower energy consumption in the
production and operation process, and continue to pay attention to the
new trends of relevant industries and technologies. Where feasible, the
Group will give priority to purchasing sustainable products and services.

Key suppliers have to undergo an on-site inspection every year that is
conducted by the GMO and departments in charge of quality control,
procurement and production, on a sample basis. The suppliers’
environmental performance is also assessed. Suppliers are required
to rectify the problems identified on site within a fixed period of time.
Those who fail the assessment shall have their contracts terminated. All
incoming raw materials are tested and stored in specific areas according
to prescribed standards, guaranteeing that every batch of raw materials
used for production is controllable and traceable.

In case of abnormal quality of raw materials, our procurement
department, quality control department and production workshop will
assign staff members to communicate with suppliers to identify and solve
problems promptly, and ensure that production is carried out under the
prescribed process parameters and is not affected.

The Group works with nearly 950 compliant suppliers. Strict entry
approval, process supervision, regular assessment and exit procedures
have been carried out for them. In strict accordance with the supplier
management system, the admittance of suppliers with a purchase
amount of more than RMB50,000 and more than two transactions in
these years has been approved. In 2023, there were 591 suppliers in
this category, and an annual review has been conducted.
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The suppliers are mainly divided into raw material suppliers, production
equipment manufacturers and suppliers for packaging auxiliary materials,
etc,, most of which are located in different regions of China. They are
close to the factory location, which shortens the transportation radius,
reduces carbon emissions, and is more conducive to ensuring the
timeliness of the supply chain. Details are shown in the figure below.

Geographical Distribution of Supplier
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At present, the Company has worked with suppliers of major raw
materials such as raw salt, methanol, and fluorite chlorinated vinyl
carbonate for many years. These suppliers provide us with great
advantages in terms of pricing and assurance of supply. Due to the solid
strategic cooperative relationships established between these suppliers
and the Company, we will implement sustainable procurement policies
with them to ensure a stable supply of raw materials.

In terms of product logistics and transportation, the Group only hires
qualified transportation companies to transport hazardous chemicals.
All transportation companies, drivers, loading and unloading technicians
and supercargoes have received safety training, and their performance
is strictly reviewed and evaluated by the sales department. Vehicles are
required to undergo inspection and maintenance regularly to ensure that
they are leak-proof during delivery.

71

BAIREE - - &h SR IBERS
TERHMUER  MBEARAESZF - BR
RERMHERZE LIBERANES - TER
MHEROEY TRENERAERE - &
AgREZENHELERRBEE  RE
IRTEHLE

EEMYRER T @ AEEREBRAER
MEBRAREXAFLEMm - EHRA B
B8 KHRMABMMEEARTBELRE
HE  HEXVREHHETHRREES M
ff - BWMUATERRE  BREXETTE
HIRBE IR ©



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RS - HERERHRE

Reasonable Sales and Promotion

Strictly complying with the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic
of China and other laws, regulations and industrial norms, the Group
has formulated and strictly implemented a marketing management
system. Before delivery, every batch of products will undergo testing
in accordance with the items and indicators stipulated by corporate
standards and national standards; qualified products are stored separately.
Every batch of products for sale is accompanied by a product testing
and analysis report as well as a safety data sheet (SDS) for hazardous
chemicals, safety notice card, emergency contact telephone numbers
and other information. Such information is kept on delivery vehicles to
ensure product traceability by customers with respect to its safe use, and
to ensure timely support from our sales department and easy access to
enquiry in case of after-sales problems.

Information and content displayed on the Group's advertisements, labels,
and marketing materials for all business segments are subject to review
and approval before public use. The Group strictly controls the legality
and truthfulness of the content of its promotional materials, and strictly
prohibits deceptive and misleading information.

Information Security and Digital Transformation

Lee & Man Chemical has built multi-level network security and convenient
applications in information technology. The ERP enterprise information
management platform of domestic factories covers the Company's
process, production, sales, procurement, finance, quality and other
operation and management processes, Lee & Man Chemical continues
to promote “intelligent” development in the process of operation and
uses self-developed data exchange system to integrate the safety and
environmental data and operating status data of the DCS system, PLC
system, electrical system and other systems of each unit into the central
database to improve the operation efficiency and meet the work safety
requirements.

In terms of information security and digital conversion, we do a good job
in guarantee through software and hardware environment and technical
reserves. Most of the Company's operation businesses or data have been
covered in ERP system. The information and technology department
routinely checks the virus database every day, keeps a close eye on the
traffic information of key network devices, disables the Internet access
function for all devices that are not necessary to access the Internet, and
backs up important data (such as ERP data, emails, and shared data
disks) once a day or more than once a day. Dynamic attention is paid
to the new border gateway devices in the market, and the devices are
replaced and upgraded when necessary.
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In addition, in terms of digital transformation, the Company's servers and
desktops have all been virtualized, making it easier to upgrade, migrate
and expand the capacity of the business in the future and meanwhile
enhancing the confidentiality of data. The receipt and delivery system has
been implemented one-card-pass and DingTalk materials collection with
QR code, which are effective for ensuring accuracy and consistency.

The Group also attaches importance to consumer information security,
takes certain security protection measures in accordance with the
requirements of laws and regulations, and strengthens employees’
understanding of the importance of protecting information through
employee education, so as to protect consumers’ information and
privacy. The Company has no data leakage or non-compliance cases in
2023.

SOCIAL PARTICIPATION AND CO-CONSTRUCTION

Lee & Man Chemical values the importance of social responsibility
through providing support and contributing back to society, including
community exchange, hygiene, education, and sports development.

In order to practice the Company's safety values, carry forward the
enterprise spirit and enhance the communication between employees’
families and the enterprise, Lee & Man Chemical's factories have invited
all sectors of society to participate in the exchange and communication
activities for many years, so as to enhance the public's understanding of
chemical enterprises.

Community Sharing

Jiangsu Chemical actively participated in the interaction activities of
“Empowering villages and realize rural development through village-
enterprise joint operation and rural revitalization” held in 2023. By
visiting communities, the villagers’ representatives have deepened
their understanding of the management philosophy of Lee & Man
Chemical and enhanced their trust in the effective management of
modern enterprises. We hope that more residents in the surrounding
areas can know about the Company, and we can help revitalize the
industry and local development by organizing more similar activities and
complementing resources.

In 2023, Jiangxi Chemical donated NaClO disinfectant products to Guixi
Red Cross Society, sponsored Jiujiang University — National College
Student Chemical Engineering Design Competition, and also donated
money to Ruichang Charity Society, which was used specifically by
Nanyang Township Nursing Home. The amount of the above donations
reached approximately RMB100,000.
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Health Protection

The Group, as a chemical production enterprise, manufactured some
disinfection products at the beginning, responded to the epidemic
prevention work organized by the health authorities for many times,
donated disinfectants and supporting materials, contributing our own
strength.

Occupational Development

In 2023, a series of “Jiangsu Craftsman” vocational skills competitions
were held in Suzhou, and the organizer of Changshu Chemical General
Control Workers Vocational Skills Competition invited the Lee & Man
Chemical to send employees to participate in it. Chemical general
control workers are an important role in chemical production, which are
mainly responsible for managing the monitoring and control of chemical
synthesis and chemical reaction to ensure safe, efficient and stable
production. This competition can raise the public's skills and awareness
of the chemical industry and profession. The contestants focused on
the competition and gave their best, which fully demonstrated the solid
operation level, professionalism and style of frontline employees.

Sports Development

The 2023 Changshu Shanghu Lake International Half Marathon opened
amid the shouting and cheering of spectators!

74

i

AEBERCTAERE  BETHNES
Em o ZRERBNEHEHFIAGNHRET
15 BEBESKNREDE  ELTHER
HOWMANE

HEERE

2023 F F MM BT R TIT | B AR
FIBEIRE) - BATMIL TRETRERES
BEBATHFEXVETIRETIZMN LT
ETRETAESTN —EEREL - TER
BEEELBAN (LEREBEDEIEN
2H - MREENRZE - SRMEE ° R
HBAINEA AR TITENREREER
Mo B2FME2MET 2H0E ROERR
TR B TRENBREKE BEZREMP
BERL o

BEER

[2023 F 2 A+ 12 HHAN |8 A B E E W
MBI |



In order to show the perseverance and vitality of Lee & Man Chemical
employees, The Group organized runners enthusiasts from various
departments to participate in the competition, and more than 50
employees actively participated in it. They encouraged each other in the
process. On the beautiful track around Shanghu Lake, the employees
showed the spirit of never giving up and perseverance, and made
unremitting efforts until they broke through the finish line.

In 2023, Ruichang Federation of Trade Unions held the Ruichang
Employee Fitness Challenge, and Jiangxi Chemical actively participated
in the competition. Our team won the first place in the enterprise
group. Later in November, in the 6th Ruichang Workers Sports Games,
Zhang Jiale, an employee of Jiangxi Chemical, won the first place in the
men'’s team in the Tour of City race, which reflected the courage and
enterprising spirit of Lee & Man Chemical employees.

The Group continued to provide title sponsorship for Lee Man Football
Club this year to promote football in Hong Kong.

Lee Man Football Club aims to cultivate young local soccer players
and attaches importance to professional and scientific training. The
professional team of the Club won the second place in the Hong Kong
Premier League in 2022/2023, and even sent a team to represent
Hong Kong in the AFC Champions League. Many players in the team
were selected into the Hong Kong team and participated in international
competitions, winning glory for Hong Kong, China.

The Club has set up Lee Man Youth Academy to cultivate a number of

young people aged 8 to 18, so that they can receive systematic training.
The Youth Academy received 1-star certification from "AFC Elite Program”.
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Awards and Honors in 2023

The Group has won recognition and affirmation from various parties in
the past year. Below are some awards and honors obtained in 2023:

Issuer

RIREN

2023 FERIFREE

REBE2023FF -

Award or honor

RIFSRE

BRTZHMRAES

R I RS EANAR -

Company
N

CPC Changshu Municipal Committee
Changshu Municipal People's Government
hHREATEES

B ARBUT

CPC Changshu Economic Development Zone
Working Committee

Management Committee of Changshu Economic

and Technological Development Zone
hREARBERERIIERZES
FARBRTRAEREREZES

Suzhou Overseas Chinese Enterprise Federation

Y ETEE

Changshu Charity Federation
Changshu Municipal People’s Government
EAMAESES

= e =2

BATARRAT

Science and Technology Department of Jiangxi
Province

Finance Department of Jiangxi Province

Jiangxi Provincial Tax Service, State Taxation
Administration

TPRE BRI

T Pa& B

BRBBR[IAEHER

Department of Industry and Information
Technology of Jiangxi Province

Finance Department of Jiangxi Province
Jiangxi Provincial Tax Service, State Taxation
Administration

TPE TEMEARE

ARG
BERHEERDIAETHER

Health Commission of Jiangxi Province
IREAEERREREES

2023 Outstanding Green Development
Enterprise

2023FEEFREERLE

Advanced Collective for Comprehensive
Management of Safety, Fire Protection,
Environmental Protection and Energy
Conservation

LR HTRRENGEAR S
ERTIERESE

2023 Vice President Organization (4th)
of Suzhou Overseas Chinese Enterprise
Federation

2023 F M T BEE
(BmfE) &g REL

Caring Enterprise

B

High-tech Enterprise Certificate

BRI RS

Provincial Enterprise Technology Center

BRI

Jiangxi Province Health Enterprise
TREARERE
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Jiangsu Chemical

TEMET

Jiangsu Chemical

&R

Jiangsu Chemical

TERET

Jiangsu Chemical

TEET

Jiangxi Chemical

AN

Jiangxi Chemical

IP(ET

Jiangxi Chemical
AN i |



Annual Report 2023 F#R

Issuer Award or honor Company
BREN RIFHRE N F]

77



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED EX{t THRA T

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE g RERHRE

Issuer Award or honor Company
BREN BIFRE N F]

Color classification

EeER

Green environment related

R EIRIRA

Product quality related
EmmE R

- Industry development related
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. WAI Siu Kee, aged 79, Chairman of the Group who joined the
Group since its establishment in 1976. Ms. Wai has extensive experience
in the manufacturing industry of over five decades. She is responsible
for the development of corporate strategies, corporate planning and
overall management of the Group and in particular the marketing and
development of the business of the Group. Ms. Wai is the mother of Mr.
Lee Man Yan, an Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group.

Mr. LEE Man Yan, aged 46, the member of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Committee of Jiangxi and Chief Executive Officer of the
Group. He joined the Group in 2000. Mr. Lee is in charge of the
corporate and strategic planning of the Group, and is responsible for
the management operations, procurement of mechanical materials,
staff management and public relations in the PRC of the business.
He graduated from the University of British Columbia, Canada with a
Bachelor's Degree in Commerce. Mr. Lee was awarded Young Industrialist
Award of Hong Kong 2013 and Young Entrepreneur Award 2013. He is
appointed as member of the Departmental Advisory Committee for the
Department of Chemistry of City University of Hong Kong and Committee
Member of Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council. Mr. Lee is a son of Ms.
Wai Siu Kee, an Executive Director and the Chairman of the Group.

Mr. YANG Zuo Ning, aged 61, an Executive Director of the Group and
General Manager of Jiangxi Lee & Man Chemical Limited. He joined
the Group in 2006. He is a national acclaimed senior engineer and has
over 40 years of production experience in chlor-alkali industries. He is
responsible for the strategic planning, general management and advisory
of production engineering to the Group.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Professor CHAN Albert Sun Chi r, aged 73, CPPCC National
Committee, Jp, a Non-executive Director of the Group. He joined the
Group in 2015 as Chief Strategist. In 2016, he was designated as an
Executive Director and re-designated as a Non-executive Director in
2024. He is a world-renowned organic chemist, Member of the Chinese
Academy of Sciences and President Emeritus of Hong Kong Baptist
University. He is responsible for the planning of the Group’s overall
business and long term strategies, formulating new product development
directions, leading the Group's research and development team for
enhancement of scientific research technology, commercializing its
research results and introducing new products into the market. Professor
Chan received his bachelor degree from International Christian University
in Japan in 1975 and his MSc and PhD degrees from the University
of Chicago respectively in 1976 and 1979. Upon graduation from the
University of Chicago, he started an industrial career at the Monsanto
Corporate Research Laboratories where he had worked for 13 years,
rising through the ranks of Senior Research Chemist, Research Specialist,
Senior Research Specialist and finally Monsanto Fellow. Since joining the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1994, Professor Chan had served
as Chair Professor and Head of the Department of Applied Biology
and Chemical Technology, Dean of the Faculty of Applied Science
and Textiles, and Vice President (Research Development). He was the
4th President and Vice-Chancellor of Hong Kong Baptist University in
2010-2015. Professor Chan's research areas include the application of
chiral catalysts in asymmetric syntheses and their industrial applications,
development of pharmaceutical products and related processes,
pharmaceutical and nutritional products based on Chinese medicines,
new organic chemical processes and their industrial applications, research
and industrial applications of green sciences, novel material discovery
and development, etc. Elected as Member of the Chinese Academy of
Sciences in 2001, Professor Chan has received numerous prestigious
awards including State Natural Science Award of China (second class),
Lectureship Award by The Society of Synthetic Organic Chemistry, Japan
and Invitation Fellowship of Japan Society for the Promotion of Science.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. WAN Chi Keung, Aaron 88s Jp, aged 74, an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Group. He holds a Master's Degree in
Business Administration of the Chinese University of Hong Kong and
a Master's Degree in Buddhist Studies of the University of Hong Kong.
He is also an associate of the Institution of Business Agents, a member
of the Land Institute (London), an associate of the Chartered Institute
of Arbitrators, a fellow of The Institute of Administrative Accounting and
a fellow of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. He is engaged
in the business of property and chattel valuation and auction and has
over 37 years of related experience. Mr. Wan serves as an independent
non-executive director in Tongda Hong Tai Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
2363) and CNC Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8356).
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Mr. HENG Victor Ja Wei, aged 46, an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Group. He is a partner of Morison Heng, Certified Public
Accountants. He holds a Master of Science Degree of the Imperial
College of Science, Technology and Medicine, the University of London.
He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Heng serves as an independent non-executive director
in Matrix Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1005), Veson Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 1399), Best Food Holding Company Limited (Stock Code:
1488) and TradeGo FinTech Limited (Stock Code: 8017). He also serves
as the company secretary and authorized representative of China Life
Insurance Company Limited (Stock Code: 2628).

Mr. WONG King Wai Kirk, aged 41, an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Group. He holds a Master's degree in business
administration from The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology. He is a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong since 2010.
He is the founder and a director of Marvel Group Holdings Limited, a
company that manufactures disposable baby products since April 2012.
He has also been a director and legal counsel at Keenway Industries Ltd.,
a plastic toy manufacturer since September 2009. Mr. Wong serves an
independent non-executive director in Thing On Enterprise Limited (Stock
Code: 2292).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LAM Hiu Fung, aged 53, Financial Controller of the Group. He
joined the Group in 2005 and has 30 years of experience in financial
management. He holds a Bachelor's Degree in Accountancy from City
University of Hong Kong and a Master's Degree in International Business
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
is responsible for the supervision on the financial matters, tax issues and
general management.

Mr. XIA Xu Dong, aged 49, Deputy General Manager of Jiangsu Lee &
Man Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2006 and has 27 years
of production experience in chlor-alkali industries. He is responsible for
the supervision and general management of production of Jiangsu Lee &
Man Chemical Limited.

Dr. TSE Man Kin, aged 52, Executive Dean of Research & Development
of the Group. He joined the Group in 2008 and has 29 years of
experience in chemical research and research management. He holds
a PhD in Chemistry from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and is
a member of the American Chemical Society. He is responsible for the
research and development of the Group and advising on manufacturing
process.
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Mr. WU Zeng Long, aged 54, Deputy General Manager of Jiangsu Lee
& Man Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2007 and has over 30
years of experience in sales, marketing and business development. He
holds a Bachelor's Degree in Applied Chemistry. He is responsible for
sales and logistics activities of Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Limited.

Mr. WAI Hiu Yu, aged 38, Deputy General Manager of Jiangxi Lee &
Man Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2008 and has 15 years of
management experience in manufacturing industry. He holds a Bachelor's
Degree in Engineering from The University of British Columbia, Canada.
He is responsible for developing of Jiangxi Lee & Man Chemical Limited
sales strategies, exploring potential markets and logistics management.

Mr. CHEAH Ming Huat, aged 51, Deputy General Manager of Jiangxi
Lee & Man Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2011 and has 26
years of experience in financial management. He is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and chartered
accountant of Malaysian Institute of Accountants. He is responsible for
the supervision on the financial matters, treasury management, internal
control, tax issues and general management.

Mr. DING Yao, aged 39, Deputy General Manager of Jiangxi Lee &
Man Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2008 and has 16 years
of production engineering experience in refined chemicals and chlor-
alkali industries. He is responsible for the production of fluorochemical
and chlor-alkali chemical and general management of Jiangxi Lee & Man
Chemical Limited.

Mr. QIU Yi Lin, aged 51, Deputy General Manager of Jiangxi Lee &
Man Chemical Limited. He joined the Group in 2006. He acquired
qualification of mechanical engineer in 2003 and has 27 years of
management experience in power station and electrical and mechanical
equipment. He is responsible for the operation and general management
of power station as well as facility maintenance of Jiangxi Lee & Man
Chemical Limited.

Professor SUN Wai Yin, Raymond, aged 47, General Manager of
Zhuhai Lee & Man Materials Science Company Limited and Deputy
General Manager of Guangzhou Lee & Man Technology Company
Limited. He holds a Ph.D. in Chemistry from The University of Hong Kong
and has engaged in the R&D of novel organic and inorganic materials
including fluorinated additives and key components for lithium batteries
for more than 25 years. Professor Sun had worked at Shantou University
(China) as Professor in Chemistry and Director of the International
Affairs Office, and also served as Honorary Professor (2016—-2018) and
Invited Visiting Professor (2015) at The University of Hong Kong and The
University of Toulouse (France), respectively. Professor Sun joined the
Group in 2016 and is responsible for the general management, and the
research and development of the Zhuhai Lee & Man Materials Science
Company Limited and Guangzhou Lee & Man Technology Company
Limited.
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Mr. ZHOU Wei, aged 42, Director of Information Technology of the
Group. He joined the Group in 2006 and has over 20 years of experience
in software development and information system management. He is
responsible for the execution management of information system of the
Group.

Mr. SHU Dong, aged 41, Director of Procurement of the Group. He
joined the Group in 2006 and has 18 years of experience in chemical
production and supply chain management. He has a bachelor's degree
in chemical engineering from Anhui University. He is responsible for the
management of the Procurement Department of the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. HO Chun Ho Jason, aged 36, Company Secretary of the Group.
He joined the Group as the assistant financial controller in 2018 and is
appointed as the company secretary of the Group in 2020. He is a fellow
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, with over 10
years of experience in auditing, accounting and financial management.
He has a bachelor's degree of business administration in professional
accounting from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology.
He is responsible for the treasury management, accounting and company
secretarial matters of the Group.
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023,

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the Group is
principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of chemical products.

The principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 39
to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule
5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a fair review of
the business and a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group, particulars of important events affecting the Group that
have occurred since the end of the financial year 2023, an indication of
likely future development in the Group's business, a discussion of the
Group's environmental policies and performance, and its compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group and an account of the Group's key relationships with
its employees, customers and suppliers that have a significant impact
on the Group can be found in the sections ‘Chairman’s Statement,
‘Management Discussion and Analysis’, ‘Corporate Governance Report’
and 'Environmental, Social and Governance Report’ of this Annual Report.
The aforesaid form part of this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 100.

An interim dividend of HK5 cents per share amounting to
HK$41,250,000 in aggregate was paid to the shareholders during the
year.

The directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK14
cents per share to the shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members on 21 May 2024, amounting to HK$115,500,000 in total,
subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

SHARE CAPITAL
There was no movement in the share capital of the Company during the

year. There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries, of the Company’s listed shares during the year.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company's reserves available for
distribution to shareholders represented the aggregation of the
share premium and retained profits of HK$419,371,000 (2022:
HK$613,819,000).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations by the Group during the year amounted
to HK$10,188,000 (2022: HK$11,346,000).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 180.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive directors

Ms. Wai Siu Kee (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Yan (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Yang Zuo Ning

Non-executive director

Professor Chan Albert Sun ChiJp (Redesignated from
an Executive Director on 8 March 2024)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony (Resigned on 2 August 2023)
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron 88s Jp

Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei

Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk (Appointed on 1 March 2023)

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
independent non-executive directors are independent.
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In accordance with Article 87 of articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles of Association”) and Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”), Mr. Yang Zuo Ning and Mr. Wan Chi Keung Aaron shall retire by
rotation at the 2024 Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election. Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei has also served as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company for more than nine
years. Pursuant to the Code, his re-election shall be subject to separate
resolution to be approved by the shareholders at the 2024 Annual
General Meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company not terminable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of directors
and chief executives of the Company and their associates in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance
(the "SFO")) which have been notified of the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the "Model Code") of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) were as follows:

(a) Long positions in shares of the Company

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company
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Percentage of the

Number of issued issued share capital

Name of director Capacity ordinary shares held of the Company
FrisB 817 HARATSRIT

EEMR 51 ZEREAE BEABDL

Mr. Lee Man Yan Beneficial owner 536,250,000 65%

E =yt EmlEEA

Ms. Wai Siu Kee Beneficial owner 82,500,000 10%

mdmuat EnlEEA
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(b) Share options
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(b) fBAR#E

Number of ordinary
shares subject to

Percentage of the
issued share capital

Name of director Capacity options granted of the Company

R RE ERD T DT

EEMSR 54 Iy RNEEREE BAEABDL

Mr. Lee Man Yan Beneficial owner 82,500,000 10%
TXBE EnlEEA

Other than disclosed above, none of the directors or the chief executive, & FXFrH TSN - MEBEZEENHSTHAE

or any of their associates, had any interests or short positions in any
shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations, which had to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein or which were required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SHARE OPTIONS

A share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 14 July 2017,
under which the directors or the chief executive of the Company or
their associates may be granted options to subscribe for shares in the
Company.

Unless approved by the shareholders, the total number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted under
the share option scheme of the Company (including both exercised and
outstanding options) to each participant in any twelve months period
must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue for the time being.

In addition, any share options to a substantial shareholder and/or an
independent non-executive Director of the Company or any of their
respective associates, and where the total number of shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all options granted or to be granted to such
person in any 12-month period exceed 0.1% of the Company's shares
in issue and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
shares on the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, are subject to the
Company's shareholders’ approval in general meeting.

As at the date of this report, the Company has 82,500,000 share options
outstanding under the Share Option Scheme, representing approximately
10% of the shares of the Company in issue.

Detalils of the share option scheme and movement of the share options

during the year are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme disclosed above, at no time during
the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2023, shareholders (other than directors and chief
executive of the Company) who had interests and short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which have been disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

BEROIEZ 2LH

B Dl FE 2 RSN - AR S EAE A
BRARANAFEEMAREAR - HESEEW
R EARREFEBALRRAREME
fl = NERE 2 B (0 S B 75 M BN 2

FERR

R2023F12A31H - BRE(ARQRFEEZLRF
SITHRA BBRIN AR T 2 15 M AARERK S
o BEREES RHEEMIEXVEIE2 K3
DHERARRERE - KB LETIIRIEFES
MHAEIENEIZ6EBRAARTE 2 &M
ZREZRABIT

HE
K FEHR0. 1058 7T 2 ZE R

Percentage of the

Number of issued issued share capital

Name of shareholder Capacity ordinary shares held of the Company

HARATE BT
RERH A B4 EERHE RAF L
Ms. Kwok Ching Yee Lorinda (Note)  Interest of Spouse 536,250,000 65%

MEHa L (H7E) foiEtEss
Note: Ms. Kwok Ching Yee Lorinda is the spouse of Mr. Lee Man Yan. She is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Mr. Lee Man Yan under the SFO.

Other than disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company
has not been notified by any persons (other than directors and chief
executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are disclosed in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements. Some of these transactions also
constituted continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules, as
identified below.

Continuing Connected Transactions

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited ("LMP") and its subsidiaries (the
“LMP Group”) is a group beneficially owned and controlled by the family
members of Mr. Lee Man Yan, the ultimate controlling shareholder of
the Company. The below transactions constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company accordingly.

On 31 December 2020, the Company and members of the Group
renewed and entered into certain agreements governing the continuing
connected transactions with LMP and members of the LMP Group (as
the case may be), each for a term of three years commencing from 1
January 2021 and ending on 31 December 2023.

Details of the transactions, the annual caps and the counterparties are
defined and as more particularly described in the announcements of the
Company dated 31 December 2020, 4 January 2021, 5 January 2021
and 25 April 2022.

2021 Chemicals Purchase Agreement

The Company or members of the Group sells various industrial chemical
products to LMP or members of the LMP Group. There is no minimum
amount of industrial chemical products required to be purchased by the
LMP Group.

The annual caps for chemicals purchase transactions for the three
financial years ended/ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023
are RMB175,000,000, RMB320,000,000 and RMB320,000,000
respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate transaction
amount of chemicals purchase received/receivable by the Group from
the LMP Group was RMB158,290,000.

2021 Jiangsu Steam and Electricity Agreement

Jiangsu Paper supplies steam and electricity to Jiangsu Chemical. Jiangsu
Chemical provides the steam pipelines, electrical cables and relevant
facilities to transfer steam and electricity to its production facilities. Jiangsu
Chemical is also responsible for the maintenance and repairs of such
steam pipelines, electrical cables and relevant facilities.
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The annual caps for Jiangsu steam and electricity supply transactions
for the three financial years ended/ending 31 December 2021, 2022
and 2023 are RMB80,000,000, RMB80,000,000 and RMB80,000,000
respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate transaction
amount of Jiangsu steam and electricity supply paid/payable by the
Group to the LMP Group was RMB70,194,000.

2021 Jiangxi Steam and Electricity Agreement

Jiangxi Chemical supplies steam and electricity to LMP (or members
of the LMP Group). The LMP Group provides the steam pipelines,
electrical cables and relevant facilities to transfer steam and electricity
to its production facilities. Jiangsu Chemical is also responsible for the
maintenance and repairs of such steam pipelines, electrical cables and
relevant facilities.

The annual caps for Jiangxi steam and electricity supply transactions for
the three financial years ended/ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and
2023 are RMB100,000,000, RMB105,000,000 and RMB110,000,000
respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate transaction
amount of Jiangxi steam and electricity supply received/receivable by the
Group from the LMP Group was RMB61,898,000.

2021 Jiangsu Rental Agreement

Jiangsu Paper leases to Jiangsu Chemical certain office space and staff
quarters as well as guestrooms (per actual use basis) in properties
located in Jiangsu. In accordance with HKFRS 16, the Group has
recognized right-of-use asset for the fixed portion under the 2021 Jiangsu
Lease Agreement.

The annual caps for Jiangsu rental transactions (variable lease payments)
for the three financial years ended/ending 31 December 2021,
2022 and 2023 are RMB300,000, RMB300,000 and RMB300,000
respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate transaction

amount (variable lease payments) of Jiangsu rental paid/payable by the
Group to the LMP Group was RMBO.

90

HZE 20214 » 20224 K 20234 12 A 31

—EMREE  AEEBIHEIAR
LERERSF I FE LRI ABARE
80,000,0007T + A R#80,000,0007T & AR
#:.80,000,0007T °

HE2023F12A31HIEFERN  KNEEBH
TEZRMNEEREZIZMEERERD
/TR 2 #a%E B AR 70,194,0007T °

2021 IR R EE HZE

JLPE TR SGEA (S IR SGER R B K B 7
BAEEERANRE ) - BIEREBRMEX
ERANENEHEESHCEREE - €8
LiEERE  TAEEHERES  £4
BRI RE RS -

>Hb

%
@

#
XA

B ZE20214F 2022 F & 2023 F 12 A 31
—EVBFEE  AEERIAEIR

BHEHERXFIZFELRSAINAARK
100,000,0007T * A R ¥ 105,000,000 & A
R #110,000,0007T °

HZE2023F 12 A31HILFEER - AEER
TIAZRMNEEHERFABEEREED
U e - #a%E B AR 61,898,0007T °

2021 T E H:Z

TEREART A THRAMEBE IHEMERNZ
BETHAE  BIBEAER(RERERE
£) - IREFBHMISHREERFE 165 - AEH
B A2021F )T &M & 1% 2 B E 30 R E
FAREEE -

HZE20214F ~ 20224 K2023F 1243181k
“RSMBREE  AEESIHHEERS (]
HENR) 2FE LR BIAAREE300,000
7T~ AR®300,0007T & AR #300,0007T °

HZE2023F12A31HILFEER - KEEGT
HHEXZMEEREECH B &
H(AIEHEENR) BAREOT -



2021 Jiangxi Rental Agreement

Jiangxi Chemical leases to Jiangxi Paper and Jiangxi Tissue certain staff
quarters as well as guestrooms (per actual use basis) in properties
located in Jiangxi.

The annual caps for Jiangxi rental transactions for the three financial years
ended/ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 are RMB5,000,000,
RMB5,000,000 and RMB5,000,000 respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate transaction
amount of Jiangxi rental received/receivable by the Group from the LMP
Group was RMB2,428,000.

2021 Jiangxi Industrial Salt Loading Agreement

Jiangxi Paper provides loading and unloading services to Jiangxi Chemical
for its bulk carrier, which carries industrial salt.

The annual caps for Jiangxi industrial salt loading transactions for the
three financial years ended/ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023
are RMB3,000,000, RMB3,000,000 and RMB3,000,000 respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate transaction
amount of Jiangxi industrial salt loading paid/payable by the Group to the
LMP Group was RMB2,660,000.

2021 Jiangxi PAC Loading Agreement

Jiangxi Paper provides loading and unloading services to Jiangxi Chemical
for its containers, which carries industrial chemical products.

The annual caps for Jiangxi PAC loading transactions for the three
financial years ended/ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 are
RMB200,000, RMB200,000 and RMB200,000 respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate transaction
amount of Jiangxi PAC loading paid/payable by the Group to the LMP
Group was RMB18,000.
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2021 Jiangsu Industrial Salt Loading Agreement

Jiangsu Paper provides loading and unloading services to Jiangsu
Chemical for its bulk carrier, which carries industrial salt.

The annual caps for Jiangsu industrial salt loading transactions for the
three financial years ended/ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023
are RMB1,800,000, RMB 1,800,000 and RMB1,800,000 respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate transaction
amount of Jiangsu industrial salt loading paid/payable by the Group to
the LMP Group was RMB1,208,000.

In accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive directors of the Company reviewed the continuing
connected transactions disclosed in this report and confirmed that the
transactions were entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iif) according to the relevant agreement governing them on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of
the Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company's auditor was
engaged to report on the Group's continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) "Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued a letter to the Company's directors
confirming nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the continuing connected transactions disclosed in
this report:

(i) have not been approved by the Company’s board of directors;
(i) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, the transactions were not, in all material respects, in

accordance with the pricing policies of the Company;

(i) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing such transactions; or

(iv) have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.
Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which need

to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Related Party Transactions”,
no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance to which
the Company or subsidiaries was a party and in which a director or a
connected entity of a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly and indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

MAIJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five
largest customers were less than 30% of total turnover.

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's five
largest suppliers were approximately 36% of the Group's total purchases
and the purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier were
approximately 13% of the Group's total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders which, to the
knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the Company's
issued share capital had any interest in the share capital of any of the five
largest customers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company's operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to

directors and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are set out in
Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Directors’ Report
EEERE

DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21 OF THE LISTING
RULES

Certain loan facilities of a subsidiary of the Company (“Loan Facilities”)
includes the following conditions that impose specific performance
obligations on Mr. Lee Man Yan (“Mr. Lee"), the controlling shareholder
of the Company, that Mr. Lee and his family shall hold (directly or
indirectly) not less than 51% of the issued share capital and maintain
control over management and business of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate balance of the loans provided
was HK$75,000,000. The Loan Facilities will expire on 28 November
2024 and the date falling 35 months after the first utilisation date,
respectively.

A breach of the above undertaking will constitute an event of default,
which will lead to the relevant banks being entitled not to make any
further advances under the Loan Facility (if applicable) and to declare
that all amounts outstanding under the Loan Facility (including interests
accrued) shall immediately become due and payable.

PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31 December 2023
and as at the date of this report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required
by the provisions of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws
of Hong Kong).

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 of the
Company have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touché Tohmatsu
("Deloitte”) who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment, at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wai Siu Kee
Chairman
Hong Kong, 8 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RE

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee & Man
Chemical Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 100 to 179,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment, was of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current year. This matter was addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this
matter.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

38 3 B B R

KEY AUDIT MATTER (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

BREZER

BRELEH(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FEFT AR ERREREE

Valuation of investment properties

REWRP1GE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key
audit matter due to the significant judgements and estimation
involved in determining the inputs used in the valuation as
at year end date.

BPRRREDEEERERERZFE  EAREENE
BB REFEBEER 2P REAAE MGG

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's investment
properties amounted to HK$217,582,000. The investment
properties were a carpark building and a commercial
building which comprises shops, service apartment and
offices, located in Changshu, the PRC. As disclosed in note
16 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group's
investment properties were stated at fair values based on
valuation performed by an independent professional valuer
(the "Valuer”). The fair value of the investment properties
were derived using income capitalisation method and by
adopting capitalisation rates after the current rental and
the market rents potential of tenancies. The valuation
was dependent on certain significant unobservable inputs
that involve significant judgements and estimation by the
management of the Group, including market rents and
reversionary yields.

R2023F12A31H > BEEBEZREVESRER
217,582,000 7T - REMERIBUNFEAEATHIFE
BGREREERNE  HBFEEE  BREAABRPAE -
B EXERAS-FTHNKEHEHEZRG  MERGFE
VBB EIREYE - B E M BMES T 16FTH
B ERECZKREVMENRBIAEREEMGEM( 4
B DIERZ HESFE 2 ATFEYR - REMENRDTFE
THRWAB AL - MBUENME R EERIESNEE
TIHEERESEH o MEIBURN KL E XTI HEH AR
% gk EXEEEREBEAMENMG  ETSES
MEEHRERE -
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the investment
properties included:

SREMEME  RARTZEFERE

Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the Valuer;

AHEHER  BSERRE ~ fE ) RFEIL

«  Understanding and challenging the Valuer's valuation
methodology, significant assumptions adopted, critical
judgmental areas and significant unobservable inputs
used in the valuation; and
TRIWERAEROEETE - RANEARRE
BB REANEEREANER AT HRE AR
IS

Assessing the reasonableness of the market rents and
reversionary yields used by the Valuer in the valuation
of investment properties by (i) checking the details of
rental to the underlying existing tenancy agreement;
(i) comparing with relevant market information on the
market rents achieved and reversionary yields adopted
in other similar properties in the neighbourhood.
BT AR AEREARRBBENSEN 8
FLERMERE WX MGEREANTISHE S MER
Waa® - Higid - (VEERERAHERZNESFE
HEITRE ¢ (i) B E A SR Y S PR ES e T35 A8
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Independent Auditor’s Report
BY AR S

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

« lIdentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

«  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

«  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

«  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concem.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

«  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

«  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Lee, Carmen Kar Man.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

8 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE2023F12A31HIEFE

2023 2022
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
Mzt FHET FHET
Revenue — Chemical WA—{tT 3,980,919 5,772,679
Revenue — Property WA — 69,662 94,358
Total revenue WA #EFE 56 4,050,581 5,867,037
Cost of sales — Chemical HERA—{T (2,944,692) (3,517,156)
Cost of sales — Property SHER A — % (43,718) (226,340)
Total cost of sales SHEK A B (2,988,410) (3,743,496)
Gross profit EA 1,062,171 2,123,541
Other income HApdg A 7 79,946 66,853
Other gains and losses Efth s & B8 8 (13,619) 2,385
Selling and distribution costs SHE R KA (209,433) (254,372)
General and administrative expenses THER (258,700) (276,924)
Research and development costs EE R AR (120,751) (204,006)
Finance costs BE KR 10 (39,282) (38,657)
Net exchange loss M R 1R (6,977) (21,013)
Share of results of joint ventures and JEIGE S hE R EREFER
associates 543 312
Profit before taxation [ 75 Al ) 493,898 1,398,119
Income tax expense FR1SHis 9 (93,233) (241,344)
Profit for the year FREF 10 400,665 1,156,775
Other comprehensive (expense) income  Hfh2E (X H) k=
ltems that will not be reclassified to profit or ~ BEE TS EH 7L ZErs2
loss: IEH -
Exchange differences arising on translation EinE mEERE S =58 (53,825) (519,565)
Revaluation gain upon transfer of property, M - BELRBEEZRE
plant and equipment to investment W 2 B E
properties 1,792 -
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently to B £ B[ fEE#H 7482 fE 2
profit or loss: IFH -
Share of other comprehensive expense of joint B A& 4 RE L PEE (2
ventures and associates X (418) (9,658)
Other comprehensive expense for FRAHMEZEXH
the year (52,451) (529,223)
Total comprehensive income for the year FREHE WAL 348,214 627,552
Earnings per share BREM 1
Basic (HK cents) EAR(EA) 48.6 140.2
Diluted (HK cents) e (BL) 47.8 134.4
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e IR R

At 31 December 2023 720234 12A31H

2023 2022
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
et FHERT FHTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB MR 5 4,706,893 4,747,743
Investment properties WEMZE 16 217,582 187,778
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 196,132 133,849
Intangible assets mEE 18 83,885 87,531
Deposits paid for the acquisition of property, ~ FEEWIZ - E R&E 2
plant and equipment =ANEIEA 166,330 64,545
Interests in joint ventures BREDE IR 19 98,780 98,654
Interests in associates B 3 2 B 20 23,888 24338
Deferred tax assets RIEFGIAE 2 9 19,908 20,647
Goodwill [EES 22 2,593 2,622
5,515,991 5,367,707
CURRENT ASSETS nREBEE
Inventories "rE 23 787,749 844,137
Properties held for sale FEMHE 24 23,806 64,950
Trade, bills and other receivables JEWE S EEREMIE 25 408,230 338,392
Tax recoverable AT EIFR IR 1,321 7,129
Amounts due from joint ventures JEULE S ERIA 21 11,140 14,225
Amount due from an associate JE B A 1 SE IR 21 1,796 5,707
Amounts due from related companies JEULRAB A A RIA 26 15,268 12,411
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRIRE 27 263,666 421,696
1,512,976 1,708,647
CURRENT LIABILITIES RENEE
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 R E A FIE 28 383,345 492,521
Contract liabilities BHaE 29 59,102 66,466
Amount due to a joint venture ERTEERENRIEA 21 525 259
Amount due to an associate FEASTESE & (D FESRIR 21 - 167
Amount due to a related company FERTRAE A FIFRIA 26 8,551 10,861
Taxation payable FERT A IA 46,167 37,985
Lease liabilities HE&E 30 2,359 2,398
Bank borrowings RITER 31 671,767 523,156
1,171,816 1,133,813
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 341,160 574,834
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #A&ERTEEE 5,857,151 5,942,541
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
llv_\ézﬁ\ji%ﬁﬁ;‘ﬂv%

At 31 December 2023 720234 12A831H

2023 2022
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
it FHT FH&TT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBARE
Other payables FETE M 708 28 24,897 30,415
Lease liabilities HEARE 30 4,789 71
Deferred tax liabilities BERIBEE 9 27,710 58,178
Bank borrowings RITER 31 - 220,836
57,396 309,500
NET ASSETS EEFE 5,799,755 5,633,041
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARRHE
Share capital [N 32 82,500 82,500
Reserves e 5,717,255 5,550,541
TOTAL EQUITY SR 5,799,755 5,633,041

The consolidated financial statements on pages 100 to 179 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 8 March

2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wai Siu Kee
BHOH
CHAIRMAN
FE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

Non- Safety Share
Share Share distributable fund Translation ~options Special Other  Retained
capital  premium Teserve Teserve reserve Teserve reserve reserve profits Total
RE  ROEE FUSRER 22EeRF EXGRE BRERR RRBE  HtkE  REE a8
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'0000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wit T AL AL L TR Fin FiL FiL ThL T
(Note () (Note (i) (Note (i)
() (W) (i)

At 1 January 2022 1202051818 82,500 20307 822,465 = 193,587 146,141 (97,362) (686) 4407978 5574930

Other comprehensive expense for the year FRAMREZH - - - - (3920 - - - - (592)

Profitfor the year EREH = = = = - - - - LI56775 1156775

Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year ~ £R2E (%) KE4E - - - - (529223 - - - 1156775 627552

Cash dividends recognised s distibution BRAZREREAK 12 = - - - - - - - (577500)  (577,500)

Transfer to non-distributable reseve EAFA KGR - - 157697 - - - - - (157697) =

Appropriation of safety fund resenve BAZ2ECRE - - - 24,702 - - - - (24702) -

Utlisation of safety fund resenve BlR2ESHE - - - (24585) - - - = 24,585 =

Recognition of equity-setled shere based payments ~ BZURGEE 27 33 - - - - - 8,059 - - - 8,059

At 31 December 2022 120205128318 82,500 20307 980,162 117 (335636) 154200 (97,362) (686) 4829439 5633041

Other comprehensive (expenses) income for the year A2 #h2 (3 )iz - - - - (4283) - - 1792 - (5245))

Profitfor the year FREH = = = - - - - - 400665 400665

Total comprehensive (expense) income forthe year — FRZE (1) iz L% - - - - (54283) - - 1792 400665 348214

Cash diidends recognised as distibution BRAZREREANK 12 - - - - - - - - (181500)  (181500)

Transfer to non-distributable reserve ENFH R E - - 53,189 - - - - - (53,189) -

Appropriation of safety fund resenve BAREECHE - - - 2499 - - - - (249%) -

Utiisation of safety fund resenve BlZ2ECHE - - - (24329) - - - - 24329 -

At 31 December 2023 20235128318 82,500 20307 1,033351 784 (389879) 154,200 (97,362) 1,106 4994748 5799755

Notes: Bt

@)  According to the relevant laws in the People's Republic of China (“PRC"), wholly ()  RIEPEARKME([HE ) BRERE - £HED
foreign-owned enterprises in the PRC are required to transfer at least 10% of their net INE B RAREE R 100BB & T (REPE &
profits after taxation, as determined under the PRC accounting regulations, to a non- BEBEE)ETADIREE - EEREESRED M
distributable reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of their registered capital. B AR50 o WMIATE DRI S 46 IR AT AE B % 4 o
The transfer to this reserve must be made before the distribution of a dividend to equity TR DR FEEH A BER B EFEER(E) - B
owners. The non-distributable reserve can be used to offset the previous years' losses, BRI - PR DIRFEFHER TSR °
if any. The non-distributable reserve is non-distributable other than upon liquidation.

(i) The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal value (i) ~ A&EEZFRIFE A A RIEB2001F128 2 & H
of the share capital issued by the Company and the nominal value of the share capital SHMKEZWEARZRAEERARREEHT
of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group reorganisation in December 2001. IRAEE 2 =58 ©

(i) Pursuant to the relevant regulation in the PRC, certain subsidiaries of the Company are (i)  1RIEHEMBEBE - BHAREZFRAFREK

required to provide for safety reserve based on revenue. These subsidiaries utilised the
safety reserve when they improve, transform and repair their safety protection facilities
and equipment.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHETT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R E
Profit before taxation B AR B & A 493,898 1,398,119
Adjustments for: HE
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERZREIINE
equipment 56,016 69,178
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEZIE 5,724 4919
Finance costs RE KA 39,282 38,657
Amortisation of intangible assets | B 2 BN 2,640 2,804
Write down of inventories FEZRE 7,203 =
Write down of properties held for sale HEMEZRE - 157,676
Loss on disposal of property, plant and BEWZE - BERZEER
equipment 2,667 2,787
Net loss (gain) from fair value changes BRATHEGFABRZ CREE
of financial assets at fair value through NHEZE 2 FEE (W)
profit or loss 2,109 (5,172)
Decrease in fair value of investment properties % & ¥1% 2 A FER 8,843 =
Interest income FILEWA (4,536) (5,901)
Share-based payment expense PEcHE 2 (AT RRIA R 2 - 8,059
Share of results of joint ventures and associates JE{L & & (b5 M B (D45 (543) (312)
Operating cash flows before movements in LEECHPR CRERT
working capital WemE 613,303 1,670,814
Decrease in inventories FERD 412,013 250,968
Decrease in properties held for sale FEWERRD 42,831 70,861
Increase in properties under development BRAPYIZEIEM - (32,473)
(Increase) decrease in trade, bills and other EWE 5~ BB REMFRIE
receivables (g hn) R (56,906) 193,135
Increase in amounts due from M B s& 1~ B FRIAIE AN
related companies (2,378) (1,363)
Decrease in trade and other payables JERTE 5 R B At FRIER A (130,822) (129,836)
Decrease in contract liabilities SRBERD (9,539) (54,863)
(Decrease) increase in amounts due to FERTRAE A RIRIB ORI ) 1N
related companies (2,646) 795
Cash generated from operations REEIRANSIRE 865,856 1,968,038
Income tax paid EERE (109,360) (368,084)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& EKFAERSTE 756,496 1,599,954
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2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET FHTT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXEH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYWE  WENKEE (177,587) (418,636)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BEYE BERRBZEMNTR
plant and equipment (370,512) (192,479)
Payment for right-of-use assets BEGREEE (66,143) -
Addition to investment properties NEREME (9,212) =
Capital injection into an associate [ —fEB S IR E - (4,669)
Repayment from (advance to) an associate BEPEZERER) 3,736 (3,117)
Purchase of intangible asset HEEVEE - (380)
Repayment from joint ventures Bt 2 BN 3,244 1,502
Proceeds from disposal of property, BREME - WERZEEHIE
plant and equipment 356 1,983
(Payments for) proceeds from disposal of HERATEFABR EREE
financial assets at fair value through profitor  (FTf}) BT8R F5E
loss (2,109) 5172
Interest received BUFE 4,536 5,901
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXKFTABESEEE (613,691) (604,723)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BE XK
Dividends paid B E (181,500) (577,500)
Repayment of bank borrowings EBRITENR (909,396) (484,924)
Interest paid EAFLE (39,282) (38,498)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEaE (2,407) (2,599)
Bank borrowings raised BERITER 834,175 224,741
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES RiEX(BFARE FE (298,410) (878,780)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND BR&RBESZEYCRD) 1M
CASH EQUIVALENTS (155,605) 116,451
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FHNZRERBLEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 421,696 324,882
EFFECT OF CHANGES IN FOREIGN EXSH o HE
EXCHANGE RATE (2,425) (19,637)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FRZESRASEEY
OF THE YEAR, represented by bank BRITEBREE
balances and cash 263,666 421,696
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

GENERAL

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its ultimate controlling
party is Mr. Lee Man Yan, who is the chief executive officer and
executive director of the Company. The address of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed
in the section “Corporate Information” to the annual report.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi ("RMB"), while
the consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK dollars”) as the Company is listed in Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 39.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group's annual period beginning on
1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the October
2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements is
amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting
policies” with “material accounting policy information”. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may
be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However,
not all accounting policy information relating to material transactions,
other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to
disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples
are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on
the Group's financial positions and performance but has affected
the disclosure of the Group's accounting policies in the consolidated
financial statements.

107

2.

Annual Report 2023 F3

FE T ET KA MERT BB M SR 2 R
(TERPB/REER ) (&)

REFEREERNEETEBYBR
HER(E)

BBEE R E 1R BB EER
ERHEE 20 (15T K ) Eat BRI E

REBRAFEEEREAZETR - &
AR ENFIRBBRERZS - UIE
REABRER IRRAAI T ESHHK
RI—F - MEFTBREME—EER
PTG R P ) H M B R — BFE B
AREBEREerE —RAEVHBREK
ETRERBERBEZFWHERERAEH AR
T ISR BEREMBERK

ZFERATNES  SFRREHMAR
HEAXZHMEE - H b F e ki mE
EXR - IMESBATERK - A - W3k
FREREARS « Kb ekt AR
MEFRREMAGYBERX - HE®R
BERBEIFBEASTHRESN - AZF
BHTSREEAGHBREN -

ERVBREENEBREF2RIELE
2MHE (TEHRE ) TEERT - AR
BB BN A A ERERE]
RN HRRRBEALATHGERS
AR EMSEMBERERME 258
EX - BEHECHnESI RE

J& R % HHE R AN X R #7552 [ 49 B 551K
AMRBELEATE  BFEFAY
MR PTE R A SR B S SRR AV EE



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements?
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
all amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation to the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain properties and
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16 Leases,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets
("HKAS 36").

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant's ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value at the date of initial recognition or
measured at fair value at the date of transfer and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to measure
fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price or fair value at the date of transfer.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

«  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active

markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

«  Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

«  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Material accounting policy information

The material accounting policy information are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and entities controlled by the

Company and its subsidiaries.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses

and cash flows relating to transactions between members of

the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that

have joint control of the joint arrangement have rights to the
net assets of the joint arrangement.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. RRGEUBBRRNEERTEST
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY BER(#E)

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 EAEHBRER(E)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures used
for equity method purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, investments in associates or joint ventures are initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associates or joint ventures.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised
in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interest in the associate or joint venture that are not
related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the

right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ISR
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. RAGSUBBRNEERTEST
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY BUER(#E)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 EASHBERERE)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
The Group also applies the recognition exemption for lease of
low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-of-
use assets that meet the definition of inventory is presented
within “properties held for sale”.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. After the
commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
operating leases. Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date.

Assets and liabilities of the Group are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income (“OCI") and accumulated in equity
under the heading of “translation reserve”. Such exchange
differences accumulated in the translation reserve are not
reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowings that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in
the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate
on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as a deduction from the carrying amount of
the relevant asset in the consolidated statement of financial
position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and
rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets as
reduced deprecation expenses.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are reasonably certain to become receivable.
Government grants relating to compensation of expenses are
deducted from the related expenses, other government grants
are presented under “other income”.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
national statutory social security insurance scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Share-based payment arrangements
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to a director

Equity-settled share-based payments to a director are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity, under the heading of “share
options reserve”.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, and
interests in joint ventures and associates, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxes for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of investment properties are presumed to
be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale.

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group's
investment property portfolios and concluded that the
Group's investment properties are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, the directors
of the Company have determined that the presumption of
investment properties measured using the fair value model are
recovered entirely through sale is rebutted.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use
in the production of goods or for administrative purposes (other
than construction in progress) are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Properties, plant and equipment in the course of construction
for production or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
other than construction in progress less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/

or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease

income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the

period in which they arise.
Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment loss. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective

basis.

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment,

right-of-use assets and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in

order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the CGU
or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the CGU or the group of CGUs. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. RAGSUBBRNEERTEST

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a specific
identification basis including allocation of the related
development expenditure incurred and where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for the properties less estimated cost
to completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

«  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value through profit and loss “FVTPL".

0)

(i)

Bills receivable measured as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for
receivables measured as at FVTOCI as a result of interest
income calculated using the effective interest method
are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes in the
carrying amount of these receivables are recognised
in OCI and accumulated under the heading of FVTOCI
reserve. Impairment allowances are recognised in profit
or loss with corresponding adjustment to OCI without
reducing the carrying amounts of these receivables.
The amounts that are recognised in profit or loss
are the same as the amounts that would have been
recognised in profit or loss if these receivables had been
measured at amortised cost. When these receivables are
derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial assets measured at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. RAGSUBBRNEERTEST
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY BER(#E)
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 EASHBERERE)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(it)  Financial assets measured at FVTPL (Continued)

Financial assets measured at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the heading of “other gains and losses".

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on lease receivables and financial
assets (including trade and other receivables, bills receivable,
amounts due from joint ventures/an associate/related
companies and bank balances) and loan commitments
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments ("HKFRS 9"). The amount of ECL is updated at
the end of each reporting period to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and bills receivable.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL (“12m ECL"), unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

0)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Irrespective of the outcome of the assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii)

()

V)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised directly
in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, the loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Except for bills receivable measured at FVTOCI, the
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables, where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account. For bills receivable measured
at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in OCl and
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve without reducing
the carrying amount of these receivables. Such amount
represents the changes in the FVTOCI reserve in relation
to accumulated loss allowance.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. In addition, if the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
does not retain control over the transferred asset, the Group
derecognises the financial asset and recognises separately
as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations created or
retained in the transfer. If the Group retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of bills receivable measured at FVTOCI, the

cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the FVTOCI
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amounts
due to a joint venture/associate/related company and bank
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, the directors
of the Company are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

Derecognition of discounted or endorsed bills

The Group conducted certain bill discounting with several banks in
the PRC (the “Discounted Bills") and also endorsed certain bills to
its suppliers in order to settle trade payables due to these suppliers
(the “Endorsed Bills"). As stated in the material accounting policy
information in note 3.2, the Group derecognises a transferred
financial asset only when substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset has been transferred or if the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and does not retain control over the transferred asset.
The directors had made an assessment on whether to derecognise
the Discounted Bills and Endorsed Bills at the time of discounting
and endorsing respectively by applying the aforementioned
accounting policies, taking into consideration of credit and interest
rate risks of the related bills. In the opinion of the directors,
the Discounted Bills and Endorsed Bills meet the conditions of
derecognition in accordance with the Group's accounting policy
and therefore the Group derecognises the Discounted Bills and
Endorsed Bills at the time of discounting and endorsement
respectively, and assesses whether a separate asset or liability
should be recognised resulted from any rights and obligations
created or retained in the transfer.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Fair values of investment properties

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the Group's
investment properties was HK$217,582,000. The valuation of
investment properties was based on valuation on these properties
conducted by an independent professional valuer using property
valuation techniques which involve certain assumptions of market
conditions as disclosed in Note 16. Favourable or unfavourable
changes to these assumptions would result in changes in the
valuation of the Group's investment properties and corresponding
adjustments to the fair value changes reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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REVENUE WA

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers EFEHNWBADE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Caustic soda o 1,585,516 2,269,352
Chloromethane products FRizaty 887,382 1,509,527
Fluorochemical products I EM 201,559 202,483
Hydrogen peroxide BAELE 423,419 401,820
Liquified chlorine RILE 13,690 46,093
Polymers 29 FME 543,872 872,716
Styrene acrylic latex surface sizing agent RN B 85,990 73,184
Lithium-ion battery additives SR St A AN 12,818 41,687
Others Ht 226,673 355,817
Manufacture and sale of chemical products SEMEE TER 3,980,919 5,772,679
Sale of properties YIEHE 67,552 94,358
Revenue from contracts with customers EPEHBA 4,048,471 5,867,037
Rental income GiEEAL N 2,110 -
Total revenue WAEFT 4,050,581 5,867,037

All of the Group's revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised at a point in time and most of the revenue is derived
from the PRC. Rental income is recognised over time.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

5.

REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Performance obligations for contracts with customers

Manufacture and sale of chemical products with product
delivery services

The Group manufactures and sells chemical products directly to
customers. Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
been transferred, being when the goods have been shipped to the
customer's specified location (delivery). The normal credit term is
7 to 150 days upon delivery, except for those sales settled by bills
which mature within 180 days.

Sale of properties

For contracts entered into with customers for sale of properties,
the Group's performance does not create an asset with alternative
use to the Group. Taking into consideration of the relevant contract
terms, the legal environment and relevant legal precedent, the
management has concluded that the Group does not have an
enforceable right to payment prior to transfer of the relevant
properties to the customers. Revenue from sale of properties is
therefore recognised at a point in time when the customer obtained
control of the completed property, being at the point that the
completed properties are transferred to the customer.

The Group receives certain percentage of the contract value as
deposits from customers when they sign the sale and purchase
agreements and receives the remainder within 120 days from the
date of agreements. The deposits and advance payment schemes
result in contract liabilities being recognised throughout the property
construction period until the customer obtains control of the
completed property.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers

For both the manufacture and sale of chemical products
with product delivery services and the sale of properties, the
performance obligation is expected to be completed within one
year. As permitted under HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts as at 31 December 2023 is not disclosed.
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OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group manages its different businesses by their unique
attributes. In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, below describes the operations in each
of the Group's identified reportable operating segments as at 31
December 2023 and 2022:

«  Chemical: manufacture and sale of chemical products

«  Property: development and sale of properties, properties held
for rental, and supply of related properties services

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating
resources between segments, the Group’s most senior executive
management monitors the results attributable to each reportable
segment on the following bases.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to revenue directly generated by those segments
and the expenses directly incurred by those segments. Segment
results form the basis of measurement used for assessing segment
performance and represent profit or loss before other income, other
gains or losses, finance costs, net exchange (loss) gain, share of
results of joint ventures and associates, income tax and items not
specifically attributed to individual reportable segments, such as
unallocated head office and corporate expenses.

Assets and liabilities are centrally-managed and assessed by
the Group’s most senior executive management. No segment
information on assets and liabilities is therefore presented.

For “chemical” operations, the information reported to the Group's
most senior executive management is further categorised into
different locations within the PRC, each of which is considered as a
separate operating segment by the Group’s most senior executive
management. For segment reporting, these individual operating
segments have been aggregated into a single reportable segment as
they share similar economic characteristics. For “property” operation,
no operating segment has been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segment.

Segment information below is presented in a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally to the
Group's most senior executive management for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. RENT(E)
(a) Segment revenues and results (a) AWBARRE
For the year ended 31 December 2023 EZ2023F 12731 HILFE
Chemical Property Consolidated
ftT L/ ®me
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET FET
Revenue from external customers  2RESNEERF Z YA 3,980,919 69,662 4,050,581
Segment results DEPEAE 522,112 4,522 526,634
Unallocated head office and RO BARIREEE
corporate expenses EDEEE] (53,347)
Other income HABA 79,946
Other gains and losses Hbias BB (13,619)
Finance costs BhE A (39,282)
Net exchange loss bE 5 F EsiE (6,977)
Share of results of joint ventures JEIG & E I R E
and associates Ed 543
Profit before taxation FR A% AR A 493,898
For the year ended 31 December 2022 B F2022F12A31 HILFE
Chemical Property  Consolidated
ftT IES fre
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHTT T
Revenue from external customers 2R EIMEEF Z WA 5,772,679 94,358 5,867,037
Segment results DELELE 1,608,680 (166,318) 1,442,362
Unallocated head office and RO AR R E
corporate expenses ERF8E (54,123)
Other income E A 66,853
Other gains and losses H Uk & Eia 2,385
Finance costs BB A (38,657)
Net exchange loss b 5 FE1E (21,013)
Share of results of joint ventures e R RS
and associates A 312
Profit before tax FREE RT3 A 1,398,119
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6.

OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(0

(d)

Geographical information

The Group's operations of the two segments are both located
in the PRC. Most of the Group’s revenue from external
customers is derived from the PRC and most of the Group's
non-current assets are located in the PRC for both years.
Revenue from major customers

None of the corresponding revenue from customers contribute
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Other segment information

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss:
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REDE(E)

(b)

()

(d)

tEE R

ZA S oY PR E S SlvE NS
- EEMEFE - BARMDKE
SMERER P 2 W ATIR B H B R A X
B0 2 IERBEEBMRFE

REXEFFHNE
HZE2023F12A31H 1FK2022%F
A8 IEFE @ BEXFHA
FEW S AREEERSERBS
10% °

HthpEHER

FFADEEEA BN

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 2023F 1231 HIFFE
Chemical Property
T LES
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET
Depreciation e 57,033 4,622
Amortisation 5y 2,724 -
Write-down on inventories FEZRE 7,203 -
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BZ2022F 12531 HILFE
Chemical Property
T ES
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FHETT
Depreciation e 69,381 4,627
Amortisation 3| 2,893 =
Write-down on property held for sale HEVEZRE = 157,676
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

7.

OTHER INCOME 7. HfblgA
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHETT
Bank interest income RITHB WA 4,048 5,287
Interest income from a joint venture BERRIZHBERA 488 614
Government grants TR T 478 B 64,660 45,446
Scrap sales BEmm i A 1,278 6,251
Electricity and steam income B RERBA 5,085 4,667
Rental income He A 3,032 2,873
Others Ef 1,355 1,715
79,946 66,853
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HiKmRER
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Net fair value changes of financial assets at BRATHEF ARG CREE
fair value through profit or loss N EZEFE (2,109) 5172
Loss on disposal of property, plant and BREYX - WFEMREHEX
equipment (2,667) (2,787)
Decrease in fair value of investment properties & ¥13% 2 A AR (8,843) =
(13,619) 2,385
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE FriSdi &z i
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FHET
The charge comprises: X HEE
Current tax NERTR IR
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") HR B ZEATIS AR 80,294 211,366
PRC Land Appreciation Tax ("LAT") R 3B (E R 5,101 11,150
PRC withholding tax on dividend income A AR BRI A TR 39,577 43,279
Hong Kong Profits Tax FEMFH 538 1,458
Overprovision in prior years — EIT AR E SR —hBERMEHR (2,644) (21,872)
Deferred tax — current year BIERIA — N FERET IR (29,633) (4,037)
93,233 241,344

The Group’s major business is in the PRC. Under the Law of
the PRC on EIT and its Implementation Regulation, the Group's
subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to corporate income tax at the
rate of 25% (2022: 25%) except that four (2022: four) of these
subsidiaries are entitled to a favourable EIT rate of 15% (2022:
15%) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has
been levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, represented by the excess of sale
proceeds of properties over prescribed direct costs. Prescribed direct
costs are defined to include costs of land use rights, development
and construction costs, as well as certain costs relating to the
property development. According to the State Administration of
Taxation’s official circulars, LAT shall be payable provisionally upon
sale of the properties, followed by final ascertainment of the gain at
the completion of the properties development.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated

assessable profits for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e HRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

According to Cai Shui 2008 No.1 published by the State
Administration of Taxation (“SAT"), dividend distributed out of the
profits generated since 1 January 2008 by a PRC entity to a non-
PRC resident shall be subject to the PRC EIT pursuant to Articles
3 and 27 of the Income Tax Law Concerning Foreign Investment
Enterprises and Foreign Enterprises and Article 91 of the Detailed
Rules for Implementation of the Income Tax Law for Enterprises
with Foreign Investment and Foreign Enterprises. Under the Double
Taxation Arrangement between Hong Kong and the Mainland China,
the withholding tax rate applicable to the Group is 5%.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

FREB (&)

BERRFGHER((ERHRELER]) T
Bt 7 B R 7200855 198 3014+ - B 20084F
1TA1RR  FREEEEMEENGF
FREFREBEFERSBRS @ BRE
IR E R ERMINE S EERASEINR
27E LA RSNERE B EFINE S EFTS
FAEmAAAISE ZE 2 3 T8+ Bt
EHEH - REFEFHEAHAE R
SEERFEORTE - AEEBANTENH
K550 o

FARERX GG Ra REBEEE
SRR AT AMESRRINT

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FiET
Profit before taxation BRE R A 493,898 1,398,119
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% R E M FTEFE R 250051 & 2 Fi 18
(2022: 25%) (20224 : 25%) 123,474 349,530
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures ~ FE{EA &b EMBE D EELE
and associates 2B E (136) (78)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible in T FE AR AR N AT 077 2 H
determining taxable profit e 16,035 23,250
Tax effect of income not taxable in determining 7 & & "R Bt i FII B TH 7B FE AR R U
taxable profit 2B (4,852) (2,829)
Effect of concessionary rate granted to PRC MEAREEEREZZE
subsidiaries (74,471) (184,697)
Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries HihREmMEER 2 &
operating in other jurisdictions (616) (1,068)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences  RIER ARG FIE =R 2 575
not recognised 2 21,288 39,419
Overprovision in respect of prior years RIS E %R (2,644) (21,872)
Withholding tax on dividend income RIS A RRE & F 2 FEHIF 10,054 28,539
Land Appreciation Tax T b ER 5,101 11,150
Income tax expense for the year FRFTFIH S H 93,233 241,344
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

Annual Report 2023 F3

9. FIEHXH(E)

AT B E AR T

2023 2022
HK$000 HK$'000
FTET T
Deferred tax assets FREFRIAE 19,908 20,647
Deferred tax liabilities EIETRIBEAE (27,710) (58,178)
(7,802) (37,531)
The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets UTAEXZELEHE(BE EERFEA
recognised and movement thereon during the current and prior Ko £ BRI R S D -
reporting period:
Accelerated
Withholding tax Right-of-use
tax depreciation assets Others Total
BB NBERENE GAREE Hitr CE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET
(Note (i) (Note (i) (Note (i)
(Hizt() (Hrzt (i) (Hizt (i)
At 1 January 2022 1202261818 (56,032) ~ 23372 (9,844) (42,504)
Credited (charged) to profit or loss & A (F08) &8 & 14,740 (18,295) (547) 8,139 4,037
Exchange realignment B 5 BE 2,402 - (2,178) 712 936
At 31 December 2022 R2022412A318 (38,890) (18295) 20,647 (993) (37,531)
Credited (charged) to profitor loss 3T A (F1fR ) EiE2 29,524 48 (519) 580 29,633
Exchange realignment IS 112 198 (220 6 9%
At 31 December 2023 720235128318 (9,254) (18,049) 19,908 (407) (7,802)
Notes: Bt -
(i) Atthe end of the reporting period, the Group had retained profits of certain PRC ) RBEHR AEB2ETFHRANBAR

(i)

i)

subsidiaries amounting to HK$1,509,845,000 (2022: HK$2,087,786,000).
Deferred tax liabilities have been recognised in respect of HK$185,076,000
(2022: HK$777,778,000) of such accumulated profits. No deferred tax liabilities
has been recognised in respect of the remaining HK$1,324,769,000 (2022:
HK$1,310,008,000) of such retained profits as it is the intention of the Directors
of the Group to retain certain earnings within these subsidiaries.

This related to the temporary differences arising from right-of-use assets
acquired. In prior years, the Group received government grants relating to
acquisitions of land use rights, which have been presented by deducting the
grants in arriving at the carrying amounts of the leasehold land. The grants were
recognised in profit or loss over the useful lives of the relevant assets as reduced
depreciation charges.

This is the deferred tax derived from the cumulative fair value gains before the
development of the relevant land of the property project in previous years, and it
is expected to be credited to profit or loss when the properties held for sale are
sold or written-down.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

10. FREF

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Profit for the year has been arrived at after FRHEMENRGTA)

charging (crediting):

Directors’ emoluments (Note 13) EEEHM(IE13) 17,629 33,479
Other staff costs (excluding directors): EAth B TAA(FESBRIN) -

Salaries and other benefits e MEMmBEF 328,430 373,158

Retirement benefit schemes contributions RIKERET 2R 18,968 19,552
Total staff costs B TR AR 365,027 426,189
Capitalised in inventories EFtATFEZERE (212,228) (241,350)

152,799 184,839

Finance costs: BB -
Interest on bank borrowings RITERZF B 39,224 38,498
Lease liabilities HERE 58 159
39,282 38,657

Auditors' remuneration LGN

— Audit services — &t AR 2,020 1,685

— Non-audit services — kTR 460 830
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses EHRAAXLENFERN(BEFE

(including write-down of inventories of ZIRME7,203,000/8 7T (20224 :

HK$7,203,000 (2022: write-down of B 2 RE 157,676,000 T

properties held for sale of HK$157,676,000  (K4/4t)))

(Note))) 2,988,410 3743496
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - B REE 2 ITE 389,580 395,968
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEZITE 6,640 5,892
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE B 2,724 2,893
Total depreciation and amortisation FrEREHEaE 398,944 404,753
Capitalised in inventories EFtATFEZSHE (334,564) (327,852)

64,380 76,901
Gross rental income from investment REMENEESWA
properties (2,110) -
Less: direct operating expenses incurred for B BFEERSBWANKRE
investment properties that generate TR EE A
rental income during the year =3 1,254 -
(856) -

Note: The write-down of properties held for sale was related to a commercial building
and its ancillary facilities considering the real estate market condition in the PRC

in 2022.

Bt -

8 -
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12.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earings per share is based on the profit
for the year of HK$400,665,000 (2022: HK$1,156,775,000) and
825,000,000 (2022: 825,000,000) shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit
for the year and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue after adjusting for the potential dilutive effect caused by the
share options granted under the share option scheme.
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11. EREF

EREABATIRARAREEAZF
A % # 400,665,000 & 7T ( 2022 £ :
1,156,775,000 % 7T ) & B 8 17 R &
825,000,000 % (2022 4F : 825,000,000
BOIERTHE -

FREERNGFHEIRIEARBBRIRE
B M & B BT IR 19 B AR AR B
B RBBRAER 8IR L BT
REBERE Y BF LA -

Number of shares BRE
2023 2022
‘000 ‘000
TR FAR
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ SLEtEEREARBFINE 2
for the purpose of basic earnings per share E RN T8 825,000 825,000
Effect of deemed issue of shares under the RIEAR R R EARES 2
Company's share option scheme WRIERD BTN T E 13,289 35,825
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ~ FistESREERFME 2
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share & @I INEFHE 838,289 860,825
DIVIDENDS 12. |2
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Dividends recognised as distributions during ~ FREER DR ZIZE.
the year:
Final dividend of HK32 cents per share for BZE2021F12A31HIEFERE
the year ended 31 December 2021 R EEAR32781L - 264,000
Interim dividend of HK38 cents per share for ~ #Z20228 128318 |FFEHHf
the year ended 31 December 2022 R EEAR38HE - 313,500
Final dividend of HK17 cents per share for HE2022F12A31 B ILFERHA
the year ended 31 December 2022 A& S BAR1 784 140,250 -
Interim dividend of HK5 cents per share for BE2023F 12 A3 1B IEFEHH
the year ended 31 December 2023 ResEsT G Al 41,250 =
181,500 577,500

A final dividend of HK14 cents (2022: HK17 cents) per share
amounting to HK$115,500,000 (2022: HK$140,250,000) in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 has been proposed
by the directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders in
the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’' EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executives' emoluments for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, are as follows:

13. EERETRITBAEEHMH

EERFETHRABREFE ZHMR
BE A ET R R REB R ARG EE 0
T

Contributions

Salaries  to retirement Discretionary

and other benefit bonus
Fees benefits schemes payments Total

#ER BIRERN B
ik EftER HE gEXM ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER THR TERL TERL

(Note)

(Hrit)

Year ended 31 December 2023 BE2023F12A31 B LFE

Ms. Wai Siu Kee foBLL 960 1,200 - 4,007 6,167
Mr. Lee Man Yan (“Mr. Lee")* ENRRE(FREN 3,000 1,199 - - 4,199
Mr. Yang Zuo Ning BEERE 600 1,051 1 - 1,652
Professor Chan Albert Sun Chi i B R A Pt - 4,996 - - 4,996
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron 885 /» Hh T Eapst Tar 180 - - - 180
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony* IRREE 105 - - - 105
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei MxR@xE 180 - - - 180
Mr. Wong King Wai Kirk* TRGEREM 150 - - - 150
5175 8,446 1 4,007 17,629
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' EMOLUMENTS

13. EERFETHRAEHFME)

Annual Report 2023 F3

(CONTINUED)
Contributions Share-based
Salaries  to retirement  Discretionary  performance
and other benefit bonus related
Fees benefits schemes payments incentive Total
Hek  REN kg ERRip
B EbRA BN REXN BRERRRE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TARL TAR
(Note) ~ (Note 33)
(Wit)  (Wi33)
Year ended 31 December 2022 HZ202512A31ALFE
Ms. Wai Siu Kee (1 960 1,200 - 11,568 - 13,728
Mr. Lee Man Yan (“Mr, Lee")* ENRRE(EREN 3,000 1,264 - - 8,059 12,323
Mr. Yang Zuo Ning BiEERE 600 1,242 14 - - 1,856
Professor Chan Albert Sun Chip BT R« 7o+ = 5,032 = = = 5,032
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron 885 /» Fl it epst Tat 180 - - - - 180
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony TRREE 180 - - - - 180
Mr. Heng Victor Ja Wei PT ik 180 - - - - 180
5100 8,738 14 11,568 8,059 33,479
° Mr. Lee is also the chief executive officer of the Company. ! FRERBTRAARZBFMITE ©

* Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony resigned on 2 August 2023.

** M. Wong King Wai Kirk was appointed on 1 March 2023.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly
for their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as

directors of the Company.

Note: Other performance related incentive payments were determined with regards to

individual performance. None of the directors waived any emoluments in both

years.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

14. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Of the five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year,
four (2022: four) were directors of the Company, details of whose
remuneration are set out in Note 13. Details of the remuneration for
the year of the remaining one (2022: one) highest paid employee
who is neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as

14.

BELERSHMAL

FN - AEBRAETRSFHTMALF @ 45
(2022%F 1 4R) BARNRIESES - Efi&
HEHRHEIZ - R N1 BReEHE
B (2022%F : 18) BRIFERRRESF KT
BB, - EFFFHBHOT -

follows:
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FATT
Salaries and other benefits e MEMmEF 1,522 1,425
Their remuneration fell within the following bands: HEHMRATEE :
2023 2022
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A AEX
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 HK$1,000,001ZHK$1,500,000 - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 HK$1,500,001ZHK$2,000,000 1 -

No compensation was paid to the above individuals and directors
during the current year and prior year for the loss of office or as an
inducement or upon joining the Company.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. Y% - BEKRZRE

Annual Report 2023 F3

Buildings Furniture,
and leasehold fixtures and Motor Plantand  Construction
improvements  equipment vehicles  machinery in progress Total
BFREE B
NEEE  RERRHE RE EREREE EEBIR ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT Thx ThT TAT TAT
cosT A
At 1 January 2022 R202251818 747,942 59,900 20869 6,400,253 558646 7,787,610
Additions e - 4,256 2421 65,851 475,684 548212
Disposals e - (159) (3,540) (12,308) - (16,007)
Transfer =R 25,165 69 - 142294 (167,528) -
Transfer from properties held ~ E&&EMEEA
for sale (Note 38) (Hi3#38) 34,866 - - - - 34,866
Exchange realignment B 5 A% (74,745) (5,807) (1,879) (613,343) (60226)  (756,000)
At 31 December 2022 R2022512A318 733,228 58,259 17871 598,747 806576 7,598,681
Additions e 112 9,287 1,488 58818 362,921 432,626
Disposals & - (176) (1474) (7,937) - (9,587)
Transfer g% 29,595 1239 - 211611 (242,445) =
Transfer to investment EEREAME
properties (Note 16) (Hi#i6) (31,868) = = = = (31,868)
Exchange realignment B i 3 (9365) (1,018) (235) (74,458) (2,535) (87,611)
At 31 December 2023 #2023E12A318 721,702 67,591 17650 6,170,781 924517 7,902,241
DEPRECIATION il
At 1 January 2022 #202F1418 189,685 39473 15,360 2,501,988 - 2,746,506
Provided for the year BENE 36926 6,138 1678 351,226 - 395,968
Elimination on disposal L ERHE - (138) (3,162) (7937) - (11,237)
Exchange realignment B i 5 (19,920) (4062) (1334) (254,983) - (280,299)
At 31 December 2022 R2022812A318 206,691 41411 12542 2,590,294 - 2850938
Provided for the year BERE 35470 5,687 1415 347,008 - 389,580
Elimination on disposal L EREH - (152) (1327) (5,085) = (6,564)
Elimination on transfer BRRYH (1,792) ~ ~ - - (1792)
Exchange realignment A (2815) (535) (148) (33,316) - (36,314)
At 31 December 2023 #2023512A318 237,554 46,411 12,482 2,898,901 - 3195348
CARRYING AMOUNT i
At 31 December 2023 #2023512A318 484,148 21,180 5168 3,271,880 924517 4,706,893
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12A318 526,537 16,848 5329 3392453 806576 4,747,743
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment except for
construction in progress, and after taking into account the residual
values, are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates
per annum:

Buildings and leasehold improvements 5%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Plant and machinery 5%—20%
As at 31 December 2023, the Group's leasehold land and
buildings represent buildings in the PRC and leasehold land and
building located in Hong Kong amounting to HK$479,894,000 and
HK$4,255,000 (2022: HK$521,941,000 and HK$4,596,000),
respectively.

15. Y% - BMERREBE)

Hitx BEREEHRBEREZTR
SN E BRIBMEBERTIAB X T
FRFE -

BFRASYELRE 5%
R - KB REE 20%
B 20%
RS Fe i B 50%—20%

R2023F 12 A31H ' A"EEMHME
ETHEEFRRURFS HMHIE
FOUREEANEHEIHWREREFSH
B & 479,894,000 & 7T & 4,255,000
7 7T (2022 % : 521,941,000 7 7T &
4,596,000/ 7T) °

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. REWZE
HK$'000
FHT
FAIR VALUE DNFE
At 1 January 2022 M202261HA1H -
Transfer from properties held for sale HRFEME 187,778
At 31 December 2022 F2022F12A831H 187,778
Addition NE 9,212
Transfer from property, plant and equipment EEYE - BEREE 31,868
Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss FrABRZ AFERD (8,843)
Exchange realignment bE 3 A (2,433)
At 31 December 2023 7120235128318 217,582
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The Group leases out the commercial building and carpark building
for generating rental income. The leases typically run for an initial
period of 5 years for the commercial building and 2 years for the
carpark building.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currency of the group entity. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase
the property at the end of lease term.

The fair value of the Group's investment properties at the date of
transfer from property, plant and equipment (2022: date of transfer
from properties held for sale) and as at 31 December 2023
(2022: 31 December 2022) have been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on those respective dates by Messrs Cushman
& Wakefield Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer
not connected to the Group (the “Valuer"). The fair value of
investment properties at the date of transfer from property, plant
and equipment (2022: date of transfer from properties held for
sale) and as at 31 December 2023 (2022: 31 December 2022)
were derived using the income capitalisation method and by
adopting appropriate capitalisation rates after the current rental and
the market rents potential of tenancies.

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, the Group
engages the Valuer to perform the valuation. The management of
the Group works closely with the Valuer to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use
of the properties is their current use.
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16. REYHE(E)
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MHBERE R FABAREEHR
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KEBREYE BEEREBAE
H(2022%F : BEFEWEEAEZER) R
2023F 12 431 H (20224 : 2022412
A31B) 2 EMFE 2 A FEHERSE
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the
valuation techniques and inputs used) at the date of transfer
from property, plant and equipment (2022: date of transfer from

16.

REME(E)

TR ZEREVERBEWE - K
ERREBEAEH (022 : AEFEY
¥EAEH)KR2023F 12831 H (2022
F2022F12A318) A FEZEEA

properties held for sale) and as at 31 December 2023 (2022: 31

ELERBEDERAERZE) -

December 2022).
Relationship of
Significant unobservable unobservable inputs
Valuation technique  inputs to fair value
FABERARIBEATE
fHERE BERFAHESH ZE#%
Commercial units, Income capitalisation Market rents, taking into account  The higher the market rents,

comprising the shops,  method
apartments, offices  WAERILE
and carparks, located
in Changshu, the PRC
REE AR EEH
HefEmds R
B PRERFE
%

the differences in location,

and individual factors, such as
frontage and size, between the
comparables and the properties,
which ranged from RMB23 to
RMB46 (2022: from RMB20 to
RMB45) per square metre per
month and RMB212 per car
parking space per month.

mEHe  EEIIVENZR

LA K2 AT Lt 2 B 3 2 R O P
EMEESENRE N TE
FHKFAARE23Z467T

(2022 : AR¥20ZE457T)
kEEEMTAARE212T

T o

Reversionary yields, taking into

account the capitalisation of
rental income potential, nature
of the properties, and prevailing
market condition, of 4.5%—
5.5% (2022: 4.5% to 5.5%).

ERbEX  ZEIIESWAE

The fair value measurement is categorised into Level 3 fair value

hierarchy.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

EEES - MENEEME
AT TSR N T4.5%=
5.5% (20224 :4.5%-5.5%) °
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the higher the fair value.
mEHelE @ ATFERS -

The higher the reversionary
yields, the lower the fair
value.

EREREEYS - AT ER
& -

NHEFESBERATHESRZFE=/R

FAMEE = ROBALEL -



17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Annual Report 2023 &1

17. FREEE

Office
properties
Leasehold and
land dormitory Total
MAEYE
HE Lt kES &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHAT FAT
(Note)
(Hi7E)
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1A1H 148,772 4,280 153,052
Addition NE = 910 910
Depreciation e (3,445) (2,447) (5,892)
Exchange realignment P H % (13,859) (362) (14,221)
At 31 December 2022 PR2022412A31H 131,468 2,381 133,849
Addition NE 66,143 7,078 73,221
Depreciation e (4,318) (2,322) (6,640)
Exchange realignment & H (4,307) 9 (4,298)
At 31 December 2023 72023512H31H 188,986 7,146 196,132
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
Expense relating to short-term leases REHESER 144 205
Total cash outflow for leases MEBR M85 68,752 2,804

Note: In prior years, the Group received government subsidies relating to acquisitions
of land use rights, which have been presented by deducting the subsidies in
arriving at the carrying amounts of the leasehold lands. As at 31 December
2023, the government grants amounting to HK$108,037,000 (2022:
HK$112,028,000) remained to be recognised in profit or loss over the lease
terms as reduced depreciation expenses.

For both years, the Group leases office properties and dormitory
from Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited and its subsidiaries
(the “LMP Group") for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of three years. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for all
leasehold lands.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$7,148,000 are recognised with
related right-of-use assets of HK$7,146,000 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: lease liabilities of HK$2,469,000 and related right-
of-use assets of HK$2,381,000). The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

17.

EREEE(E)
5 RO PR A 22 5

AN - R2023F 12 A31H  HEA
& 7,148,000 T Al E FERAF A #E &
EE7,146,000/8 7L (20224 : HE A E
2,469,000 T I EHRF A& E
2,381,000/8 70 ) &K B R - HEWZER
HHEAFENHEEEEFR KT ERIN
THENEMRE - HEEETSRES
EER -

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. B EE
Technical
knowhow Software Total
140 R Bt a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
COST R
At 1 January 2022 MR2022F1 818 123,394 207 123,601
Addition NE - 380 380
Exchange realignment b A (11,654) (55) (11,709)
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12H831H 111,740 532 112,272
Exchange realignment HE 5 B (1,228) 6) (1,234)
At 31 December 2023 7M2023F12831H 110,512 526 111,038
AMORTISATION ey
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1A1H 24,144 158 24,302
Provided for the year B F 2,793 100 2,893
Exchange realignment HE 5, 2 (2,434) (20) (2,454)
At 31 December 2022 R2022%F12H31H 24,503 238 24,741
Provided for the year & F Y 2,649 75 2,724
Exchange realignment B 5, R 2 (308) (4) (312)
At 31 December 2023 72023F12831H 26,844 309 27,153
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 31 December 2023 7M2023F12831H 83,668 217 83,885
At 31 December 2022 202212 H31H 87,237 294 87,531

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such intangible
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the following

periods:

Technical knowhow
Software

10 to 39 years
5 years
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES BELE I ER

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHTT
Cost of unlisted investments in joint ventures  3E_F & &b ¥ 2 IR ERAR 125,166 125,166
Exchange realignment b H % (12,608) (11,990)

Share of loss and other comprehensive FEEREREMPES H
expense (13,778) (14,522)
98,780 98,654

Details of each of the Group's joint ventures at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

BEREHR  ~KEREBHAELE

HFFIEESIANT -

Proportion
of ownership
Place of establishment/ Class of interest held Principal
Name of entity incorporation shares held by the Group activity
FRRE rEEBEEEN
EREE R 2 B ERTRAMREERLA TEEK
2023 2022
FARBEERARAA PRC Registered capital 40% 40%  Provision of port
(Note fifit) F AR facilities
REED LS
Southern Hill Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 50% 50%  Investment holding
HEFRAT B il RERR

Note: The Group is able to exercise joint control over the relevant activities of this
entity, as the major decisions regarding the relevant activities of this entity
require unanimous consent of their respective shareholders according to the
shareholders agreements.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VIS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in the

consolidated financial statements.

Summarised financial information of the major joint venture is as

follows:

SRR ER(E)

ABOETEOE AGA BTERS -

BREEZAECEIHHERMT

Southern Hill Company
Limited and its subsidiary

HEERAGARENEAT

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FBT

Current assets MBEE 13,230 8,280
Non-current assets ERBEE 212,513 218,717
Current liabilities mENE R (262) (1,296)
Non-current liabilities FERBALE (63,909) (63,355)

The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:

NEBEENBBESBEBENAT :

Southern Hill Company
Limited and its subsidiary

MEFRARRAEKEQRE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEFEBY 12,880 7,846
Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade  JERENM B EE(TRIE
and other payables and provisions) JERE 5 M H A IR
NBE) (63,909) (63,355)
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 19. SEOESHERE)
Southern Hill Company
Limited and its subsidiary
HEARABDRENBELRE
2023 2022
HK$000 HK$'000
FTHET FHETT
Revenue LUN 8,921 9,432
Profit (loss) for the year FRE A (E518) 62 (53)
Other comprehensive expense for FAEMEES
the year (836) (19,316)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FAREX L (774) (19,369)
The above profit (loss) for the year includes the following: Tt E R (ER)BIET
Southern Hill Company
Limited and its subsidiary
MEERABDRAKNELRE
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET THETT
Depreciation and amortisation T Rk (5,217) (5,531)
Interest income FLEHA 111 216
Interest expense e (1,932) (2,380)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to U FrEEEESRATIREMB AT Y
the carrying amount of the interest in Southern Hill Company RSB S BN ISR A S A B
Limited and its subsidiary recognised in the consolidated financial RHx 7 YR -
statements:
Southern Hill Company
Limited and its subsidiary
HEARQABDRENBELAE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T
Net assets FEE 161,572 162,346
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest —~ AEEEH 2 HEEI N 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest AEEREZFREERE 80,786 81,173
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

21.

20. BEDE R

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET FHETT

Cost of unlisted investment in associates FETE R IRERAR 25,796 25,796
Exchange realignment bEE 5 R (1,025) (776)
Share of loss and other comprehensive expense FE{f E518 K Eth 2 2 (883) (682)
23,888 24,338

Details of the Group's associates at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

BEAGEHN  AEEBELEY
SEERHDT -

Proportion of

Place of Class of ownership interest
Name of entity establishment shares held held by the Group Principal activity
Rz FEEAIEH
BRER FRAL it B ki - £53s40]) TEXK
2023 2022
mEMEEANERAR  PRC Registered 49% 49%  Sale of steam, construction
i capital and maintenance of steam
AR pipelines, sale of heat-supply
equipment and appliance
HERR  BENEEER
BB HERHERNZ
B EE Y
ITEBMREHRBRAR  PRC Registered 28% 28%  Research and product
H capital development
Eallig=%N e R E R

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) JOINT VENTURES/AN
ASSOCIATE

As at 31 December 2023, the amount due from a joint venture
amounting to HK$11,085,000 (2022: HK$14,197,000) represented
the loan to F AR B E X B QA As at 31 December 2023,
the amount was unsecured, interest-bearing and repayable in
October 2024. The loan agreement was renewed in 2023. As at
31 December 2022, the loan was unsecured, interest-bearing and
repayable in October 2023.

The remaining amounts due from (to) a joint venture and the
amount due from an associate are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 41.
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7M2023F 128318 * 411,085,000
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22.

23.

24.
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GOODWILL 22. HE
HK$'000
FET
COST AND CARRYING VALUES RAREREE
At 1 January 2022 ®202261A1H 2,896
Exchange realignment b SR E 274)
At 31 December 2022 2022412318 2,622
Exchange realignment M 3, B (29)
At 31 December 2023 RM2023512A318 2,593
INVENTORIES 23. 78
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET THEIT
Raw materials and consumables AR K FER 531,468 521,950
Work in progress & m 41,057 47,226
Finished goods SR ah 215,224 274,961
787,749 844,137
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 24. FEWE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Properties for sale FEWE 23,806 64,950

The properties held for sale are located in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of leasehold land
included in properties held for sale was HK$2,614,000 (2022:
HK$6,776,000). The carrying amount of leasehold land is measured
at cost less any accumulated depreciation. The residual values are
determined as the estimated disposal values of the leasehold land
component. No depreciation charge is made on the leasehold
lands taking into account the estimated residual values as at 31
December 2023 and 2022.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

25. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group allows its trade customers a credit period ranged from 7

to 150 days.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables and bills receivable based
on invoice date/the date of revenue recognition at the end of the

25. BEWES @ REREMRIE

AEE-—RETESFEFPZHEHRTE
150K °

RBEHR - BEE SRR EERER
WEZERHY AR BB ZRE AT

reporting period is as follows: R

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Not exceeding 30 days TEEB30K 112,991 111,019
31-60 days 31E60K 31,498 7,450
61-90 days 61Z290K 11,728 4,627
91-120 days 91E 120K 13,587 2,221
Over 120 days BB 120K 20,049 4,113
Trade receivables at amortised cost RN E ZERR - HREE SRR 189,853 129,430
Not exceeding 30 days AN EHEEIFN 52,405 61,538
31-60 days 31E260K 35,303 9,745
61-90 days 61290k 2,467 3,313
91-120 days 91E 120K 3,050 2,810
Over 120 days FB3E 120K 995 5,732

Bills receivable at FVTOCI EWEE - FBATFEFAEMERE
Yezs 94,220 83,138
Prepayments and deposits to suppliers ENFERMNEERT 88,716 85,348
Value-added tax receivables FEYBUEETEIE 22,578 28,855
Other receivables H b e W F A 12,863 11,621
Total trade, bills and other receivables EBRE S  ZEREMFIBER 408,230 338,392

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality by investigating its historical
credit record and then defines its credit limit. Trade receivables that
are neither past due nor impaired are considered to be recovered

REREMHFEFH  AEEEBHE
BEPZBREEEREIEEBEEEY
EVYRERAEHEERE - WATEA
RREMEEN AR REBHIMERE

based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
At 31 December 2023, trade receivables (excluding bills receivable)

of HK$29,981,000 (2022: HK$16,682,000) was past due. The
Group does not hold any collateral over the overdue balance.
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25.

26.

217.

TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group endorsed
bills to suppliers to settle the accounts payable of same amounts
and discounted bills to banks. As at 31 December 2023, the
amounts of immature endorsed bills and discounted bills were
HK$389,126,000 (2022: HK$650,822,000) and HK$510,315,000
(2022: HK$617,085,000), respectively. In accordance to the
relevant laws in the PRC, the holders of the relevant bills have a
right of recourse against the Group if the issuing banks default
payment. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the
Group's obligations relating to the recourse are insignificant.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 41.

25.
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EWES  RERHEMREAGE)

HE2023F12A31HIEEERN - A&
EEmREEESEZRAEERBIE
ERFAMIRITREIR IR © 7A2023F 12
A318  RIHBEZBERUBRES
%5 Bl 389,126,000 JT (2022 4 :
650,822,000/ 7t ) & 510,315,000/ 7T
(20224 : 617,085,000/ 7C) ° BIEF
EMARERE  MERZRITELD - 18HE
EBERFBAERATEEER - £FR
& AEEEEREHEE TN A TEL
TERK °

ERHEF BRI KT -

AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED COMPANIES 26. FEUR(FE(T)BIE A RKE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Amounts due from the LMP Group YR SGEAREE 15,268 12,411
Amount due to the LMP Group FERIESGEREE (8,551) (10,861)

Note: The LMP Group is beneficially owned and controlled by Mr. Lee's family
member. The amounts represents a trade balance which is unsecured, interest-
free bearing and aged within 90 days.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 41.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and short
term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.
The deposits carry prevailing market interest rates which range up to

5.4% (2022: 4.3%) per annum.

Details of impairment assessment on bank balances are set out in
Note 41.
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28.

Trade and other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding
for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The credit period obtained
for trade purchases is 7 to 45 days.

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date at
the end of the reporting period is as follows:

BN EZ K EMRE

ENESREMREFEREESBEE
DEFEBERSNAZANRIE - EZEE
ZIRERER AT EA5K -

BNESEFNREPRRZBEEZAZE
BT :

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHTT
Not exceeding 30 days TEEB30K 88,893 116,709
31-60 days 31E260K 28,398 24,610
61-90 days 61Z290K 6,846 14,327
Over 90 days 90K 34,696 28,165
Trade payables FERTE SZERH 158,833 183,811
Construction costs payable and accruals FERT T2 RIERTEIRE A 129,550 165,754
Other payables HAb eI 90,474 115,749
Value-added tax accruals TatRIRERIA 658 7771
Other accruals EmFERRER 28,727 49,851
Total trade and other payables JERE 5 MEMFIAS G 408,242 522,936
Analysed for reporting purposes as: ESREDITRE ¢
Non-current liabilities FERBBE 24,897 30,415
Current liabilities mENEE 383,345 492,521
408,242 522,936

As at 31 December 2023, the balance of other payables included
a non-current deferred income, amounting to HK$19,061,000
(2022: HK$27,304,000), received from the PRC government for an
innovative technology project. The amounts will be utilised to the
relevant research and development expenses.

R2023F 128318 - WEL T A B BT
4T 2 BRI IE B £%419,061,000
BT (20224 ¢ 27,304,000/8 7T ) Z 357
FREEWACBEEEMERZF - &
EFIEGANERENREER -

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29. SHAEE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHTT
Manufacture and sale of chemical products FLENHE TEMm 57,914 64,041
Sale of properties MEHE 1,188 2,425
59,102 66,466
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29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$120,772,000.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in
the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

Annual Report 2023 &1

BREEE)

mht

R2022F1A1H » A48
120,772,000/ JT °

3

TRITRAFEZRAERT  BZ
LPBENAERESE -

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHTT

Manufacture and sale of chemical products BLETNHE TEm 54,194 108,868
Sale of properties YIEHE 1,915 2,196
56,109 111,064

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

Manufacture and sale of chemical products

Contract liabilities represent receipts in advance from customers and
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs its obligations
under the contracts. Performance obligation is expected to be
satisfied within one year from the inception of contracts.

Sale of properties
The Group receives the consideration in advance from sale of
properties to customers. The advanced receipts result in contract

liabilities being recognised until the customer obtains control of the
completed property.

157

HEBRANABCBBENTEZ —
RRAS SRR T

RENHEECLIER

BEMAERAERATFPHBAWIEA K
RAKREETENRFHER DA -
BH RSN AR —FAETEY
&5 o

MREE
AEEBFEFKEEIHEFBWFR -

HERREELEZANABBEERN TP
BERTMEZIEHEAHER -



LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

30. LEASE LIABILITIES

31.

30. HEESE

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Lease liabilities payable: ERHEEAE:
Within one year —FA 2,359 2,398
Within a period of more than one year but not I — {8 T8 f 4
exceeding two years 2,395 71
Within a period of more than two years but not I M {8 ¥ F1 4F
exceeding five years 2,394 -
7,148 2,469
Less: amount due for settlement within 12 B FHEREBREMSR12EA R
months shown under current liabilities S ER4EE 2 7B (2,359) (2,398)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months  ZI/EIEREN A EMAEH 12/E A&
shown under non-current liabilities Hi#EB 2 SIA 4,789 71

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease

liabilities is 3.00% (2022: 4.15%).
Lease obligations are denominated in RMB.

BANK BORROWINGS

FE RN E & (& & hIHE T 15 18 8 A8 5K A

53,000 (20224 : 4.15%) o

HEBBIAARKHE -

31. SRITEXK

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHIT
Unsecured bank loans EHERRITER 671,767 743,992
Carrying amount of bank borrowings based on &8 & AT FEAHER B EZ
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan $R1TEFRHIBRE(E -
agreements:
Within one year —%FR 671,767 523,156
More than one year, but not exceeding two B —F AT
years - 220,836
671,767 743,992
Less: amount due for settlement within 12 B FIERE A Em AR 12 A A
months shown under current liabilities FIERREE 2 5/IA (671,767) (523,156)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months  ZI{EIERB BB M S 1218 5125
shown under non-current liabilities Bi#E)E 2 F0A - 220,836
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31. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 31. BITERE)
The exposure of the Group's borrowings are as follows: REEZBRRERAT
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Fixed-rate borrowings ERMERK 597,011 289,660
Variable-rate borrowings FRER 74,756 454,332
671,767 743,992
As at 31 December 2023, the Group's variable-rate borrowings R2023F 12 8318 AEBERNFE
carry interests at 0.75% over Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate ERRBERBRITRERS £1F0.75%
("HIBOR") (2022: 1.3% over HIBOR). (2022 - ABRTBAERFE LF
1.3%) ©
The ranges of effective interest rates per annum on the Group's AEEERZERFHNRGENAT
borrowings are as follows:
2023 2022
Effective interest rates: REREHR 2 BERFIZE
Fixed-rate borrowings EBER 2.60% to 2.65% to
4.18% 4.18%
Variable-rate borrowings FEER 4.05% to 5.74%
6.69%
The following amounts of bank borrowings are denominated in NTEBENRITERAEEEEE R
currency other than the functional currency of the relevant group LB AN EHERTHE ©
entities.
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHETT
HK dollars BT 74,756 454,331
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32.

33.

SHARE CAPITAL 32. ®RA
Number of
ordinary
shares Amount
EEROEAE &8
HK$'000
FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each: FREE. 0BT LBl
Authorised: SETE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and R2022F1A18 ~ 2022124318 K&
31 December 2023 2023F12A31H 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BITRER -
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and R2022F1R18 ~ 20226128318 %
31 December 2023 2023F12A31H 825,000,000 82,500

There was no movement in the Company’s share capital for both
years.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company's share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 14 July 2017 for the
purpose of providing incentives to directors and eligible persons
(the “Participants”). The Scheme has a term of 10 years from the
date which the Board of Directors resolved to offer the options to
the Participants, i.e. 13 June 2017, and therefore it expires on 12
June 2026. On 14 July 2017, 82,500,000 share options with an
aggregate market value of HK$154,200,000 were granted and the
provision of the Scheme shall remain in full force and the holder
of all options granted under the Scheme prior to such termination
shall be entitled to exercise the outstanding options pursuant to the
terms of the Scheme until expiry of the said options.

The purpose of the Scheme is to reward the Participants who has
contributed or will contribute to the Group and to encourage the
Participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company
and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders
as a whole. The Scheme expressly provides that the Board of
Directors may, with respect to each grant of options, determine the
subscription price, the minimum period (if any) for which an option
must be held before it can be exercised, performance targets (if
any) and other conditions that apply to the options.
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

The options granted on 14 July 2017 were vested on 1 April 2022.
These options are exercisable by Mr. Lee during the period from
1 April 2022 to 31 March 2027 as the Group had achieved the
performance targets.

The exercise price of the options granted to Mr. Lee is HK$3.72,
which was determined at the Board meeting on 13 June 2017 by
reference to the highest of (i) HK$0.10, being the par value of a
share in the Company, (i) HK$3.72, being the closing price of the
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange on the date of the above Board meeting approving the
exercise price and the grant, and (iii) the average closing price of
the shares in the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of the above Board meeting approving the
exercise price and the grant.

The following table discloses movements of the Company's share
options during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022:
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3. BRRERTEI(E)

R2017F 7R 14BREMBERESE R
2022 4R HEB - EAEEEERE
BB EE RS T B ER2022
F4H1HBE2027F3 A31 BEARA T A
178 -

BRYPFEEZEREZITEEARIT2E
T BR2017F6 A 1ZAMESE SR
F2ETI =2 2BR(UEa&E AE)
EFE () 010587 - Bl E(E @ ()R
HETEEREBRLZ LTSS
EEBEBREL ZZARERMT
Z BRI TE3.727 7T R(i)RBER
HETEERAEEEMAR LMES
CeREHAAERS BEB I
2B HBERHIZRHFHRTE -

HZE2023F12H31H K2022512 A31
BIEFEA » AR RBIEZE 250
B

Number of
Director Date of grant Exercise price  Exercisable period share options
2= A IEE  1TFEH BREHE
HK$
BIT
Mr. Lee 254 14.7.2017 3.72 1.4.2022 — 31.3.2027 82,500,000
2017%7H14R 2022F4H1B-202743H31H
Exercisable as at:
Al FATHEER ¢
31 December
2023 and 2022
2023F12A31H K
20224 12A31H 82,500,000

The estimated fair value of the share options granted under the
Scheme on 14 July 2017 was approximately HK$154,200,000,
calculated using the Binomial Model (the “Model").

Details of the inputs used in the Model at the date of grant were
stated in the Annual Report 2017 of the Company.

The Group recognises no expense for the year ended 31 December

2023 (2022: HK$8,059,000) in relation to share options granted
by the Company.
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34.

35.

36.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 34. EAREIE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  BEEWERE K& HE 285,372 252,351
Acquisition of right-of-use assets BEERAEEE 8,791 =
294,163 252,351

OTHER COMMITMENT 35. Hth&ig

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments
for granting shareholder's loan of HK$26,458,000 (2022:
HK$26,458,000) to Southern Hill Company Limited to cover the
initial costs and expenses of undertaking the pier construction in
Jiangxi Province, the PRC.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
Defined contribution scheme

The Group operates the Mandatory Provided Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes monthly
the lower of HK$1,500 or 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs
to the MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the
government of the PRC. The PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement
benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make
the specified contributions.

The Group's contributions under the above-mentioned defined
contribution schemes are expensed as incurred and not reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the defined
contribution schemes prior to vesting fully in the contributions.

The total cost recognised to profit or loss of HK$18,969,000

(2022: HK$19,566,000) represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group in respect of the current reporting period.
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Apart from the transaction and balances with related parties as set
out in Notes 17, 21 and 26, the Group had significant transactions
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37. BERZRER

BRIGEE17 ~ 21 26D BB A TR
PRI AREEBBEBALTRER

with related parties during the year as follows: T2 ERR ST
Name of related party Relationship Nature of transactions 2023 2022
HERLEH B REHE HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FAET
The LMP Group A Group beneficially owned  Electricity and steam fee paid 78,300 85,451
BGEREE and controlled by Mr. ENBEERERE
Lee's family members
REEEREKE Sales of chemical products 176,138 182,465
ERA RIS 2 A7) HE T EMm
Electricity and steam fee received 68,526 70411
ERBEERERE
Rental income received 2,709 2,731
BiiES KA
Loading fees paid 4,328 4,873
BENEHER
FARBEX A joint venture Management fee paid 6,110 4,608
BR22A BERE ENERE
Interest received 487 614
BN B
mEEXYIR A joint venture Management fee paid 2,660 2,805
BR2E BEDE ENERE
InEmiGsEEN An associate Steam fee received 21,667 17,222
BRAE B BHERE
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317.

38.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(CONTINUED)

Except for the related party transactions and balances described
above, the Group has entered into a joint venture arrangement with
the LMP Group. Details of the joint venture and the commitment to
the joint venture are set out in Notes 19 and 21, respectively.

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

317.

BEX S R&ER(E)

Br Tt BB A R 5 RN 0 K
SEREBYEREEITLAELER
e REDERHAEDE Y HMRE
B D RIE AT FE19 K21 ©

EENHEMTEEEREKRERNFRNZH
FWT

2023 2022
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Short-term employee benefits FRHAE Tia A 27,676 42,170
Post-employment benefits RIKRERN 157 119
27,833 42,289

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 38. TEHRERH

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's acquisition
of property, plant and equipment of HK$255,039,000 (2022:
HK$129,576,000) was settled through transfer of deposits paid
in the prior years; and the Group's property, plant and equipment
of HK$32,238,000 (including revaluation gain of HK$1,792,000)
(2022: nil) was transferred to investment properties.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's properties
held for sale of HK$222,644,000 were transferred to investment
properties of HK$187,778,000 and property, plant and equipment
of HK$34,866,000, respectively, upon change in use in accordance
with the Group's accounting policies as set out in Note 3.
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 39. AQFEFEMBAE
COMPANY
Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31 December M2023F 12 A31HR2022612A431H
2023 and 2022 are as follows: AARZEEWBRARFBLT
Nominal value of issued
Name of Place of and fully paid share Attributable
subsidiary incorporation  capital/paid-in capital equity interest Principal activities*
ERTRAERE
MEARERE SMRLGYE EE/ ERRE Pk s TEXH
2023 2022
Jiangsu L&M (Note) PRC Paid-in capital 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of
TEHEUL IR AR H - US$108,750,000 chemical products
(Hft) (2022: US$78,750,000) EERMET#LIES
BARAK
—108,750,000% 70
(2022 : 78,750,000%7T)
Jiangxi L&M (Note) PRC Paid-in capital 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of
IREX L IERAT h - US$354,956,543 chemical products
(H1iz) (2022: US$351,544,900) CERBEETR N IED
—354,956,543% 7T
(2022 : 351,544,900%7T)
Lee & Man (International) Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% 100% Investment holding
Investment Limited N - HK$100 REER
B (BB )REBRAA] ik
—100/7T
Lee & Man Chemical Investment  British Virgin Share 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited Islands - US$1 REER
Bt IREAFRAT EERCES KB
e
Changshu Yunhong Realty PRC Paid-in capital 100% 100% Property development
Limited i - RMB350,000,000 NFBR
FREREEARAA (2022: RMB250,000,000)
BHRA
— AR #350,000,0007
(2022: AR¥250,000,0007T)
Guangzhou Lee & Man PRC Paid-in capital 100% 100% Research and product
Technology Company Limited - RMB11,000,000 development
BNEXRR AR BARA A R E A 3
— AR%11,000,0007C
Zhuhai Lee & Man Materials PRC Paid-in capital 100% 100% Manufacture and sale of
Science Company Limited - US$21,600,000 chemical products
AR B R AR (2022: US$19,600,000) EERBETRIIER
BARA
—21,600,000%7C

(2022 : 19,600,000%7T)

& The principal place of operation of each company is the same as its place of & RIESEHA  TASRRARANEEEE M
incorporation unless otherwise stated. BhELE G AR -

Note: These companies are registered in the form of wholly-owned foreign investment Hist . ZERAERINGBE L E R -
enterprise.
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39.

40.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Only Lee & Man Chemical Investment Limited is directly held by the
Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results and/or net
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the
end of the year.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure the entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the bank borrowings disclosed in Note 31, net of bank
balances and cash, and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues
as well as issue of new debts.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

41a.

41b.

Categories of financial instruments
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41. €@MTH

4la. R T A 28R

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT T

Financial assets PHEE
Financial assets at amortised cost HEEN A S REE 494,422 595,090

Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFEFSAHEMEEZERE 2

SREE 94,220 83,138

Financial liabilities THEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HEER A £ R B E 1,041,297 1,201,060

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, bills receivable, amounts due from (to) joint
ventures/an associate/related companies, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables and bank borrowings. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC and the exposure
in exchange rate risks mainly arises from fluctuations of
foreign currencies, including HK dollars and US dollars
against the functional currency of the relevant group
entities. Material transactions and balances that are not
denominated in the functional currency of the relevant
entities give rise to foreign currency exposure as follows:

(i) US dollars — in terms of bank balances and cash.

(i) HK dollars — in terms of bank balances and cash
and bank borrowings.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

41b.Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(1)  Currency risk (Continued)

Exchange rate fluctuations and market trend have
always been the concern of the Group. Management
will monitor the foreign currency exposure closely and
consider the use of hedging instruments when the need
arises.

Non-derivative foreign currency financial assets and
financial liabilities

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount

41. ERMIAE(E)

Mb. YEEBREEBERBE(E)

®

R ()

B (&)
AEE—RBDIERRE KT

588 - EEESEIELI
P L s SR R T A -

FNTENETREENRERE

&

REREHR - AR EER AR

of the Group's financial monetary assets and financial BRI SN B EER
monetary liabilities denominated in currencies other than NeRmEEEEREREYS
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are as & AFREENT :
follows:
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Assets BE
HK dollars BT 83,254 5,773
US dollars X7 2,578 76,557
Liabilities =R+
HK dollars BTT 74,756 454,331
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) M. SMIAE)

41b.Financial risk management objectives and policies 41b. I EREE B ERBEK(E)

(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) 5 EE (&)
(i)  Currency risk (Continued) () E%EkkE)

Non-derivative foreign currency financial assets and
financial liabilities (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
appreciation and depreciation in the functional currency
of the relevant group entities (i.e. RMB and HK dollars)
against the above foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity
rate and represents management's assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.
The sensitivity analysis adjusts their translation at the
period end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A
strengthening of the functional currency of the relevant
group entities against the above foreign currencies would
give rise to the following impact to post-tax profit for the
year and vice versa.

FNTENECREENERE
&(#&)

TRAMARTIAAEE N
SEERYEESE (AR
KRBT Wk B HMNE RS £t
Ko T B 5% 2 BURAE © 5%HI 8
RUE MR E TR B AT IMEE
KA IE AL RL - FEHIRES
50 R IMNEE REBEE - BRI
bE 5 = R AESRRE DT E
R - EHREEER Y
BEER NG LN RSB E
B K< FERBRERMA T
T8 RZIR -

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Financial assets and liabilities: HEEUEERAE
(Decrease) increase on post-tax FERTERNCRD)
profit for the year 2
— HK dollars — BT (319) 22,428
— US dollars —3%7T (97) (3,354)
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

41b.Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk
Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities

The Group's cash flow interest rate risks mainly relate
to its variable rate borrowings (see Note 31 for details
of these borrowings). The Group's bank balances also
have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk due to the
fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate on bank
balances.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed rate bank borrowings (see Note 31 for
detail of these borrowings). The Group aims at keeping
borrowings at variable rates.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group's cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
HIBOR arising from the Group's HK dollars denominated
borrowings and LPR arising from the Group’'s RMB
denominated borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
financial instruments at the end of the reporting period.
For variable rate bank borrowings and bank balances,
the analysis is prepared assuming the stipulated change
taking place at the beginning of the financial year and
held constant throughout both years in the case of
instruments that have floating rates. 10 (2022: 10) basis
point and 50 (2022: 50) basis point increase or decrease
are used by the management for the assessment of the
possible change in interest rates of variable rate bank
balances and variable rate borrowings, respectively.
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41.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

41b.Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If interest rates had been 10 basis point higher or lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group's
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2023
would increase or decrease by HK$136,000 (2022:
HK$347,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group's
exposure to interest rates on its variable rate bank
balances.

If interest rates had been 50 basis point higher or lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group's
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2023
would decrease or increase by HK$280,000 (2022:
HK$2,272,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group's
exposure to interest rates on its bank borrowings.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties arises from the carrying amounts of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the amounts
of immature endorsed bills and discounted bills.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

41b.Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers (other
than bills receivable)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the directors of
the Company have delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, except for those which
had been determined as credit impaired of which are assessed
individually, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade debtors by assigning each of them
to different groups by industry and using a provision matrix
on different aging of receivables. For the year ended 31
December 2023 and 2022, the Group assessed the ECL for
trade receivables were insignificant and thus no loss allowance
was recognised.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 3.39% (2022:
5.81%) and 20.18% (2022: 16.12%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group's largest customer and
the five largest customers, respectively.

Bills receivable

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group would only
accept bills issued by banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies as the agreed payment
method from certain customers. The directors of the Company
consider the credit risk on bills receivable is limited.

Other receivables and amounts due from joint ventures/an
associate/related companies

The Group assessed the impairment for its other receivables
and amounts due from joint ventures/an associate/related
companies individually based on internal credit rating and
ageing of these debtors which, in the opinion of the directors
of the Company, have no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. ECL is estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of debtors and
is adjusted for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. For the year ended 31 December
2023 and 2022, the Group assessed the 12m ECL for other
receivables and amounts due from joint ventures/an associate/
related companies were insignificant and thus no loss
allowance was recognised.
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. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

41b.Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group assessed
12m ECL for bank balances by reference to information
relating to probability of default and loss given default of the
respective credit rating grades published by external credit
rating agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL
on bank balances is considered to be insignificant.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:
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41. ERMIAE(&E)

Mb. eREREEBERBEE)

=E R R A EE (E)
RiTAEAR

A PR SRR T35 IR BIFR 1= AR AT AR
BHEENERFEREHRT - &
RITHEBEERRAR - XEE
AHERITESON T —EARREE
BB 2E BN E AR AR R %
R ERFRSRNEZOME
MEQERE - RIETFHEBEEE - R
TRz T A RBEEBER
BRUTEK o

AEBERREERR RS RTE
BEATEEER -

Trade receivables/

Category Description bills receivable Other financial assets
<Yl Bt g3 EBERR
FEWEREE Hit S MEE
Performing  The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
credit-impaired
FB#) RPUFHEARERZORR BRETEMEEEE - 1218 AR EEE
FEEERE
Doubtful There has been a significant increase in credit  Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
risk since initial recognition credit-impaired credit-impaired
AJ &¢ EE R B TR TERIA R AR I BETEMEEEE - BEEBEEERE -
FEEERE FEERE
In default There is evidence indicating that the assetis  Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
) BRBRELZEELREERE A TEREEEE - BRETEBEEEE -
EERE EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor ~ Amounts are written off  Amounts are written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery
VG| ERBELHESATOHREMRAEE HMESHE iyt

AL E ' BRI E W 508
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

41b.Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's
financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

41. eI A(E)

Mb. REREEREREEE)

=EmERE R A EE(E)

TRAVAKEHENEXAHREE
RERFHENEREENEERR :

External Internal 12-month Gross
credit rating  credit rating  or lifetime ECL carrying amount
HPEE RAHBEE REASRE
R B BHEEEE AEEE
2023 2022
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Kzt TERr TR
Bills receivable at FVTOCI 25 Baa3-Aa3 N/A Lifetime ECL 94,220 83,138
- not credit-impaired
BAVEFARMZE Baa3-Aa3 TEA REREEERR
W2 EWERE —FEERE
Financial assets
at amortised cost
REBHERACSRERE
Trade receivables 25 N/A Performing Lifetime ECL 189,853 129,430
- not credit-impaired
B E 5508 NEA JEES) KEEHEEER
- FEERE
Other receivables 25 N/A Performing 12-month ECL 12,863 11,621
Hi e Usa NEA B4 REAEHEERSE
Amounts due from 21 N/A Performing 12-month ECL 11,140 14,225
joint ventures
el A &R N B4 REAEHEEERSE
Amount due from 21 N/A Performing 12-month ECL 1,796 5,707
an associate
JE TS & (> £ 30A NEA k) REAEHEEERSE
Amounts due from 26 N/A Performing 12-month ECL 15,268 12,411
related companies
BB A B FUA NEA k) REAEHEEERSE
Bank balances 27 A2-Aaa N/A 12-month ECL 263,502 421,487
BITHER A2-Aaa TEA REABREESSE
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) M. SMIAE)

41b.Financial risk management objectives and policies 41b. I EREE B ERBEK(E)

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the Group's liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flows.
The management of the Group monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and lease
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are
based on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows. To the extent the interest
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

The table includes both interest and principal cash outflows. To
the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the discounting
rate and the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate
at the end of the reporting period.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) M. ERMIBE)
41b.Financial risk management objectives and policies 41b. I EREE B ERBEEK(E)

(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) FEE DR ()
Weighted ~ Repayable
average  on demand Total
effective ~orless than undiscounted ~ Carrying

interestrate ~ 30days 31-60days 61-90days 91-365days  1-2years  2-5years cashflows  amount

RRME EEXRE Rt

TERE  FORI0K 31-60%  61-90%  91-365K 1% 256 BehEd EEE
%  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000
TR T TiEn TR T TR TR T

Asat 31 December 2023  R2023%12A318

Trade and other payables B AREMFE - 354618 - - - - 583 360454 360454

Amount duetoarelsted  EREEARZA
company - 8,551 - - - - - 8,551 8,551

Amowntdietoajont  ERAERENE
venture - 525 - - - - - 525 525
Lease liabiltes HERE 300 216 206 206 1,852 2470 2410 7,480 7,148
Predrate borowings ~~ REER 295 33,005 - 53933 520,008 - - 606946 597011
Varicble-ate borowings 25 (£ 641 - - - T80 - - T8N0 74,756
396,975 206 54139 599,670 2,410 8306 1061766 1,048,445

Weighted ~ Repayeble

averege  on demand Total
effecive ~ orless then undiscounted ~~ Canying
interest rate 0dys  31-60days  61-%0days 91-365days  1-2years  2-5yeas  cashfows amount

BRME  ERRER 3t

PARE  FORN0R 360K 6190k 91-365K 1-2% 2-5E Refett SHE
% HKS000  HKSOOO  HKSOOO  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKS000  HKSOOO  HKSOO0
Fin Fin Tin Fin Tin Tin Fin Tin

As at 31 December 2022 7420225128318

Trade and other payables B ARAMFE - IR - - - - 1 M5781 445781
Amontduetoarelated  EEBARZE

company - 10,861 - - - - - 10,861 10,861
Amowntdietoajont  EfAEREHE

venture - 259 - - - - - 259 259
Amount due to an associate E[TEE A E3E = 167 S = = = - 167 167
Lease liabiltes HEE 415 205 205 205 1842 7l - 2528 2469
Fedraeborowings ~ ESE 30 4110 - 11800 104504 7433) - 94746 289660
Varicble-ate borowings ~ ZE £ 574 - 5035 - 306061 162617 - BT 45433

458272 5240 112005 412407 237020 3

11228055 1203529
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) M. SMIAE)
41c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments Alc. ERTANALETE
Fair value of financial instruments that are recorded at LA A FR Y i T A 19 22 F
amortised cost =]
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying RRAREFRR  NEEeHBHRE
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded PIREEA VIR EMEER S
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements B e ERRMERERERARO AT
approximate their fair values at the end of the reporting period. EEE o
42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 2. HRETHMEEAEZHER
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising TRAELAEEREMEETHNAEE
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. B PRACKERCED  HEETDH
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash EENBBERASREIAKETRE
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s BEAEEGERERERTDELAM
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing BEBHeRENEE -
activities.
Bank Lease Dividend
borrowings liabilities payable Total
RITER HEEE RS &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FHT FAT TAT
At 1 January 2022 2022F1 /718 1,032,904 4,368 = 1,037,272
Financing cash flows MERERE (298,681) (2,599) (577,500) (878,780)
Dividends recognised as distribution B2 I8 2k - - 577,500 577,500
New lease entered HEIHE - 910 - 910
Finance costs recognised BERCTHER 38,498 159 = 38,657
Exchange realignment B SR (28,729) (369) - (29,098)
At 31 December 2022 2022612318 743,992 2,469 - 746,461
Financing cash flows MERERE (114,445) (2,465) (181,500) (298,410)
Dividends recognised as distribution B #E#R2 I8 2K - - 181,500 181,500
New lease entered HAIHE - 7,078 - 7,078
Finance costs recognised BHRAZUEER 39,224 58 = 39,282
Exchange realignment P SR 2,996 8 - 3,004
At 31 December 2023 720235128311 671,767 7,148 - 678,915
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e VIS ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z=2023F12A31HIEFE

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

43. KRBT T

2023 2022
HK$000 HK$'000
FExT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Amount due from a subsidiary EW—K B A B FIAE 356,329 366,337
Investments in a subsidiary WEBARIRE 53,208 53,799
409,537 420,136
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments TERTFIE 179 288
Bank balances SR1T# R 560 1,446
Amount due from a subsidiary EW —K B A BRI 160,000 350,000
160,739 351,734
CURRENT LIABILITY REEE
Other payables H IR 5,678 13,659
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 155,061 338,075
NET ASSETS EEFE 564,598 758,211
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EARRf#HE
Share capital AR AR 82,500 82,500
Reserves {1 482,098 675,711
TOTAL EQUITY peayob ) 564,598 758,211
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
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43. KA BERREKE)

(CONTINUED)
Movement of the reserves RBEEE
Share
Share Contributed  Translation options  Retained
premium surplus reserve reserve profits Total
BB  EHRK W EXRE BRERE  REEH fit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thx Thx Thx THT TAT TAT
At 1 January 2022 12022F1A10 20,307 (102,808) 3,282 146,141 1209217 1,276,139
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (38,205) (38,205)
Exchange differences arising from ~ FAEMES L

translation EHEE - = 7218 = = 7218
Total comprehensive income ERZERE ()

(expense) for the year B - - 7218 - (38,205) (30,987)
Dividends &E - - - - (577500)  (577,500)
Recognition of equity setfled share ~ FERMRHEE

based payments I - - - 8,059 - 8,059
At 31 December 2022 12022%612R318 20,307 (102,808) 10,500 154,200 593,512 675711
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (12,948) (12,948)
Exchange differences arising from ~ FMEMEAZ

translation EHES - - 835 - - 835
Total comprehensive income ER2EkE(ZIH)

(expense) for the year ek - - 835 - (12,948) (12,113)
Dividends %) - - - - (1815000  (181,500)
At 31 December 2023 #2023%124318 20,307 (102,808) 11,335 154,200 399,064 482,098

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the offsetting
of (i) difference between the aggregate net tangible assets of
the subsidiaries acquired by the Company pursuant to a group
reorganisation in December 2001 and the nominal value of the
Company's shares issued for the acquisition and (i) distribution in

specie in 2011.
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LEE & MAN CHEMICAL COMPANY LIMITED 3t THRATH

Financial Summary
MBEE

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A8310LLEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHIT FHT THT FHET

RESULTS ES
Revenue ON 3,476,571 3,099,685 5,185942 5867,037 4,050,581
Profit before taxation BR A& A 850,915 628,102 1,611,081 1,398,119 493,898
Income tax expenses FiS Rz i (150,144)  (125,474)  (323,072)  (241,344) (93,233)
Profit for the year FRE N 700,771 502,628 1,288,009 1,156,775 400,665
HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents
il il il il AL
Basic earnings per share BRERER 84.9 60.9 156.1 1402 48.6
Dividends per share BRRE 33 24 58 55 19
Dividend payout ratio (%) K EELE (%) 38.9% 39.4% 37.2% 39.2% 39.1%

At 31 December
M®12A31H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FA&T FA&T FHET THET FET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

Total assets BERLTE 6,094,948 6,778,807 7,618,032 7,076,354 7,028,967
Total liabilities BEBz (2,244,425) (2,3352243) (2,043,102) (1,443,313) (1,229,212)

3,850,523 4,443,564 5,574,930 5,633,041 5,799,755

Total equity RARHER A

JE(E RS 3,850,523 4,443,564 5574930 5,633,041 5,799,755
Current ratio mEpLL X 1.24 1.52 1.60 1.51 1.29
Net debt ratio (%) FREE (%) 32.52% 12.70% 24.97% 5.72% 7.04%
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